

THESIS / THÈSE

DOCTOR OF SCIENCES

Forest cover impact on water related ecosystem services Methods and application at the regional scale (Wallonia, Belgium)

Brogna, Delphine

Award date: 2017

Awarding institution: University of Namur

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



Thesis Manuscript

FOREST COVER IMPACT ON WATER RELATED ECOSYSTEM SERVICES Methods and application at the regional scale (Wallonia, Belgium)

Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Sciences (PhD) by

Delphine Brogna

<u>Jury members:</u> C. Linard (President) F. Cernesson C. Carvalho dos Santos M. Javaux C. Vincke (Co-supervisor) N. Dendoncker (Supervisor)

AUGUST 2017

Graphisme de couverture : © Presses universitaires de Namur, illustration : *Lieu-dit « Les Ondes » sur l'Ourthe à Nadrin* © Marc Dufrêne © Presses universitaires de Namur & Delphine Brogna Rempart de la Vierge, 13 B - 5000 Namur (Belgique)

Toute reproduction d'un extrait quelconque de ce livre, hors des limites restrictives prévues par la loi, par quelque procédé que ce soit, et notamment par photocopie ou scanner, est strictement interdite pour tous

> pays. Imprimé en Belgique ISBN : 978-2-87037-673-7 Dépôt légal: D/2017/1881/38

Jury members

Prof. Catherine Linard – President Department of Geography University of Namur – Belgium

PhD Cláudia Carvalho dos Santos – External Examiner CIBIO-InBIO, University of Porto – Portugal

Prof. Flavie Cernesson – External Examiner UFR SIED, AgroParisTech – France

Prof. Mathieu Javaux – Member of the Thesis Committee Earth and Life Institute, Catholic University of Louvain – Belgium

Prof. Caroline Vincke – Co-supervisor Earth and Life Institute, Catholic University of Louvain – Belgium

Prof. Nicolas Dendoncker – Supervisor Department of Geography University of Namur – Belgium Parts of this thesis manuscript are based on the following papers:

Brogna, D., Michez, A., Jacobs, S., Dufrêne, M., Vincke, C., Dendoncker, N., 2017a. Linking Forest Cover to Water Quality: A Multivariate Analysis of Large Monitoring Datasets. Water 9, 176. doi:10.3390/w9030176

Brogna, D., Vincke, C., Brostaux, Y., Soyeurt, H., Dufrêne, M., Dendoncker, N., 2017b. How does forest cover impact water flows and ecosystem services? Insights from "real-life" catchments in Wallonia (Belgium). Ecol. Indic. 72, 675–685. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.08.011

Brogna D., Dufrêne M., Michez A., Latli A., Jacobs S., Vincke C., Dendoncker N., (2017, submitted). Forest cover ensures good biological and physicochemical water quality. Insights and nuances from a regional study (Wallonia, Belgium). Submitted in Journal of Environmental Management.

Abstract

The concept of Ecosystem Services (ES) highlights Humanity's dependence on ecosystems for its survival and well-being in a global context of ecosystems' degradation. One model that has been widely used represents ES at the centre of a 'cascade' (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010a), flowing from the ecosystems biophysical structures and processes to human well-being. Among research needs regarding ES, there is a crucial one for accurately quantifying every component of the ES 'cascade' through suitable indicators. While current policy-driven initiatives of ES assessments and mapping are often based on methods relying on simple land cover proxies, research is needed to propose indicators that can easily be mapped, but better reflect the underlying complexity of processes underpinning ES supply.

Among ES, those related to water are of prime importance. Literature regarding forest cover effect on water related processes is relatively abundant. However, the combined effect of these processes on hydrological ES is less evident given the ecosystems' complexity and heterogeneity at the landscape scale. Questions related to the integrated effect of mixed land uses and land covers at the landscape scale and regarding the forests' position in the landscape (i.e. within riparian zone or within the whole catchment) where its effect on hydrological ES is the strongest remain unanswered. Finally, global changes push for renewing the studies of the ecosystems' effect on hydrological ES.

The main objective addressed in this research is to assess the impact of forest cover on hydrological ES in Wallonia (Belgium). In particular, the effect of forest cover on instream water supply and flood protection is studied in terms of quantity, quality and timing. Along with this thematic objective, transversal methodological objectives are pursued: to ensure replicability of the methods and to broaden the scope of the results, moving towards land planning oriented results.

Our main results show that forest cover effect on instream water supply in terms of quantity is negative when studying water yield, whereas a significant positive effect of forest cover in low flows is demonstrated. Studying baseflow relationship with forest cover lets us assume that local site conditions (soil types, topography, forest management) have a major impact on specific volume. Regarding flood protection, forest cover is negatively linked with the flashy behaviour of the catchment thus a positive effect on the flood protection ES. Climatic factors and rainfall in particular are often significantly linked to hydrological indicators and can be considered as main drivers of instream water supply and flood protection.

Regarding instream water supply in terms of quality, one main result is that forest cover is systematically positively correlated with higher water quality whether when describing it through nine physico-chemical variables or through two biological indices (based on diatoms and macroinvertebrates). In both studies, forest cover explains about one third of the variability of water quality (and around 10% when spatial autocorrelation is controlled) at the regional scale. Results also show that unlike needle-leaved forest cover, broad-leaved forest cover presents an independent effect from ecological variables on physico-chemical water quality. Another important insight of this study is that physico-chemical water quality is one of the main drivers of biological water quality, and that anthropogenic pressures often explain a relatively important part of biological water quality. Results on biological water quality show that the proportion of forest cover in each catchment at the regional scale and across every ecoregions except for the Loam region is more positively correlated with high water quality than the proportion of forest cover in the riparian zone only.

Results regarding forest cover effect on studied hydrological ES in terms of quantity and timing make us question the use of LULC based matrix approach to assess and map hydrological ES at a complex landscape scale. However, the strong link between forest cover in catchment and water quality allows being more confident when using simple land cover proxies to map ecosystem services related to water quality.

Working with "real-life" catchments presents the advantage to fit the spatial scale for drawing land-planning recommendations. Results at the regional scale and across ecoregions lead us to recommend riparian forests protection in the Loam region (where they are left) but the overall forest catchment effect on water quality (whether physico-chemical or biological) suggests that catchment-wide impacts and a fortiori catchment-wide protection measures are the main drivers of rivers' ecological water quality.

Acknowledgments / Remerciements

Au terme de cette aventure qu'est la thèse de doctorat, il me tient à cœur de remercier les personnes qui ont contribué à son aboutissement.

A mes promoteur (*Nicolas Dendoncker*) et co-promotrice (*Caroline Vincke*), MERCI

Nicolas, je te remercie pour la liberté de chercher et de fonctionner que tu m'as octroyée, liberté que j'ai appris à apprécier au fil de ces années. Merci pour l'ouverture vers le monde de la géographie, pour le soutien dans mes choix scientifiques et la confiance que tu m'as apportés. Un merci particulier pour tes contributions pertinentes lors de la rédaction de documents que tu as toujours été prompt à relire. Merci aussi pour la collaboration dans le cadre des activités pédagogiques, l'enrichissement de nos contributions aux étudiants et tout ceci dans la bonne humeur, notamment aux Pays-Bas lors de leur terrain de fin de Baccalauréat.

Caroline, je te remercie d'avoir accepté d'encadrer une thèse dont l'échelle spatiale de questionnement diffère de celle à laquelle tu as l'habitude de travailler. Tu as apporté un regard complètement différent, proche du terrain et de l'écohydrologie forestière, complémentaire à celui de Nicolas. Aussi, tu m'as encouragée tout au long de cette thèse de doctorat qui n'a pas été qu'un long fleuve tranquille. Merci aussi à ton équipe pour son accueil chaleureux lors de mes venues à l'UCL.

Aux *DGO2* et *DGO3* du *Service Public de Wallonie*, et plus particulièrement, aux équipes des Directions des Cours d'eaux non navigables, des Eaux de surface et du Département de l'Etude du milieu naturel et agricole, merci pour la transmission de riches bases de données sur lesquelles est basée cette thèse de doctorat. Merci aux Instituts Géographique National et Royal Météorologique pour la fourniture d'autres données essentielles à cette thèse.

A mes collègues, MERCI

En lien direct avec le contenu de ce travail de thèse, merci à toutes celles et ceux et en particulier les membres de mon comité d'accompagnement et mes coauteurs qui m'ont permis de faire progresser mes raisonnements, améliorer les tests, mais aussi les faire 'atterrir' et interpréter leurs résultats. Un merci particulier à *Marc Dufrêne*, tu as occupé une sacrée place dans mes réflexions statistiques ou dans des questionnements directement liés au contexte wallon.

Aux collègues des Départements de Géographie et Géologie d'aujourd'hui ou d'hier (vous êtes trop nombreux pour que je vous cite tous ici mais ne doutez pas de la sincérité de ce merci ni qu'il vous soit adressé), merci pour la bonne entente, les discussions à la cafétéria, dans les couloirs ou dans le potager (qu'elles soient professionnelles, personnelles, de société et/ou déjantées), les séances de stretching (Merci *Colette*), de natation (mais, y sommes-nous allées assez souvent pour que ça apparaisse ici, les filles?). Merci aux thésards qui m'ont montré le chemin, au post-it qui commence à être célèbre: « A good thesis is a done thesis ». Oui, c'est précieux de pouvoir s'arrêter et capitaliser un travail scientifique dont on accepte et communique les limites, quand on n'a qu'une obsession, les repousser toujours un peu plus loin.

A l'équipe pédagogique et aux étudiants, MERCI

Cette thèse a été menée dans le cadre d'un mandat d'assistante et ça a vraiment une saveur particulièrement positive pour moi. En effet, l'assistanat peut présenter la difficulté de devoir jongler entre de multiples activités, de nous pousser quelquefois à mettre la thèse de côté... mais quel enrichissement ! *Chers étudiants*, j'espère avoir pu contribuer comme il se doit à votre formation, merci pour votre engagement et volonté d'apprendre mais aussi pour votre enthousiasme et légèreté aux TP. Merci à l'équipe pédagogique élargie (profs et assistants), j'ai vraiment apprécié travailler avec vous tous dans le souci d'entreprendre toujours plus pour offrir un enseignement de qualité, en évolution permanente. Aux profs, *Sabine, Nicolas* et *Catherine* et assistants que j'ai côtoyés lors de ce mandat, *Florence, Fabrice, Corentin, Elisabeth, Clotilde, Isabelle et Christian* (Vive les Pays-Bas !), merci. Un merci tout particulier à vous *Florence, Nathalie* et *Elisabeth* pour tout le positif au quotidien. Merci *Sabine* pour tes conseils divers et ton soutien précieux.

A ma famille, amis et proches, MERCI

Maman, Papa, merci de m'avoir permis de réaliser ce parcours, de m'avoir appris la persévérance et transmis toute une série de belles valeurs. *Laure,* ma grande sœur, et *Adrien,* mon pas-si-petit-frère, dans votre regard je me sens plus forte, merci. Merci *Mamy*, toi aussi, tu m'as bien encouragée ! Merci à mes belles-sœurs, beaux-frères, beaux-parents et amis pour leur soutien !

Enfin, mais essentiellement, MERCI, Adrien, Pauline, Antoine et Romain,

Adrien, tu fais déjà partie de la catégorie « à mes collègues » puisque cette thèse m'a permis de collaborer avec toi sur des questionnements qui nous rassemblent, mais tu occupes surtout la place de compagnon de vie, coach et soutien de toujours. Merci pour tout, je ne trouverai pas de mots assez beaux pour écrire ici ce que tu m'as apporté dans cette aventure de thèse. On a commencé celle-ci avec *Pauline*, et nous voici à 5, formant une belle équipe avec *Antoine* et *Romain*. C'est auprès de vous que je puise mon énergie, que je relativise... parce que vous avez toujours été ma priorité. Merci.

"It is our collective and individual responsibility to preserve and tend to the environment in which we all live."

Dalai Lama

And because this PhD journey was simultaneous with an inspiring teaching experience,

"Nothing under the sun is greater than education. By educating one person and sending him into the society of his generation, we make a contribution extending a hundred generations to come."

Kano Jigoro, founder of Judo

Contents

Chapter 1	Introduction 1 -
1.1	Preamble 1 -
1.2	Ecosystem services 1 -
1.2.1	Humanity's dependency on Nature 1 -
1.2.2	An evolving concept 2 -
1.2.3	Science and policy 7 -
1.2.4	From science to practice: some points from the 'research needs
hit lis	sť - 8 -
1.2.5	Water related ecosystem services 10 -
1.3	Forest cover impact on hydrological attributes and ecosystem
services	s 13 -
1.3.1	Water related processes in forest 15 -
1.3.2	Water quantity and timing 20 -
1.3.3	Water quality 23 -
1.4	Preliminary conclusions 24 -
1.5	PhD thesis objectives and scope 25 -
1.5.1	Thematic and methodological objectives
1.5.2	PhD scope and work assumptions 29 -
Chapter 2	Material and Methods 31 -
2.1	Study Area 31 -
2.2	Variables of study and databases 35 -
2.2.1	Water quantity and timing: hydrological variables 35 -
2.2.2	Water quality variables 36 -
2.2.3	Land use and land cover data 37 -
2.3	Statistical methods and software use 37 -
2.3.1	Multiple Linear Regression 37 -
2.3.2	Principal Component analysis 38 -

2.3.3	Redundancy analysis	38 -
2.3.4	Software use	40 -
Chapter 3 protection	Forest cover impact on instream water supply and n in terms of quantity and timing	flood 43 -
3.1	Introduction	46 -
3.2	Study Area	50 -
3.3	Material and Methods	53 -
3.3.1	Hydrological and physical catchments description	54 -
3.3.2	Rainfall description	58 -
3.3.3	Effect of land cover on hydrological indicators	59 -
3.4	Results	59 -
3.4.1	Catchments description	59 -
3.4.2	Rainfall over the studied period	62 -
3.4.3	Effect of land cover on hydrological indicators	64 -
3.5	Discussion	69 -
3.5.1	Influence of forest cover on hydrological services	69 -
3.5.2	Strengths / Limitations of the methods and Perspectives	71 -
3.5.3	Land cover proxies for ES assessment?	72 -
Chapter 4	Forest cover impact on instream water supply in ter	ms of
physico-c	hemical water quality	75 -
4.1	Introduction	77 -
4.2	Materials and Methods	80 -
4.2.1	Study area	80 -
4.2.2	Workflow	82 -
4.2.3	Physico-chemical Water Quality	83 -
4.2.4	Land use and land cover data	85 -
4.2.5	Coupling forest cover and water quality	86 -
4.3	Results	89 -
4.3.1	Forest cover versus legal standards	89 -
4.3.2	Forest cover versus multivariate water quality	92 -

4.3.3 type	Independent and shared effects of LULC classes (included forest distinction) 95 -
4.4	Discussion 98 -
4.4.1	Forest cover and water quality98 -
4.4.2	Strengths and limitations of the study 100 -
4.5	Conclusions 101 -
Chapter 5 biological	Forest cover impact on instream water supply in terms of quality 103 -
5.1	Introduction 105 -
5.1.1	Freshwaters and water quality 105 -
5.1.2	Land use and Land cover impact on water quality 106 -
5.1.3	Objectives 107 -
5.2	Material and methods 108 -
5.2.1	Study area 108 -
5.2.2	Datasets 112 -
5.2.3	Spatial scales of analysis 117 -
5.2.4	Forest cover link with biological water quality 118 -
5.3	Results 120 -
5.3.1	Functional riparian buffer or catchment scale? 120 -
5.3.2	Forest cover explanation power when controlling for spatial
autoo	correlation, local morphology and population pressure 123 -
5.3.3	Forest cover: Independent and shared explanation power with
anthi	ropogenic pressures and physico-chemical water quality 126 -
5.4	Discussion 130 -
5.4.1	Preamble: forest cover in this study 130 -
5.4.2	Forest cover link with biological water quality 130 -
5.4.3	Limitation, strengths of the study and perspectives 133 -
5.5	Conclusion 134 -
Chapter 6	Discussion 143 -
6.1 study	Preamble: on methodological objectives and forest cover in this - 143 -

6.2	Impact of forest cover on water related ES and attributes 144 -
6.2.1	Water quantity & timing 144 -
6.2.2	Water quality 148 -
6.2.3	Synthesis of thematic findings 151 -
6.3	Contributions to the ES concept 153 -
6.3.1	Can our results be transposed to other ES classifications?- 153 -
6.3.2	Land cover proxies for ES assessment? 156 -
6.4	Insights for land management 157 -
6.5	Limitations of the study and perspectives 159 -
6.5.1	Impacts of methodological choices 159 -
6.5.2	A small contribution to understanding the ES cascade 161 -
Chapter 7	Conclusions 163 -
Chapter 8	References 166 -

List of figures

Figure 1-1. The relationship between ecosystem structure and biodiversity, ecosystem function and human (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010a) - 3 -
Figure 1-2. Overview of the ES matrix approach, based on geospatial map data, the actual matrix and resulting ES maps, source: Burkhard (2017)
Figure 1-3. Water cycle flows and ecosystem interactions, source: (Brauman et al., 2007) 12 -
Figure 1-4. Cascade model for hydrological ecosystem services provided by forests adapted from Carvalho-Santos et al. (2014). Ecosystems properties (structures and processes) lead to functions leading to hydrological ecosystem services providing benefits to Human. Mentioned services studied in the present thesis are assessed in relation with their hydrological attributes: quantity, quality and timing. Human management decisions results in pressures and actions to limit them14 -
Figure 1-5. The movement of water from precipitation through the vegetation and soil system into streams, and how it is affected by changes in vegetation, from Le Maître, et al., (2014)
Figure 1-6. Objectives of the study (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives) and corresponding chapter numbers 26 -
Figure 1-7. Specific objectives and spatial extents of the studies (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives) 28 -
Figure 2-1. (A) Ecoregions in Wallonia;(B) Elevation (source: regional LiDAR digital terrain model, http://geoportail.wallonie.be)), (C) Hydrography, gauging stations (Aqualim network, Chapter 3), Physico-chemical water quality monitoring stations (EU-WFD monitoring network, Chapters 4 and 5), Physico-chemical water quality monitoring stations (EU-WFD monitoring network, Chapter 4) 36 -

Figure 2-2. Explained and unexplained variation fractions without covariable (left, RDA) and with covariable (right, partial RDA), from (Legendre and Legendre, 2012a)
Figure 2-3. Material and methods mobilised to fulfil the main objectives of the study (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives)
Figure 3-1. Conceptual framework for hydrological services provision by forests, from Carvalho-Santos et al. (2014)
Figure 3-2. Studied catchments location in the Ardenne (Wallonia, Belgium).
Figure 3-3. Methodology framework to study the impact of land cover and particularly forest cover on water supply and water damage mitigation (in this study, flood protection). Extraction of hydrological indicators (Yi, with Vs: Specific Volume, BFI: baseflow index, Q ₉₅ s and Q ₀₅ s: specific discharge exceeded 95 and 5% of time, FI: flashiness Index) which are regressed against rainfall, year effect and the first two P(Yi, with Vs: Specific Volume, BFI: baseflow index, Q ₉₅ s and Q ₀₅ s: specific discharge exceeded 95 and 5% of time, FI: flashiness Index) rincipal Components (PC1, PC2) of land cover Principal Component Analysis (PCA) 58 -
Figure 3-4. Boxplot of land cover types percentages in the 22 studied catchments with F: Forest, MH: shrubs - heathlands and moorlands and S: Surfaces 64 -
 Figure 3-5. Principal component analysis on the land covers percentages over the 22 catchments. Left: Biplot, with AS: artificial surfaces, MF: mixed forest, MH: shrubs - heathlands and moorlands, Cr: crops. Infiltration classes percentages over the catchments (from good (IC2) to bad infiltration rate (IC5)), elevation (El) and median slope (Slo50) variables were drawn on the land cover PCA space. Right : Individuals (catchments) factor map 65 -
Figure 3-6. Monthly rainfall PCA biplot (A: PC2 vs PC1, B: PC3 vs PC1) with year labelling, cross show the end of variables arrows (R1 = January rainfall → R12: December rainfall) 67 -

Figure 3-7. Boxplot of annual rainfall (mm) over the 22 catchments of study.
Figure 3-8. Boxplots of seasonal rainfall (mm) over the 22 catchments of study (left: vegetation period; right: "non-vegetation" period) 68 -
Figure 4-1. Water quality monitoring stations used in this study and sub- catchments 86 -
Figure 4-2. Land use and land cover (LULC) in Wallonia
Figure 4-3. Schematic figure of the methodological approach to link forest cover and water quality. With WPS: Walloon Public Service, avg: average, WFD: Water Framework Directive, PCA: Principal Component Analysis 89 -
Figure 4-4. Biplot representing the monitoring stations from a PCA on the main land cover classes in studied sub-catchments. Colors represent the percentage of time the station was classified in 'good status' according to current Water Framework Directive standard96 -
Figure 4-5. RDA results showing the link between forest cover and water quality. X-axis represents the constrained axis and y-axis, the first residual component. (A) Correlation circle of the RDA with 'active' variables and the constrained variable (forest cover), with DO: Dissolved Oxygen, NO3: Nitrates, Cl: Chloride, SO4: Sulfates, TP: Total Phosphorus, NO2: Nitrites, NH4: Ammonium and DOC: Dissolved Organic Carbon. (B) Correlation circle of the RDA with constrained variable (forest cover) and 'passive' variables (with NLF: Needle- leaved forest and BLF: Broad-leaved forest). (C) Stations location in the same plan. — - 100 -
Figure 4-6. Venn diagram of the variance partitioning into main LULC classes and elevation. Figures are positive adjusted coefficients of determination and represent the variability explained by each subspace being either a single variable or shared effect between two or more variables 103 -
Figure 5-1. (A) Ecoregions in Wallonia; (B) Hydrography, water quality monitoring stations and corresponding catchments; (C) Elevation (source: regional LiDAR digital terrain model, http://geoportail.wallonie.be) and (D) Forest cover proportion

(F	(source: Top10VGIS) in waterbodies delineated within the EU Water Framework Directive 118 -
Figure c	e 5-2. Upstream spatial units (grey). Left : functional riparian buffer; centre: outside the functional riparian buffer and right : whole catchment 126 -
Figure a F a V	e 5-3. Biological water quality variability explained (redundancy analysis) by forest cover proportion in three upstream spatial units: Functional riparian buffer, outside this buffer (Outside Fun Rip Buf) and in the whole catchment. Results from significant models for Wallonia scale and in ecoregions.
Figure t t	e 5-4: RDA results showing the link between forest cover and biological water quality indices (IBGN-R and IPS-R). X-axis represents the constrained axis and y-axis, the first residual component. (A) Variables correlation circle plot, (B) Individuals plot sorted per ecoregion 133 -
Figure t c f t t c e e	e 5-5 (here Wallonia, next page, ecoregions). Venn diagrams of the biological water quality variance partitioning into proportion of forest cover in the functional riparian buffer (Forest Fun buf) or outside the functional riparian buffer (Forest Out Fun Buf), physico-chemical water quality (PC), local morphology variables and anthropogenic pressures: proportion of agricultural land and population density in the catchment. Figures are positively adjusted coefficients of determination (expressed in percentage) and represent the variability explained by each subspace being either a single variable or shared effect between two or more variables 135 -

List of tables

Table 1-1. Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES), version 4.3, Jan 2013 (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013) 6 -
Table 2-1. Main ecological characteristics of Wallonia and its ecoregions, with Cr.: cropland cover, Gr.: grassland cover, Urb. : urban LULC, For. Forest cover, Wat.: water, source LULC: Top10VGIS) 34 -
Table 3-1. Indicators of the hydrological behaviour of catchments and related ecosystem services 60 -
Table 3-2. Results of multiple linear regressions on annual and seasonal hydrological indicators during the studied period (2005 – 2014). R squared of the model (R ²), the figures in the table indicates for each indicator type and for each period, the ratio of the beta coefficient multiplying the variable (see names in first column) in the regression model to the standard deviation of the variable in the dataset (the stars on the right to the figures represent the significance degree of the variable in the model with p values [0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1]), with 'NL' = needle-leaved
Table 4-1. Physico-chemical variables investigated
Table 4-2. Redundancy analysis results for seasonal dataset (Oct-Mar, Apr-Sept) and aggregated dataset (median value over the study period): variability (%) explained by forest cover, by covariates and shared effects98 -
Table 4-3. Independent effect of main LULC (with distinction between forest types) on water quality and effect when removing shared effect with elevation, F and p values of the models with (***): highly significant 102 -
Table 5-1: Main ecological characteristics of Wallonia and its ecoregions [adapted from Michez et al. (2017); LULC source: Top10VGIS dataset] - 119 -

Table 5-2. Response variables (i.e. biological water quality indices), explanatory variables used in this study and the basis datasets & source- 121 -

- Table 5-4. Redundancy analysis results: biological water quality (IBGN-R and IPS-R) variability (%) explained by proportion of forest cover in functional riparian buffer and outside this buffer respectively. Results for Wallonia and ecoregions. Variability explained without removing any effect (Equation 1) and when removing Elevation, Local morphology or Population density effects (Equation type 2). F value and models significance from permutation tests (correspondence with p values: 0 '***' 0.001 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1).....- 132 -
- Table 6-1. Synthesis of thematic findings (+: positive [effect], : negative effect, 0 absence of effect, NS: non-significant, # non tested) 162 -

List of acronyms, abbreviations and units

AET	Actual Evapotranspiration (m ³ /s)	
BISE	Biodiversity Information System for Europe	
BFI	Baseflow Index	
CICES	Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services	
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity	
Cl	Chloride (mg/l)	
DO	Dissolved Oxygen (mgO2/l)	
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon (mgC/l)	
ES	Ecosystem Services	
FI	Flashiness Index	
HES	Hydrological Ecosystem Services	
IBGN	Standardized Global Biological Index	
IPBES	Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity	
	and Ecosystem Services	
IPS	Specific Polluosensitivity Index	
IUCN	International Union for the Conservation of Nature	
LULC	Land Use and Land Cover	
MAES	Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystem Services	
MLR	Multiple Linear Regression	
NGI	Belgian National Geographic Institute	
NH4	Ammonium (mgN/l)	
NO2	Nitrites (mgN/l)	
NO3	Nitrates (mgN/l)	
Р	Precipitation (m ³ /s)	
PCA	Principal Components Analysis	
Qxs	Specific discharge exceeded x% of the time (m/s)	
SO4	Sulphate (mg/l)	
TEEB	The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity	
ТР	Total phosphorus (mgP/l)	
RDA	Redundancy Analysis	
Vs	Specific Volume (m ³ /m ²)	
WalES	Walloon Ecosystem services	

WCS	Wildlife Conservation Society	
EU-WFD	European Water Framework Directive	
WPS	Walloon Public Service	
WWF	World Wide Fund for Nature	

1.1 Preamble

This document discusses the impact of forest cover on water related ecosystem services. The present section describes the state of the art, points to knowledge gaps leading to the definition of our thesis' objectives. More specifically, the ecosystem services (ES) concept and its uses are first characterized from the scientific and socio-political points of view. Then, particular research needs regarding this concept are identified. Water related ES are then presented along with current knowledge on the impact of forest cover on these ES. This allows raising unanswered scientific questions. Following this, detailed thematic and methodological objectives are defined and the scope and main assumptions of this PhD presented.

1.2 Ecosystem services

1.2.1 Humanity's dependency on Nature

While planet boundaries are dramatically being crossed (Loh et al., 2005; Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015) and ecosystems degraded, the Ecosystem Services concept has been promoted as a mean to raise awareness about the importance of preserving ecosystems and biodiversity (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a).

This concept of ES, that can be defined as the "benefit people obtain from nature" (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003), highlights Humanity's dependence on ecosystems and ecosystem processes for its survival and wellbeing. The idea of human dependency on Nature is not new [see Plato's descriptions on the effects of deforestation on soil erosion and the drying of springs in 400 BC (Daily et al., 1997) or Pliny the Elder observation of the links between deforestation, rainfall, and the occurrence of torrents in the first century AD (Andréassian, 2004a)]. However, these "ecosystem services" started to be explicitly considered in the mid-1960s early 1970's, when scientist began to address the societal value of nature's functions [e.g. King

(1966), Helliwel (1969), Odum and Odum (1972)]. The term of "ecosystem services" was introduced by Ehrlich and Ehrlich (1982) and several important scientific contributions followed [e.g. Daily et al. (1997) or Costanza et al. (1997)]. Gómez-Baggethun et al. (2010) present the historic development of the conceptualization of ES. The ES concept took on an international and political dimension with the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003, 2005a).

1.2.2 An evolving concept

Ecosystem functions, services, natural capital have been defined several times during the last decades, still, there is not a standardized meaning for these concepts (Boyd and Banzhaf, 2007; Fisher et al., 2009; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010b; La Notte et al., 2017; Wallace, 2007).

Barnaud et al. (2017, submitted) insist on the necessity to adopt a constructivist perspective. Indeed, the concept of ES is not stabilized and still evolving. ES are social constructions, representing inherently subjective perceptions of human-nature relations [Latour, 2004 cited in Barnaud et al. (2017, submitted)]. This instability is reflected in the multiple conceptual frameworks describing these ES at the interface of Ecosystems and Human well-being (Maes et al., 2013; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003; Pascual et al., 2017). One of them that has been widely used represents this concept in the form of a 'cascade' model [(Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010a), Figure 1-1]. This framework is based on the idea that a sort of 'production chain' starts from the ecosystems biophysical structures and processes which lead to functions that create services providing benefits and socio-economic values to human beings. Human society retroacts on ecosystems through pressures but also restoration actions.



Figure 1-1. The relationship between ecosystem structure and biodiversity, ecosystem function and human (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010a).

At the basis of the cascade model, ecosystem structure represents "the biophysical architecture of an ecosystem", or in other words, the "static ecosystem characteristics: spatial and aspatial structure, composition and distribution of biophysical elements" (e.g. land use, standing crop, leaf area, species composition,...). Ecosystem processes represent the dynamic ecosystem characteristics and can be defined as "complex interactions among biotic and abiotic elements causing physical, chemical and biological changes or reactions" (Englund et al., 2017). These processes can be physical (e.g. infiltration of water, sediment movement), chemical (e.g. reduction, oxidation) or biological (e.g. photosynthesis, microbiota decomposition). Even if uncertainties remain on the effect of complexity of biodiversity components on the ecosystem functioning that underpins ES (Balvanera et al., 2014), the importance of 'biodiversity' in underpinning ES is acknowledged (Díaz et al., 2006; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010a; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a). Harrison et al. (2014), in a review aiming at analysing the linkage between biodiversity attributes and 11 ES, show that the majority of the relationships are positive except for the freshwater provision ES where some biotic attributes (such as community attributes of area, age, structure) are negatively linked to the provision of this ES. Ecosystem structure and processes and their interactions lead to functions. As for ES, the definition of 'function' is not unique. Going even further, Jax (2016) states that the existence of 'function' is problematic for ecologists and Wallace (2007) argues that the term function might even be unnecessary or to be avoided if processes, structure and composition are adequately defined. Taking an anthropocentric perspective, Potschin and Haines-Young (2016) state that there are advantages in thinking about functions, and refer to them as "taken to be the 'subset' characteristics or behaviours that an ecosystem has that determines or 'underpins' its usefulness for people". Indeed, clearly identifying functions and the underlying structures and processes is helpful if we want to manage these properties in some way. Potschin and Haines-Young (2016) cite the case of woodland and their capacity to mediate runoff that can be controlled by their canopy characteristics which are not solely determined by woodland type. Similarly, the mediation of runoff function of forest ecosystems is supported by different processes (mainly evaporation, transpiration, infiltration, surface runoff) which influence this function in different ways. These processes are influenced by different "biophysical structures" (e.g. woodland type, vegetation density and structure, etc.). Trying to be clear about what

capacities (properties, behaviours) make ecosystems useful to people, identifying these as 'functional' characteristics is therefore an important stage in understanding how ecosystems and people are linked.

If we continue downstream of the cascade, ES play a pivotal role being sort of the 'final outputs' of ecosystems leading to benefits that can be valued by people. Every single box and link defined in this cascade model brings its part of uncertainty, complexity and research needs. Moreover, as any model, this is a simplification of reality and the linearity and unidirectionality suggested in the cascade is a simplification of the complex reality. It is out of the scope of this PhD to elaborate or discuss each link or box but we will instead focus on the biophysical assessment of functions and/or ES, and the links between these two components. As argued below assessing this relationship is of particular importance for ES assessment and mapping exercises.

Moreover, this instability of the ES concept is reflected in the multiplicity of ES classifications and as Brauman et al. (2007) mention, the underlying conditions and processes in ES providing are so interlinked that "*any classification is inherently somewhat arbitrary*". Most of classifications group ES into three categories: provisioning, regulating and cultural services. In Europe, one reference classification is the Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES, see Table 1.1) developed from the work on environmental accounting undertaken by the European Environment Agency (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2010b, 2013).

Section	Division	Group
Provisioning	Nutrition	Biomass
		Water
	Materials	Biomass, Fibre
		Water
	Energy	Biomass-based energy
		sources
		Mechanical energy
Regulation & Maintenance	Mediation of waste, toxics and other nuisances	Mediation by biota
		Mediation by ecosystems
	Mediation of flows	Mass flows
		Liquid flows
		Gaseous / air flows
	Maintenance of physical, chemical, biological conditions	Lifecycle maintenance, habitat and gene pool protection Pest and disease control
		Soil formation and composition Water conditions
		Atmospheric composition and climate regulation
Cultural	Physical and intellectual interactions with ecosystems and land- /seascapes	Physical and experiential interactions
	[environmental settings]	Intellectual and representational interactions
	Spiritual, symbolic and other interactions with ecosystems and land- /seascapes	Spiritual and/or emblematic
	[environmental settings]	Other cultural outputs

Table 1-1. Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES), version 4.3, Jan 2013 (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013)

In CICES, the three widely accepted categories (named 'sections') are further divided into eight generic divisions, themselves subdivided in groups, which are further divided into classes themselves subdivided in class-types. The description of the service is progressively more specific when moving down the classification scale. Table 1.1 presents this classification limited to the division and group levels. The appropriate level can then be chosen depending on the purpose of the classification use, e.g. mapping, assessment or accounting information (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013).

1.2.3 Science and policy

History of the ES concept, definitions and multiple classifications developed in environmental accounting contexts contribute to its large use both in the scientific and the policy arenas. ES is often promoted as a means to bridge the gap between these communities in the context of addressing crucial challenges in land planning and ecosystems preservation. On the scientific side, the number of papers mentioning "ecosystem services" or "ecological services" rose exponentially during this Century first decade (Fisher et al., 2009). Schaich et al. (2010) counted over 2000 articles containing ES as a keyword in five of the most important journals including PNAS, Environmental Management, Biological Conservation, Ecological Economics and Ecology and Society. On the policy side, ES have been introduced in the programs of major international environmental NGOs like the World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF), the Wildlife Conservation Society (WCS), and the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN). The Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) makes an explicit link between biodiversity and ES within its Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 (European Commission, 2011). In this regard, data and information on biodiversity supporting the implementation of the EU strategy and the Aichi targets in Europe are gathered on the Biodiversity Information System for Europe website (BISE, http://biodiversity.europa.eu/). The ES concept is also central in international initiatives such as the TEEB program (The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity) or IPBES (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services). At the European level, the working group MAES (Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystem Services) has been established in response to the Aichi targets set up by the CBD [see Target 2, action 5 (European Commission, 2011)]. Assessment is defined in this context as the "analysis and review of information for the purpose of helping

someone in a position of responsibility to evaluate possible actions or think about a problem" (Maes et al., 2013), revealing the diagnosis and help for management potential. At the national scale, several countries completed the assessment of their Ecosystems' states based on the ES concept such as the National Ecosystems Assessment of the UK (UK NEA, 2014) or Spain (Santos-Martín et al., 2014). Other activities are ongoing [see Schröter et al. (2016) for a review] such as in France with the "EFESE" program has been set up to assess Ecosystems and ES by biomes [French Assessment of Ecosystems and Ecosystem services (Puydarrieux, 2014)]. In Belgium, Ecosystems and ES trends have been assessed through the 'Flanders Regional Ecosystems Assessment' (Stevens et al., 2015) while in Wallonia a conceptual framework has been set up by the 'WalES platform' (Walloon Ecosystem services, http://www.wal-es.be/).

1.2.4 From science to practice: some points from the 'research needs hit list'

As mentioned, use of the ES concept is developing to bridge the gap between the scientific and policy spheres and several needs can be drawn from policy and scientific initiatives. De Groot et al. (2010) present several challenges to integrate structurallv ecosystem services in landscape planning, management and design. Regarding the assessment of ES in particular, there is a need for assessing and discriminating between the 'supply' side of ES, i.e. the potential ES that ecosystems can deliver and the 'demand' side, i.e. the ES that are wanted by individuals and/or communities (Wolff et al., 2015). Furthermore, there is an important need for accurately quantifying every component of the ES 'cascade' through suitable indicators (Braat and de Groot, 2012; Burkhard and Maes, 2017; de Groot et al., 2010; Müller and Burkhard, 2012; Seppelt et al., 2011). This means accurately assessing the processes, functions, ES, benefits and their relationships. One of the main challenges in doing so is to deal with the high complexity of ecosystems' functioning and the complex dynamics characterizing the links between processes, functions, and services at different temporal and spatial scales (Bastian et al., 2012; Carvalho-Santos et al., 2014; de Groot et al., 2010; Swetnam et al., 2011; Turner and Daily, 2008; Villa et al., 2014). Assessing ES to support land planning decision-making remains thus a challenge due to multiple sources of uncertainty such as data scarcity, functional knowledge gaps, demand variability, etc. (Jacobs et al., 2013).

As a core part of spatially explicit assessment initiatives, ES mapping methods face similar issues. Mapping methods can be grouped into 6 broad categories: direct mapping, empirical models, simulation and process models, logical models, extrapolation (often based on land use and land cover (LULC) classes), data integration (Andrew et al., 2015; Englund et al., 2017). The first four types roughly constitute 'ecological production function methods' implying the estimation of the level of ES provisioning at a particular location based on the biotic and abiotic characteristics of the site – while the latter two groups roughly constitute 'benefit transfer methods' where ES values are transferred from one context to another. These latter methods also called 'proxy methods' are often used in ES assessments (Albert et al., 2015; Egoh et al., 2012; Koschke et al., 2012; UK NEA, 2014). Arguably, the abovementioned policies such as the EU biodiversity strategy 2020 targets (European Commission, 2011) provide an incentive for using 'proxy' techniques. Indeed, these methods, and in particular one of the extrapolation method known as the 'matrix approach' (Burkhard et al., 2010), allow for straightforward ES mapping.



Figure 1-2. Overview of the ES matrix approach, based on geospatial map data, the actual matrix and resulting ES maps, source: Burkhard (2017)

In this so-called 'matrix approach' (Figure 1-2), ES are linked to appropriate geo-biophysical spatial units (Burkhard et al., 2010; 2017). Then, their supply and/or demand are ranked for each spatial unit in a pre-defined normalised scale (e.g. 0 not relevant to 5 very high), creating a 'matrix' that allocates for each spatial unit 'type' a provision (or demand) potential for each studied ES. This method has been largely applied and in particular, in its simplest form, i.e. when spatial units defined in the matrix are directly based on spatial LULC delineation. Indeed, the 'LULC-based matrix' approach can easily be implemented on large spatial extents and using common land use databases that are regularly updated (e.g. CORINE land cover. http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/COR0-landcover). It is therefore often used in assessments and allows for comparison between countries. However, one may question the validity of these maps, as uncertainties are high and variable, in particular in terms of the expected direct and univocal links between LULC and the ES provided. Indeed, the same ES provision potential is allocated to every spatial unit from the same LULC class, no matter local characteristics (e.g. soil type, slope, management, etc.) leading to at best, unprecise, at worse false assessments.

1.2.5 Water related ecosystem services

Among major ES, water related ones are of prime importance to Humans. Indeed, water is the most essential component for the life of all beings, it is a major component of sustainable development and is crucial to healthy ecosystems, socio-economic development and to the survival of human beings (UN-Water, 2014; Haddadin, 2001; Falkenmark and Rockstrom, 2004). However, freshwater systems and consequently human well-being are directly threatened by human activities (Meybeck, 2003; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a; Vörösmarty et al., 2010). Hydrological ecosystem services (HES), i.e. the benefits ecosystems supply by regulating the hydrological cycle (Willaarts et al., 2012), are therefore of prime importance. Brauman et al. (2007) broadly classified them into five categories including 'improvement of extractive water supply', 'improvement of instream water supply', 'water damage mitigation', 'provision of water-related cultural services', and 'water-associated supporting services'. These are delivered according to the following dimensions (further referred to as attributes) of: quantity, quality, location, and timing of flow (Brauman et al., 2007). Water quantity constitutes the

amount of water available for drinking and non-drinking purposes or describes the volume of flood water. Water quality is a measure of the chemicals, pathogens, nutrients, salt and sediments in surface and ground water. Location means the location of delivery, while the timing attribute describes the moment when water is available. These HES attributes are directly impacted by ecosystems functioning, structure and management when water flows through the landscape. The water cycle encompasses water movements and its renewal. Its understanding and characterization provide important information to comprehend HES provision and the role of ecosystems in regulating water fluxes and composition. The water cycle and ecosystems interactions are illustrated in Figure 1-3. Arrows indicate fluxes of water. The water cycle, which is driven by solar energy, has no starting point. Processes affecting water fluxes are simultaneous. Part of surface water (mainly from oceans but also from rivers, lakes, etc.) evaporates and forms clouds along with water from terrestrial evapotranspiration. Then, this water falls as rain, fog, or snow (i.e. precipitations) onto Earth's land and oceans. On land, part of water infiltrates into the soil to groundwater or flows over the surface (surface runoff) or at the subsurface (subsurface runoff). In the local context, water and water fluxes are affected through diverse processes highly related to LULC: water use and interaction with vegetation, ground surface and soil modifications, local climate modifications, and water quality modifications.


Figure 1-3. Water cycle flows and ecosystem interactions, source: (Brauman et al., 2007).

1.3 Forest cover impact on hydrological attributes and ecosystem services

Land cover and forests in particular affect HES through their impact on water and water cycle. Forests are seen as the main ecosystems interacting with water whether in terms of: quantity (i.e. total water yield), timing (i.e. seasonal distribution of flows) and quality (i.e. removal and breakdown of pollutants and trapping of sediments). Indeed, forests and forest soils alter each of the five physical, chemical and biological functions involving the reception, processing and transfer of water (Neary et al., 2009). This is mainly due to the following characteristics : (i) forests height, (ii) dense and irregular crown canopy with high leaf area index and lower albedo, (iii) architecture of their spread root system widely prospecting soil horizons, (iv) wide horizontal distribution and vertical coverage (Calder, 2002; Salemi et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2001). Figure 1-4 presents an adaptation of the 'cascade' model in the context of forest HES based on Carvalho-Santos et al. (2014) framework. Mentioned services are those studied in the present PhD thesis based on Brauman et al. (2007) categories and the PhD's scope (supply side) is highlighted. The cascade model illustrates that forest ecosystems properties, constituted by biophysical structures (linked to plant structure but also to ecological variables) and processes, lead to functions. These functions contribute to HES characterized through attributes, themselves providing benefits to Human. These benefits can for example be linked to water supply to households (e.g. for direct consumption) or to primary or secondary sectors (e.g. to agriculture or industries). These benefits can also be related to the reduction in water bodies sediments content. Figure 1-4 illustrates HES and attributes studied in the present PhD (i.e. HES of instream water supply and water damage mitigation and attributes of quantity, quality and timing) and highlights our focus: the potential provision of HES by forests (supply side). Human management decisions result in pressures on ecosystems and actions to limit them. Main biophysical structures, processes and functions of forest ecosystems related to these HES are described based on literature review in sections 1.3.1 to 1.3.3.



Figure 1-4. Cascade model for hydrological ecosystem services provided by forests adapted from Carvalho-Santos et al. (2014). Ecosystems properties (structures and processes) lead to functions leading to hydrological ecosystem services providing benefits to Human. Mentioned services studied in the present thesis are assessed in relation with their hydrological attributes: quantity, quality and timing. Human management decisions results in pressures and actions to limit them. By explicitly listing operating processes and functions, Figure 1-4 highlights the complexity of water-related ES assessments. Indeed and as detailed in the following sections, different processes may be translated into several functions that impact the same HES in opposite ways.

1.3.1 Water related processes in forest

This section presents the main water related processes driving functions and HES delivered by forests in comparison to other ecosystems. The integrated effect of forest on water quantity, timing and quality and remaining gaps in the literature are detailed in sections 1.3.2 and 0.

One of the main processes acting on water fluxes distribution in forest is **evapotranspiration (ET)**, which describes the total loss of water as vapour from the biosphere. This includes water vapour lost through interception by the canopy, through evaporation from the soil surface, and transpiration from trees and understory, the latter flux being regulated by the species according to their water stress tolerance.

Interception is the first process resulting from the interaction of forest and precipitation. It represents the fraction of water that is evaporated back to the atmosphere from the canopy (or absorbed by leaves) and that never reaches the forest floor. Interception values are highly variable according to the tree species, sylviculture, climate and season. In temperate climate, interception represents from 15 to 45% of incident rainfall (Nisbet, 2005; Office National des Forêts, 1999). Needle-leaved forests have higher interception rates [from 25 to 45% (Nisbet, 2005; Office National des Forêts, 1999)] than broad-leaved forests (from 15 to 30% (Office National des Forêts, 1999)] than broad-leaved forests (from 15 to 30% (Office National des Forêts, 1999) or 10 to 20% according to Nisbet (2005)). This is mainly due to (i) higher leaf area index (LAI) values for needle-leaved species and (ii) their evergreen character (except for *Larix sp.* and other non-evergreen needle-leaved species). Interception rates are negligible for grassland or arable crops while they present similar values to broad-leaved forest when considering heather or bracken (Nisbet, 2005).

Transpiration (T) is the process by which water taken in by plant roots from the soil is evaporated (i.e. loss) through the pores or stomata on the surface of leaves. Tree transpiration is often the main component of the evapotranspiration flux. In the absence of water stress, it is directly driven by

the energy received at the canopy that can be quantified by the potential evapotranspiration (PET), and the T/PET ratio can be as high as 0.8. Broad-leaved forests transpire more than needle-leaved species during the vegetative period (in Belgium, from around April to September) but on an annual basis, transpiration rates are similar (from 30 to 35% of received rainfall for needle-leaved species and from 30 to 39% for broad-leaved species according to Office National des Forêts (1999) and Nisbet (2005) respectively).

Evaporation from the soil and the transpiration from understory vegetation complete the ET term. These fluxes are highly variable, depending on climate, canopy cover and species composition. According to some authors (Daikoku et al., 2008; Osberg, 1986; Wilson et al., 2000) soil evaporation can represent 15 to 21 % of a stand's ET (with no herb layer). Average summer transpiration from understory vegetation can represent 34% of a stand's ET (Gobin, 2014).

Different techniques can be used to quantify ET and they differ a lot regarding the spatial and temporal study scales. ET at the catchment scale can be derived from the measurements of individual fluxes (i.e. transpiration, interception and evaporation) at a really local scale (leaf, tree) that need to be then upscaled to the stand and catchment scales with associated high uncertainties (Ford et al., 2007). Eddy covariance method provide ET assessment through water vapour fluxes measurements above canopy at a larger spatial scale than the tree (i.e. a portion of stand) but variable in time (see e.g. Aubinet (2001)et al. and Soubie et al. (2016) studies in Wallonia, Belgium). Another widely used approach is based on the water balance study at larger spatial and temporal scales. The water balance builds on the principle of mass conservation and states that the 'inflow' minus 'outflow' equals the variation in water storage (Office National des Forêts, 1999) in the system. One of the main spatial scale at which the water balance is studied is the catchment scale which can be defined an area hydrologically closed, where no flow is coming from the exterior and where the overflow issued from rainfall either evaporate or flow to one unique section. If we consider the catchment scale, the water balance equation can be written as follows:

dS/dT = P - Q - ET [Equation 1.1]

with S : catchment water storage (m^3), P : Precipitation (m^3/s), Q : discharge the catchment outlet (m^3/s), ET : actual Evapotranspiration (m^3/s). Studying the water balance at the catchment scale allows thus to derive information on the forest cover action (ET term) if other terms are known (P and Q) and differences in catchment water storage neglected (over adequate temporal frames). Discharge at the catchment outlet appears thus as a key variable, easily and frequently monitored, reflecting and integrating the processes partitioning water fluxes.

Studies show that annual ET varies greatly between biomes, according to climate, soil characteristics (mainly depth, texture, organic content and slope) and type of forests: ET/P may vary between 0.25 up to 0.85 (Larcher, 2003; Vose et al., 2011). As abovementioned, the partitioning of the ET fluxes also varies greatly with forest composition and phenology, density, age, structure, and therefore strongly impacts the amount of rainfall reaching the soil, the amount of soil water available and forest productivity. However, **forest is acknowledged to have a higher evapotranspiration (ET) rate than lower vegetation** as grass or arable land (Amatya et al., 2016; Granier, 2007; Office National des Forêts, 1999; Zhang et al., 2001). Also, regarding difference between forest types, we can assume that **needle-leaved tree species have higher annual evapotranspiration rates than broad-leaved tree species** (Nisbet, 2005) mainly given their higher interception rates.

Throughfall, defined as water that reaches the soil either directly through canopy gaps or indirectly after running off the canopy, represents from 60 to 90% of rainfall. **Stemflow,** defined as water running down the trunk and into the soil represents generally small values (1 to 4% of rainfall) (Williams, 2016) but can reach in some cases (i.e. for beech) values as high as 12-18% of rainfall (Barbier et al., 2009). Throughfall and stemflow represent the fraction of incident rainfall which is not intercepted by the canopy and re-evaporated. These are obviously also variable according to tree species, size, density and canopy roughness (Williams, 2016), see eg. Barbier et al. (2009) for a review of the influence of several tree traits on rainfall partitioning in temperate and boreal forests.

Water that reaches the soil and can either infiltrate into the soil or runoff on the surface or in the subsurface. The partitioning of these fluxes is complex and will depend on the soil characteristics and pre-existent water content. **Infiltration** represents the water movement under gravity and pressures entering the upper soil layers towards the subsoil. A part of this water contributes to rise soil water content, another part **percolates** to ground water while another part reaches the stream quicker. Authors argue that **infiltration rates are higher in forest mainly due to forest soils higher porosity, litter and presence of canopy** which slows down rain drops (Bruijnzeel, 2004; Calder, 2002).

Le Maitre et al. (2014) proposes a comparison of schematic representations of components and processes linked to flow regulation service, under "wellmanaged" and "modified" ecosystems (Figure 1-5). This figure illustrates how the components and processes that control the water partitioning in the ecosystem (i.e. interception, evaporation, transpiration, infiltration, percolation, surface and subsurface runoff) are affected under inappropriate land use. Considering effects of forest on above-mentioned processes partitioning rainfall; clear-cutting, thinning, sanitation problems will impact this partitioning and be reflected in streamflow (i.e. discharge measures).



Figure 1-5. The movement of water from precipitation through the vegetation and soil system into streams, and how it is affected by changes in vegetation, from Le Maître, et al., (2014).

Biological, chemical and physical processes altering the composition of water occur in forest ecosystems. Compartments of canopy and floor in these ecosystems play an important role in nutrient cycling, stream water chemistry, and stream water quality (Arocena, 2000). From the physical point of view, forests, more than other vegetation types, minimize soil erosion on site and reduce the amount of sediments in water (wetlands, ponds, lakes, streams, rivers). Studies also showed that forest trap or filter water pollutants in the forest litter (Calder et al., 2007). Indeed, forest litter provides a physical barrier to splash-induced erosion. Forest surface cover, debris and tree roots trap sediments and deep tree roots stabilize slopes. Pollutant removal processes within forest and riparian buffer can occur at the surface or subsurface level. Pollutants and particles removed from the surface are sediments and nutrients such as phosphorus, trapped by grasses brush and shrubs. Subsurface pollutants removal such as groundwater NO3--N can occur through plant uptake or denitrification process by microbiota (Madigan et al., 2014). Nitrate removal by riparian buffer is one of the most studied process regarding water quality (see e.g. Sabater et al. (2003) study concerning this process across a climatic gradient in Europe) and testifies an "active" effect of forest on improving water quality.

This section aimed at (i) presenting main processes related to forest cover effect on water and (ii) providing an order of magnitude of these in comparison with other vegetation types. The following sections present knowledge about the integrated effect of these processes in forest on HES and their attributes of quantity, timing and quality.

1.3.2 Water quantity and timing

To study the effect of forest cover on the water quantity and quality attributes at the landscape scale, many studies adopt a 'catchment' scale approach, as it appears to be a relevant spatial unit of study because of its integrative character (Granier, 2007). Indeed, studies that focus on measuring precisely the water cycle fluxes at the stand scale exist but it is highly challenging to upscale them (Asbjornsen et al., 2011; Oishi et al., 2008; Schume et al., 2003; Schwärzel et al., 2009; Unsworth et al., 2004; Vincke et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2001).

As already mentioned when describing hydrological processes, various factors impact these, resulting in high variability when quantifying them.

Despite the many studies conducted to measure the impact of forest cover on water cycle components (Brown et al., 2005; Farley et al., 2005; Robinson et al., 2003), relationships between water flows (quantity and timing) and forests have been controversial since Pliny the Elder (Andréassian, 2004b). Many of these studies are paired-catchment studies [see Bosch and Hewlett (1982) for a review] where catchment size is often small. Indeed, studied catchment areas cover for the vast majority less than a few km² limited by the fact that these experiments require controlling most of the factors impacting water flows while having pure and distinct land covers between catchments. These studies present the major disadvantage to lack experimental replications across a full range of natural conditions (DeFries and Eshleman, 2004). Regarding annual water yield, results indicate an increase of it when forest cover is replaced by lower vegetation cover. More precisely, Sahin and Hall (1996) report from an analysis of 145 experiments that for a 10%reduction in cover of coniferous or eucalyptus (which is a high water demanding broad-leaved tree species), water yield increased by 20-25 mm and 6 mm respectively. This can be explained by higher evapotranspiration rates found in forests vs other LULC and higher annual evapotranspiration rates in needle-leaved forests vs broad-leaved forests. This reduction in water yield may negatively affect the instream water supply but could favour the water damage protection service (Brauman et al., 2007). On the other hand, at the global scale, authors argue that forest cover raises the precipitation events likelihood and increases water yield by contributing to the availability of atmospheric moisture vapour and the transport across continents (see Ellison et al. (2012) for a "forest-water yield" debate review). In addition to contribution to atmospheric moisture, forests could also contribute to increase available water by favouring infiltration (van Dijk and Keenan, 2007).

Other debates and perceptions confrontation are taking place in the popular and scientific spheres regarding the capacity of forest to regulate the timing of flows (i.e. their seasonal distribution) and in particular to reduce peak flows and promote water availability in low flows (Calder, 2002; Ceci and FAO, 2013). Global consensus on positive or negative effect on regulation of peak and low flow are hardly found in literature given the variability between sites linked to climate, soil characteristics, type of forests, etc. However, there is a partial consensus growing in the literature stating that forests may help to mitigate floods from small storms; but this role is variable according to geology, soil and climatic conditions (Cosandey et al., 2004). This positive effect of forest on flood protection tend to decrease with the intensity of storm and the pre-existing high soil moisture condition (Calder and Aylward, 2006; Lana-Renault et al., 2011).

Regarding low flows and seasonal distribution of water the same trade-off as for water yield exist, between a higher evapotranspiration versus an assumed favoured infiltration capability and an increase in atmospheric moisture by forest ecosystems. During summer, we can expect higher transpiration losses because of the deeper root systems of trees, reducing soil water reserves which sustain base flows (Calder, 1992). Differences in forest type effect can also occur with regard to differences in evapotranspiration rates according to phenology. Broadleaved forests have a higher evapotranspiration than needle-leaved forest in summer (essentially due to higher interception). However, univocal conclusion regarding the effect of forest cover on dry season flows in comparison to lower vegetation can not be drawn from the literature (Calder, 2002). Effects on dry season are likely to be site specific.

Finally, global changes push scientists to claim for renewing studies linking hydrological processes and land cover. DeFries and Eshleman (2004) claim for research about interactions between land-use change and hydrologic processes, stating that it is and will be a major issue in the decades ahead. More generally, Vose et al. (2011) state that global changes which affect water quality and quantity (i.e. climate change, land use change and invasive species) question the assumption that studies from the last decades can be used to face future conditions. Indeed, these authors state that the intensification of human activities across the globe have created conditions that are outside the range of many of our historical observations and understanding derived from those observations. In particular, climate warming will likely result in increases in evaporation and more intense precipitation events leading to the hypothesis that one of the major consequences will be an intensification (or acceleration) of the water cycle (Del Genfo et al., 1991; Huntington, 2010; Loaiciga et al., 1996) along with a general exacerbation of extreme hydrologic anomalies such as floods and droughts (Easterling et al., 2000; Gleick, 1989).

1.3.3 Water quality

Water quality management is at the core of policies such as the US Clean Water Act (1972) and the European Water Framework Directive (Directive, 2000/60/CE) which share the common objective to maintain or restore the chemical, physical and biological integrity of surface waters. Water quality can be described by hundreds of variables which can broadly be classified into physical, chemical and biological categories (Boyd, 2015; Chapman, 1992). These groups of variables provide complementary information and are inter-related.

Managing water quality is challenging and implies to deal with both point and non-point source pollutions. Land use and land cover are key landscape elements affecting water quality through their impact on non-point source pollution resulting from complex runoff and landscape interactions. Giri and Qiu (2016) stress the importance of assessing the relationship between LULC and water quality. To their point of view, improving the understanding of these relationships can help managing water quality in unmonitored watersheds but also providing recommendations to watershed managers and policymakers in the land planning decision process. In order to capture forest cover impact on water quality and avoid driving simplistic conclusions, one must consider other LULC notably those associated with pressures on water quality. Negative impact of agricultural intensification is reported in the literature (Stoate et al., 2001) mainly explained by the following processes: increased sedimentation, modified hydrological regimes, loss of high quality habitat, contamination from pesticides, increases in surface water nutrients (mainly N and P) (Allan, 2004; de Oliveira et al., 2016; Herringshaw et al., 2011; Mahler and Barber, 2017). Urban land use and urban intensification are also reported to negatively affect water quality (Kosuth et al., 2010; Riva-Murray et al., 2002; Yu et al., 2013). Forest, on the contrary, is usually associated with water containing less sediments and fewer nutrients (Neary et al., 2009; TEEB, 2010). Some studies showed positive impact of forest cover on instream water quality (Kosuth et al., 2010; Tong and Chen, 2002). This positive effect is likely due to both an "active" effect related to the active trapping or filtering of water pollutants and a "passive" effect being linked to the absence of more polluting practices associated with other LULC (e.g. agricultural cover). Indeed forestry activities generally use no fertilizers or pesticides.

Spatial location of LULC and in particular forest cover raises questions with regard to its impact on water quality. The overall catchment cover and that of the riparian zone (defined by Naiman et al. (2005) as "transitional semiterrestrial areas regularly influenced by fresh water, normally extending from the edges of water bodies to the edges of upland communities") are often studied. However, the question addressing the scale at which land use within stream catchments most influences stream water quality and ecosystem health remains only partially answered (Allan, 2004; Johnson et al., 1997; Sheldon et al., 2012; Sponseller et al., 2001). Several studies suggest that prevailing (Kail et al., 2012; Riva-Murray et al., 2002) and past (Harding et al., 1998) LULC characteristics of stream catchments affect surface water quality. Other studies emphasize the impact of riparian LULC on water quality or stream habitat (Dosskey et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2015). Finally, some studies compare scales of influence (i.e. catchment scale versus riparian scales), obtaining nuanced results on the land use effect on stream water quality according notably to the type of biological indicators and the ecological context of the sampling sites (Kosuth et al., 2010; Marzin et al., 2012, 2012; Sponseller et al., 2001). Specifically, forested riparian buffer zones are believed to have a positive impact on water quality through notably the reduction of the nutrient concentrations in water (Dosskey et al., 2010; Fernandes et al., 2014; Naiman et al., 2005; Scarsbrook and Halliday, 1999). However, this is nuanced by studies explicitly assessing the effect of riparian forest compared to catchment forest (Stephenson and Morin, 2009). These studies show that assessing both scales of influence bring deeper insights when studying LULC impact on water quality (Vondracek et al., 2005).

1.4 **Preliminary conclusions**

Given the above, we may highlight the following conclusions and associated caveats in the literature with regards to assessing water related ES in the broader context of ES assessments. ES concept and frameworks such as the cascade model, based on scientific literature, acknowledge the Human dependency towards Nature and more specifically the links between ecosystems structure and processes, function, ES and human well-being. In doing so, one of this concept's purposes is to act as a tool for better resources assessment and management in a context of degradation of ecosystems and their ES. However, there is a **crucial need for accurately quantifying every component of the ES 'cascade'** through suitable indicators accounting for

the complexity of these relationships. While current policy-driven initiatives of ES assessments and mapping are often based on methods relying on simple land cover proxies (such as the above-presented 'LULC-based matrix' approach), **research is needed to validate or not these proxies and when appropriate, propose indicators that can easily be mapped, but better reflect the underlying processes underpinning ES supply**.

Among ES, those related to water are of prime importance and known to be influenced by ecosystems and LULC. Regarding forest cover, its associated assumed effects on processes related to water quantity are a high evapotranspiration, high infiltration compared to surface runoff or rapid drainage (at least on low slopes), increase of soil moisture content, recharge of groundwater and the gradual release of water. However, the **combined** effect of these processes on hydrological ES is less evident to derive given the ecosystem complexity and heterogeneity at the landscape scale. Regarding LULC effect on water quality, there is an opposition between forest cover associated with higher water quality and agricultural and urban land associated with lower water quality. Forest cover processes result in water with less sediments and nutrients. However, questions related to the integrated effect of mixed LULC at the landscape scale and regarding the forest position in the landscape (i.e. within riparian zone or whole catchment) where its effect on HES is the strongest remain unanswered. This appears to be relevant in relation with policies such as the European Water Framework Directive [EU-WFD, (European Commission, 2000)]. Finally, global changes push for renewing of these studies linked to effect of ecosystems on HES.

1.5 **PhD thesis objectives and scope**

1.5.1 **Thematic and methodological objectives**

In an attempt to tackle these research gaps, the **focal objective** of this PhD thesis is to assess the **impact of forest cover on hydrological ecosystem services**. The HES studied in this PhD thesis are the instream water supply and the water damage mitigation service of flood protection. This study focus therefore on river flows. It also clearly focus on the supply side of the cascade model (see Figure 1-4) representing the potential provision of these services by forest cover *versus* other LULC.

The main objective is declined in three sub-objectives and associated with methodological objectives (see Figure 1-6) which are described below.



Figure 1-6. Objectives of the study (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives) and corresponding chapter numbers.

In order to fulfil the main objective, **transversal methodological objectives** are pursued:

- (i) to ensure replicability of the methods,
- (ii) to broaden the scope of the results, moving towards land planning oriented results.

The main thematic objective is declined and completed through three specific objectives, related to the study of the impact of forest cover on:

 (i) instream water supply and the water damage mitigation service of flood protection. In this study, the hydrological attributes of quantity and timing are studied in the Ardenne ecoregion (Chapter 3)

- (ii) instream water supply in terms of physico-chemical water quality at the regional scale (Chapter 4)
- (iii) instream water supply in terms of biological water quality at the regional and subregional scale (Chapter 5)

More specifically, in Chapter 3, the independent effect of forest cover types (i.e. needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on instream water supply and flood protection is assessed.

In Chapter 4, the independent effect of forest cover types (i.e. needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on physico-chemical water quality in comparison to other LULC is quantified at the regional scale. The link between subcatchments' LULC and the legal status of in stream water quality is analysed. Furthermore, the annual and seasonal effects on the forest cover impact on physico-chemical water quality are assessed.

In Chapter 5, the forest cover effect on biological water quality in comparison to anthropogenic pressures and physico-chemical water quality is quantified. Furthermore, we compare the effect of riparian forest to the proportion of forest in the upstream catchment. The effects of population density and local morphology on the forest cover effect on water biological quality are also assessed. The study scale is twofold: regional scale (Wallonia) and subregional ecoregion scale.

Figure 1-7 presents the main objectives, specific objectives, and the scales of study.

Impact of forest cover (FC) on hydrological ecosystem services



Figure 1-7. Specific objectives and spatial extents of the studies (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives).

1.5.2 **PhD scope and work assumptions**

The interdisciplinary character of this PhD is reflected in its objectives – be it thematic or methodological – and the methods needed to fulfil them. Our contribution first fits into the interdisciplinary nature of the **ecosystem services approach**. More specifically, we aim at bringing insights to the biophysical assessment of HES from the 'supply' point of view (Figure 1-4).). In doing so, we also aim to enrich the debate of using land cover proxies (see Figure 1-2 and section 1.2.4) versus more advanced methodologies, such as detailed and precise simulation and process based models or direct mapping. This may contribute to deriving indicators used to map water related ES at the landscape scale, yet meaningful in land planning processes.

Second, our work aims at bringing information and answering questions with regard to **ecohydrology** science and its present and future challenges (Vose et al., 2011). However, given our objectives and, in particular, our aim to contribute to better land planning processes, the spatial scale of study is completely different from that of traditional ecohydrologists studying regulation of fluxes. Indeed, we aim at bringing insights on forest cover effect on water at the landscape scale where ecohydrological processes are highly relevant for society through their impacts on water provisioning and quality (Asbjornsen et al., 2011).

Regarding this context, several work assumptions and choices support the present study.

First, the **'catchment' scale** appears to be a relevant spatial unit of study because of its integrative character (Granier, 2007) reflecting effects of accumulated fluxes. These accumulated fluxes resulting from complex ecosystems interaction with water are manifested by streamflow, evapotranspiration and recharge. Discharge at the catchment outlet appears therefore as a key variable reflecting LULC and in particular forest cover effects on water fluxes partitioning while being an easily and frequently monitored variable. Indicators chosen to describe the quantity and timing dimensions of HES will therefore be based on discharge series (Chapter 3). Similarly, indicators describing water quality will also be measurements at the catchment outlet (Chapters 4 and 5).

In order to broaden the scope of the results obtained and to derive land planning oriented results, our study extent varies from ecoregional to regional scale. We study "real-life" catchments (vs. small controlled pure LULC catchments), ranging from a few to hundreds km² with mixed land covers and a specific focus on forest cover. This is directly induced by the spatial heterogeneity of LULC in the study area at the landscape scale, as in many other countries worldwide. In this context, "forest cover" is studied through a proportion of forest cover in upstream catchments. This implies that we study various forests in terms of management, stand age, tree density, species combination, local conditions. In Chapters 3 and 4, forest cover type effect is studied based essentially on foliar phenology by discriminating between needle-leaved forest and broadleaved forest covers. Also, spatial extents of studies are relatively large, from one ecoregion to the regional scale, multiplying sites condition cases (from geological, soil, climatic, tree species, associated LULC, management points of view). This study has indeed an inductive character, as we aim at deriving trends and explanations from large and variable datasets. In order to cover several climatic configurations (regarding rainfall and temperature), while overall representative of the study area, we worked with as much as data as possible. Regarding water quantity, timing and physico-chemical water quality, given the available datasets (i.e. discharges, rainfall and physico-chemical datasets), we chose to study 10 years of data (2005-2014) (Chapters 3 and 4). Regarding biological water quality (Chapter 5), we worked with the last EU-WFD cycle data (i.e. 2009-2014, as data from 2015 were not validated yet).

To ensure replicability, developed methods take advantage of public data monitored in many countries [whether regarding water quantity and timing (discharges) or water quality (monitoring measures in the EU-WFD framework)]. Given (i) the spatial scale and extents of study, (ii) the large number, the high diversity and heterogeneity of studied catchments, and (iii) our objective to study the integrative effect of forest cover on water related HES rather than its effect on individual processes, we develop robust and relatively simple **statistical methods** (see, in particular, section 2.3). The present section aims at briefly presenting the study area and the datasets used in every chapter. Some methodological choices are also briefly presented as Chapters 3, 4 and 5 present each piece of study in detail, including a "Material and Method" section.

2.1 Study Area

The study area is the southern region of Belgium (Wallonia) covering 16 902 km² (ca. 55% of Belgium's area, see Figure 2-1 A). Wallonia presents relatively contrasted landscapes and can be divided into five natural ecoregions (Figure 2-1 A and Table 2-1). Noirfalise (1988) delineated these ecoregions according to pedological, botanical and agro-ecological criteria. Table 2-1 presents their main characteristics regarding LULC, topography, and rainfall distributions. More specifically, from north to south:

The **Loam region** is a low plateau covered with a thick silt layer presenting the Walloon region's mildest making it highly suitable for arable crops and grasslands (69%). This ecoregion is made of open valleys with gentle slopes with high anthropogenic pressures (intensive agriculture, high population density,...) and a low forest cover proportion (10%). Rivers and riparian areas are particularly degraded and modified due these anthropogenic pressures but also to the natural landscape configuration (i.e. gentle slopes and loamy substrate) limiting the natural restoration processes capacity (Michez et al., 2017).

The **Condroz** is a plateau presenting a steeper relief than the Loam region, located in the south of the Sambre and Meuse rivers. It presents a particular topography formed by the spatial alternation of psammitic rocks on the crest lines mostly covered in forest and limestone in the valleys where grassland and cropland covers are found. The average population density is high and strongly influenced by the presence of three nearby cities (Charleroi, Namur and Liège). Agricultural activity is less widespread than in the Loam region but locally important and forest cover is moderate (24%).

The **Famenne** is a large depression with an impervious and shallow soil layer composed of clay and schist. To the south of this ecoregion, a narrow limestone strip outcrops locally: the 'Calestienne'. Grassland is the main land cover (36%) and the population density is quite low. Forest cover represent a third of the total area.

The **Ardenne** is a high plateau dissected by several rivers constituting the western protruding end of the "Rhine great schistose massif". This region presents the highest elevation zones (with a highest point at 694m, at the "signal de Botrange"). The climate presents a continental character and is on average the rainiest and coldest in the country. This ecoregion has a low population density (44 inhab/ km^2) and a high forest cover proportion (56%).

The **Belgian Lorraine** is highly contrasted region in the South of Wallonia. Geologically, it is constituted by a succession of three "cuestas" oriented westeast. In terms of land cover it presents both agricultural zones (mainly grassland) and forested zones.

	Area (km²)	Rainfall (mm / year)	Mean altitude (m)	Mean slope (%)	Cr . (%)	Gr. (%)	Urb. (%)	For. (%)	Wat. (%)	Mean pop density
Loam region	5192	825	103	4.8	51.2	17.5	19.2	10.3	<1	320
Condroz	3570	956	214	9.8	25.1	29.5	18.7	24.5	1.2	344
Famenne	1574	898	227	9.3	12.1	35.8	9.0	41.4	1.0	74
Ardenne	5710	1140	425	11	5.0	29.2	7.1	56.3	<1	44
Belgian Lorraine	851	934	322	9.1	12.6	33.7	10.3	41.6	<1	107
Wallonia	16898	971	258	8.5	24.5	26.5	13.6	33.3	<1	208

Table 2-1. Main ecological characteristics of Wallonia and its ecoregions, with Cr.: cropland cover, Gr.: grassland cover, Urb. : urban LULC, For. Forest cover, Wat.: water, source LULC: Top10VGIS).

A. ECOREGIONS



B. ELEVATION



C. MONITORING STATIONS & HYDROGRAPHY



Figure 2-1. (A) Ecoregions in Wallonia;(B) Elevation (source: regional LiDAR digital terrain model, http://geoportail.wallonie.be)), (C) Hydrography, gauging stations (Aqualim network, Chapter 3), Physico-chemical water quality monitoring stations (EU-WFD monitoring network, Chapters 4 and 5), Physico-chemical water quality monitoring stations (EU-WFD monitoring network, Chapter 4)

Figure 2-1 B illustrates the elevation in Wallonia while Figure 2-1 C presents the monitoring stations of this study. In particular, orange dots represent the gauging stations studied in Chapter 3, grey and green dots, the physico-chemical water quality monitoring stations studied in Chapter 4 and green dots the physico-chemical & biological water quality monitoring stations studied in Chapter 5.

<u>Forest cover</u>

Most of the forest cover in Wallonia is represented by either needle-leaved (44%) or broad-leaved forests (53%), the rest being classified as mixed forest (3%) (source: Top10VGIS). Needle-leaved forests – mainly located in the Ardenne – are intensively managed with the use of exotic species (mainly spruce (*Picea abies*) but also Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), larches (*Larix* sp.), and pines (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. nigra*)). These are conducted in even-aged stands with systematically clear-cuttings, and high drainage

infrastructure when located on wet soils. Broad-leaved forests – which, in contrast with needle-leaved forests, spread across Wallonia – are largely dominated by oaks (*Quercus robur* and *Q. petraea*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*). Other species such as birch (*Betula pendula*), ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*), and hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus*) are also present (Alderweireld et al., 2015).

2.2 Variables of study and databases

Public monitoring networks data from the Walloon Public Service (WPS) were used to describe water related attributes and HES. The following sections detail the hydrological variables and dataset used in Chapter 3 and the water quality variables and datasets used in Chapter 4 and 5. Finally, the LULC dataset, common to every study, is presented.

2.2.1 Water quantity and timing: hydrological variables

In order to study the impact of forest cover on water quantity and timing (Chapter 3), we based our study on the water balance approach, which is itself based on the principle of continuity. As discharge at the catchment outlet is reflecting and integrating the processes partitioning water fluxes, we derived hydrological indicators (see Chapter 3) from daily discharge measurements. Indicators derived from instream flow (e.g. annual water flow) are indicators of the "capacity to store water" ecosystem function (see Figure 1-4) (Carvalho-Santos et al., 2014; Maes, 2011) that can be directly linked to the instream water supply service (Garmendia et al., 2012). We approached the flood protection service through other variables derived from the discharge data series: the specific discharge exceeded 5% of the time Q_{05S} and the flashiness index *FI*.

Discharge measurements used in this studied are monitored by the WPS in the "Aqualim" network (aqualim.environnement.wallonie.be). The Aqualim network is currently constituted of 170 gaging stations recording water depth every 10 minutes. Water depth is measured either with pressure or RADAR sensors. Data are automatically sent through gsm/gprs networks. Data are validated every two weeks through the cross-checking between the recorded water depth and the value read on a staff gauge by an operator. Furthermore, maintenance is organised by the WPS. Water depth-discharge relationships are established and regularly complemented. In Chapter 3, 22 catchments were chosen from this database according to different criteria. The first criterion was that the catchment had to be located in the Ardenne ecoregion mainly in order to control as much as possible the geological factor, as it plays an important role in water fluxes partitioning. Then, chosen catchments have no overlapping area and special characteristics (e.g. presence of a dam). Finally, these choices were done following discussions with the WPS responsible for these measures having intensively used these measurements in his research (Gailliez, 2013) in order for example to avoid gauging stations with known-measurements errors within the studied decade.

2.2.2 Water quality variables

In order to study the impact of forest cover on water quality (see Chapters 4 and 5), we characterized water quality through biological and physicochemical variables measured as part of the monitoring of water bodies quality performed by the WPS for the EU-WFD (SPW-DG03-DEE, 2016).

Physico-chemical water quality is described by the following variables: Dissolved Oxygen, Nitrates, Chloride, Sulfates, pH, Temperature, Total Phosphorus, Nitrites, Ammonium, Dissolved Organic Carbon and Suspended Materials. In Chapter 4, a methodology was developed to use as much station data as possible across 10 years, ending up in the study of 362 stations.

Biological water quality is characterized through the macroinvertebrates index and the diatoms index. The macroinvertebrates index is based on the French IGBN (i.e. "Standardized Global Biological Index") adapted to Wallonia (Vanden Bossche, 2005). The IBGN score, with a range from 0 (no indicator taxa) to 20, is obtained by crossing two sub-indices: the "faunal indicator group" reflecting pollution sensitivity and the taxonomic diversity class. The index based on benthic diatoms is the IPS ["Specific Polluosensitivity Index", see Coste in CEMAGREF (1982)]. In Chapter 5, in order to answer more specific questions than these addressed in Chapter 4 (e.g. regarding the effect of the location of forest in the catchment), stations from the EU-WFD monitoring network that monitor headwater waterbodies were selected.

2.2.3 Land use and land cover data

We used the Top10VGIS data set from 2010 from the Belgian National Geographic Institute (NGI, www.ngi.be) to characterize the LULC in this regional study and in particular forest cover and its main different types (i.e. needle-leaved and broadleaved forest). We qualify this dataset and the spatial units studied in our work as LULC, even though these concepts are not interchangeable (Comber et al., 2008). Indeed the dataset itself contains land use classes as 'cropland' and land cover classes as 'forest'.

The TOP10VGIS data set is a vector data set (scale of 1:10 000), which covers the whole of Belgium, is based on the NGI topogeographic data that classifies LULC into 37 classes. The production of this data set in based on photointerpretation of aerial photographs and the completion of information by field operators.

2.3 Statistical methods and software use

2.3.1 Multiple Linear Regression

Regression analysis is a statistical modeling method whose purpose is either to find the best functional model relating a response variable to one (simple regression) or several (multiple regression) explanatory variables, in order to test hypotheses about the model parameters, or to forecast or predict values of the response variable (Legendre and Legendre, 2012a).

In Chapter 3, we used Multiple Linear Regression (MLR) to assess the linear link between five indicators – taken one at a time – characterizing the HES of water supply and water damage mitigation in terms of quantity and timing, and forest cover and climate variables. We considered the necessity to transform variables prior to applying MLR in order to improve normality of distribution and linearity of the multiple relationships between dependent and independent variables.

2.3.2 **Principal Component analysis**

Principal components analysis (PCA) is a common multivariate method used to summarise, in a low-dimensional space built upon a small number of independent variables, the variance in a multivariate scatter of points (Legendre and Legendre, 2012b). It is an indirect gradient analysis providing an indication of linear relationships between objects and variables of the dataset. It also allows handling data sets with many variables through the collapsing of these many variables into a few independent principal components (PCs), which can be used in further analyses. Olsen et al. (2012) present application of this method to water quality data analysis and Legendre and Legendre (2012b) provide information for deeper understanding. We used this technique in Chapter 3 and 4 to create independent variables representing LULC, and in Chapter 5 to describe biological water quality dataset variability and correlation with supplementary variables. The number of axes that could be interpreted was assessed through the Kaiser-Guttman criterion and we checked if the broken stick model was consistent with that.

2.3.3 Redundancy analysis

Indirect gradient analyses such as PCA are generally applied to describe the structure of a dataset but when it comes to quantify and describe the relationships of two particular sets of variables, direct gradient analysis is more adapted. Among these analyses, redundancy analysis (RDA) is a method combining the properties of ordination and regression methods, used to extract and summarise the variation of a response dataset (containing several variables) that can be explained by a set of explanatory variables. More specifically, RDA allows summarizing linear relationships between components of response variables that are "redundant" with (i.e. "explained" by) a set of explanatory variables. In partial RDA, the linear effects of the explanatory variables on the response variables are adjusted for the effects of the covariables (see Figure 2-2 for fractioning of variation between variables, covariables and residual variation).



Figure 2-2. Explained and unexplained variation fractions without covariable (left, RDA) and with covariable (right, partial RDA), from (Legendre and Legendre, 2012a)

In classic RDA [see Figure 2-2 (left)], the total variation of the variable of interest (Y) is split into a fraction which is explained by X (i.e. [a]) and a fraction which is not explained by X (i.e. the residual variation, [d]). In partial RDA [see Figure 2-2 (right)], the variation of Y is split into a fraction which is explained by X alone (i.e. [a]), the variation explained by W (i.e. the variation explained by W alone[c] + the variation explained jointly by X and W [b]) and the residual variation [d]. When running both models, [b] and [c] can be derived.

Variation partitioning consists in apportioning the variation of a variable among two or more explanatory data sets. When used in relation to RDA, it is constructed as follows: multiple partial RDAs are run to determine the partial, linear effect of each explanatory matrix on the response data.

We used RDA, partial RDA and variation partitioning in Chapters IV and V to quantify the fractions of variability in water quality – and their significance – explained by forest cover and other environmental variables.

Significance of the RDA models, axes and variables were tested using permutation tests. Their principle is to generate a reference distribution of the chosen statistic under the null hypothesis H0 by randomly permuting appropriate elements of the data a large number of times (in our case 999) and recomputing the statistic each time (Borcard et al., 2011). Then, the true value of the statistic is compared to this reference distribution. The p value is computed as the proportion of the permuted values equal to or larger than the true (unpermuted) value of the statistic for the F test (in RDA). The null hypothesis is rejected if this p value is equal to or smaller than the predefined significance level (Borcard et al., 2011).

2.3.4 Software use

Most data processing was run in the open-source R statistical software (R Core Team, 2013). Several packages were used, we only cite the main ones and in particular, the packages that are not included in the R standard installation. Hydrological indicators (Chapter 3) were computed using integrated packages except for low flows indicators which were extracted from discharges series using the *lfstat* package from Koffler et al. (2015). PCA were computed using *FactoMineR* (Lê et al., 2008) and *vegan* packages (Oksanen et al., 2017). MLR were run in R statistic software with the integrated *stats* package. RDA and variation partitioning were run using the *vegan* package developed by Oksanen et al. (2017).

As a summary, Figure 2-3 presents the materials, methods and study scales for every part of the study.

Impact of forest cover (FC) on hydrological ecosystem services



Figure 2-3. Material and methods mobilised to fulfil the main objectives of the study (blue: thematic objectives; green: methodological objectives)

Chapter 3 Forest cover impact on instream water supply and flood protection in terms of quantity and timing

The following text is directly taken from the following published article:

Brogna, D., Vincke, C., Brostaux, Y., Soyeurt, H., Dufrêne, M., Dendoncker, N., 2017b. How does forest cover impact water flows and ecosystem services? Insights from "real-life" catchments in Wallonia (Belgium). Ecol. Indic. 72, 675–685.

Preamble and precisions

This research main objective is the **study of the impact of forest cover on instream water supply and the flood protection service**. In this study, the hydrological attributes of quantity and timing are studied in the Ardenne ecoregion (mainly in order to control as much as possible the geological factor). Water supply and flood protection services are approached through five indicators extracted from 10 hydrological years (2005–2014) discharge data series, as discharge presents the interest of reflecting and integrating the processes partitioning water fluxes and the forest cover effect (see 1.3). These were computed annually and seasonally. The water supply was assessed through the specific volume *Vs*, the baseflow index *BFI* and the specific discharge exceeded 95% of the time *Q*₉₅₅. The flood protection service was approached through the specific discharge exceeded 5% of the time *Q*₀₅₅ and the flashiness index *FI*. Multiple linear regression (MLR) models were created to assess the forest cover and forest cover type on the studied HES.

Transversal methodological objectives are in here reached, through the development of a replicable approach (i) based on easily accessible data, monitored in many countries, (ii) using robust but simple and straightforward statistical methods and (iii) with main processes run in open source statistical software. The enlargement of scope of the derived results aiming to come up with land planning recommendations is reached through

the study of ES at "real-life" catchments scale ranging from 30 to 250 km² with mixed land covers with a focus on forest cover.

Precisions:

The terms "growing period" and "non-growing period" would better fit in the text than the terms "vegetation period" and "non-vegetation period" respectively. However, as the article has been published using these latter terms, we prefer to leave the article as is.

In Figure 3-6, every dot represent a value of monthly rainfall for a specific catchment.

Abstract

While planetary boundaries are being crossed and ecosystems degraded, the Ecosystem Services (ES) concept represents a potential decision-making tool for improved natural resources management. The main aim of this paper is to assess the impact of forest cover on water related ES in Wallonia (Belgium) in terms of quantity and timing. We developed an approach based on easily accessible data, monitored in several countries and using straightforward statistical methods. This led us to study ES at "real-life" catchments scale: 22 catchments – from 30 to 250 km² – with mixed land covers were studied. We approached the water supply and flood protection services through 5 indicators extracted from 10 hydrological years (2005-2014) discharge data series. These were computed annually and seasonally (vegetation period from March to September and "non-vegetation" period the rest of the year). The water supply was assessed through the specific volume Vs, the baseflow index BFI and the specific discharge exceeded 95% of the time Q₉₅s. The flood protection service was approached through the specific discharge exceeded 5% of the time Q_{05S} and the flashiness index FI. Our study gives two main insights. First, statistical analyses show that forest cover negatively impact water supply when studying annual and "non-vegetation" flows in general (Vs) but positively when studying low flows (Q_{95S}). Regarding flood protection the study did not show any significant effect of forest on annual high flows (Q_{05}) but a negative impact in the "non-vegetation" period. Forest cover showed a negative impact annually and in the vegetation period on the

flashy behaviour of the catchment thus a positive effect on the flood protection ES. The "year" effect is overall highly significant, testifying the importance of climatic factors. Rainfall is often significant and can be considered as a main driver of these ES. Secondly, the quality of the models produced and the results overall we assume – in line with the literature – that other variables characterizing the catchments such as topography or soil types do play a significant role in these ES delivery. This questions the use of land cover proxies in assessing and mapping of hydrological ES at a complex landscape scale. We thus recommend further research to keep improving land cover proxies when they are used.

3.1 Introduction

Ecosystem Services (ES) can be defined as the benefit people obtain from nature (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003). In the present context of the overtaking of planet boundaries (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015) and the degradation of ecosystems and their services (Costanza et al., 2014; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005b) the ES concept can raise awareness about the importance of preserving ecosystems and biodiversity (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005b). Haines-Young and Potschin (2010a) suggest a representation of this concept at the interface of ecosystems and human well-being in the form of a 'cascade' model. This framework is based on the idea that a sort of 'production chain' starts from the ecosystems biophysical structures and processes which lead to functions that create services providing benefits and socio-economic values to human beings. Human society retroacts on ecosystems through pressures but also restoration actions. Following this view, the ES concept has the potential to be a decision-making tool for improved natural resources management (de Groot et al., 2010). To achieve this potential there is a need for quantifying accurately every component of the ES 'cascade' through suitable indicators (Braat and de Groot, 2012; Müller and Burkhard, 2012; Seppelt et al., 2011). In order to do so, one of the main challenges is to deal with the high complexity of the ecosystems functioning and the complex dynamics characterizing the links between processes - functions and services at different temporal and spatial scales (Bastian et al., 2012; Carvalho-Santos et al., 2014; de Groot et al., 2010; Swetnam et al., 2011; Turner and Daily, 2008; Villa et al., 2014). Assessing ES to support land planning decision-making remains thus a challenge due to multiple sources of uncertainty such as data scarcity, functional knowledge gaps, demand variability, etc. (Jacobs et al., 2013). In practice however, and even if research is done to improve them, land cover based proxies are used in local or national ES assessments (Albert et al., 2015; Koschke et al., 2012; UK NEA, 2014). Arguably, policies such as the EU biodiversity strategy 2020 targets (European Commission, 2011) requiring member states to assess and map ecosystems and their services provide an incentive for using such techniques. Indeed, these methods, and in particular one commonly used known as the 'matrix model' (Burkhard et al., 2010), allow for straightforward ES mapping. However, one may question the validity of these maps as uncertainties are high and variable, in particular in

terms of the expected direct and univocal links between land cover and ES provided.

Among ES being mapped, those related to water are of prime importance. Water is indeed the most essential component for the life of all beings, it is at the core of sustainable development and is of major importance to healthy ecosystems, socio-economic development and to the survival of human beings (Haddadin, 2001; UN-Water, 2014). Land cover and in particular forests have an impact on hydrological services through their impact on water cycle flows [see figure 3-1 for an adaptation of the ES 'cascade' model to hydrological services provision by forests by Carvallos-Santos et al. (2014)]. As shown on figure 3-1, these services are delivered according to three dimensions: quantity (i.e. total water yield), timing (i.e. seasonal distribution of flows) and quality (i.e. removal and breakdown of pollutants and trapping of sediments) (Brauman et al., 2007). Forests are seen as the main ecosystems interacting with water, due to their height, dense and irregular crown canopy resulting in a high leaf area index and lower albedo. architecture of their spread root system widely prospecting soil horizons, wide horizontal distribution and vertical coverage (Calder, 2002; Salemi et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2001). By explicitly listing operating processes and functions, figure 3-1 highlights the complexity of water-related ES assessments as different functions may impact the same hydrological service in opposite ways.


Figure 3-1. Conceptual framework for hydrological services provision by forests, from Carvalho-Santos et al. (2014).

Despite the fact that many studies were conducted to measure the impact of forest cover on water cycle components (Brown et al., 2005; Farley et al., 2005; Robinson et al., 2003), relationships between water flows (quantity and timing) and forests have been controversial since Pliny the Elder (Andréassian, 2004b). Nevertheless, the associated assumed effects on processes are a high evapotranspiration, the promotion of infiltration compared to surface runoff or rapid drainage (at least on low slopes). increase of soil moisture content, recharge of groundwater and the gradual release of water (Aussenac, 1996; Bruijnzeel, 2004; Calder, 2002; Office National des Forêts, 1999). Many of these studies are paired-catchment studies [see Bosch and Hewlett (1982) for a review] where catchment size is for the vast majority less than 2 km² limited by the fact that these experiments require controlling most of the factors impacting water flows while having pure and distinct land covers between catchments. These studies report an increase of annual water yield when forest cover is replaced by lower vegetation cover. At a global scale, which is out of the scope of this study, authors argue that forest cover raises the precipitation events likelihood and increases water yield by contributing to the availability of atmospheric moisture vapor and the transport across continents (see Ellison et al. (2012) for a "forest-water yield" debate review). In this context of inextricable link between forest and water, many authors acknowledge the fact that more research is needed to study the impact of forest cover on water fluxes at different latitudes, in different contexts (e.g. different soil types) and at different spatial and temporal scales (Brown et al., 2013; Cosandey et al., 2005; Garmendia et al., 2012; Price, 2011). Regarding hydrological services assessment and the impact of land cover on these ES, the 'catchment' appears to be a relevant spatial unit of study because of its integrative character (Granier, 2007) and its reality as component of the landscape. Numerous studies focus on measuring precisely the water cycle fluxes at the stand scale but can hardly be extrapolated (Oishi et al., 2008; Schume et al., 2003; Schwärzel et al., 2009; Unsworth et al., 2004; Vincke et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2001). Carvalho-Santos et al. (2015) assess and map hydrological services at the catchment scale through physically based modelling, highlighting the fact that daily rainfall - runoff models were stated to be really robust methods by Crossman et al. (2013) but are not often used in the ES sphere. Indeed these require vast amount of data, are complex and time consuming to calibrate and are often applied on one single catchment. Finally global changes push scientists to claim for renewing studies linking hydrological processes and

land cover. Global changes which affect water quality and quantity (climate change, land use change and invasive species) question the assumption that studies from the last decades can be used to face future conditions (Bates et al., 2008; Huntington, 2010; Vose et al., 2011).

Regarding this context, the main aim of this paper is to assess the impact of forest cover on water related ES (i.e. water supply and water damage mitigation) in Wallonia (Belgium) in terms of quantity (i.e. water yield) and timing (i.e. seasonal distribution of flows). In order to do so and to ensure replicability, we developed an approach (i) based on easily accessible data, monitored in many countries, (ii) using robust but simple and straightforward statistical methods and (iii) with main processes run in open source statistical software. This will lead us to study ES at "real-life" catchments scale ranging from 30 to 250 km² with mixed land covers with a focus on forest cover. In doing so, we also aim to provide information to the debate of using land cover proxies versus more advanced methodologies to derive indicators used to map water related services at a complex landscape scale but meaningful in land planning processes.

This document is structured as follow: first we present the study area in Section 3.2; then we describe our approach globally and then detailing the hydrological (i.e. extraction of hydrological indicators) and physical description of the studied catchments, the rainfall over the period of study computation, and the study of the impact of forest cover on hydrological services in itself. Third, we present the results and finally discuss them in section 3.5, highlighting key findings but also discussing strengths and limitations of our study and presenting research perspectives.

3.2 Study Area

The study area corresponds to the "Ardenne" region (4°7'42" to 6°24'40" E, 42°27'00" to 50°41'00"N in WGS84 geographic coordinate system; Figure 3-2). The Ardenne is an ecologically, geologically and lithologically relatively homogeneous region located to the South-East of Wallonia (South of Belgium). It covers 5711 km² corresponding to 33% of the Walloon region and 19% of Belgium. This high plateau dissected by several rivers constitutes the western protruding end of the "Rhine great schistose massif" (see Noirfalise (1988) for a more detailed description). This region was chosen for several reasons. The main one is that focusing on this study area allows to

best control the geological factor, which plays an important role in the spatial distribution of the water (Grandry et al., 2013). The Ardenne is entirely located on the same aquifer: "the Primary schistose and sandstone massif". This region also presents relatively homogeneous climatic and pedological characteristics (De Slover and Dufrêne, 1998). Finally it contains nearly two thirds of the Walloon forests, focus land cover of this study. The forests of Ardenne are composed at 15% of needle-leaved forests, 9% of broad-leaved forests and 6% of mixed forests. The broad-leaved forests are generally natural to semi-natural. The species composition is mostly dominated by oaks [Quercus robur L. and Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.] and beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) stands, but other species such as birch (Betula pubescens Ehrh. and Betula pendula Roth.), ash (Fraxinus excelsior L.), maple (Acer pseudoplatanus L.), and hornbeam (Carpinus betulus L.) are also common. Needle-leaved forests can be considered as an artificial forest type regarding the species composition - needle-leaved tree species forests are not native in Belgian forests - but also the common occurrence of drainage infrastructure. Most of the time (> 80%), needle-leaved forests are composed of even-aged stands of Spruce (Picea abies (L.) H. Karst). Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii Mirb. Franco), larches (Larix sp.), and pines (Pinus sylvestris L. and Pinus nigra R. Legay) are also regularly present (Alderweireld et al., 2015).



Figure 3-2. Studied catchments location in the Ardenne (Wallonia, Belgium)

We selected 22 independent catchments (i.e. with no overlapping areas; see figure 3-2) from the Walloon Public Service (WPS) "Aqualim" hydrological monitoring network across this region (aqualim.environnement.wallonie.be). This catchment scale approach was preferred to studies at finer scales to try to encompass the complexity of the processes occurring in the water cycle. This unit of study is particularly interesting because of its integrative character (Granier, 2007) and therefore makes sense in an assessment of the impact of forest cover on ecosystem services at the landscape scale.

3.3 Material and Methods

The developed methodology to assess forest cover impact on hydrological ES comprises 5 main steps (see figure 3-3): 1) extraction from the discharge data series of synthetic indicators (referred to as "Yi" variables in the multiple regressions – see step 5) characterizing the hydrological behaviour of the studied catchments in relation with water supply and water damage mitigation ES (in this study, flood protection service); 2) definition of physical characteristics of the catchment from land cover, topographic and soil datasets. These are either the focus dependent variable, i.e. land cover or catchment description variables; 3) application of Principal Component Analysis (PCA) on land cover classes and extraction of sites scores for the first 2 principal components (PC1 and PC2); 4) computation of daily rainfall for each catchment for the whole period as a control factor; and 5) multiple linear regressions of each "Yi" towards the year factor, rainfall and the obtained PCs.



Figure 3-3. Methodology framework to study the impact of land cover and particularly forest cover on water supply and water damage mitigation (in this study, flood protection). Extraction of hydrological indicators (Yi, with Vs: Specific Volume, BFI: baseflow index, Q₉₅s and Q₀₅s: specific discharge exceeded 95 and 5% of time, FI: flashiness Index) which are regressed against rainfall, year effect and the first two P(Yi, with Vs: Specific Volume, BFI: baseflow index, Q₉₅s and Q₀₅s: specific discharge exceeded 95 and 5% of time, FI: flashiness Index) rincipal Components (PC1, PC2) of land cover Principal Component Analysis (PCA).

3.3.1 Hydrological and physical catchments description

3.3.1.1 Hydrological behaviour of the catchments in relation to ecosystem services supply

The water balance approach is often used when studying the role of a forest cover type on the water cycle [see Office National des Forêts (1999) for an application in the forest context].

This method is based on the principle of continuity and the water balance of a catchment can be written as such:

dS/dT = P - Q - AET [Equation 3.1]

with S : catchment storage (m^3), P : Precipitation (m^3/s), Q : discharge the catchment outlet (m^3/s), AET : Actual Evapotranspiration (m^3/s).

Discharge at the catchment outlet is thus reflecting and integrating the processes partitioning water fluxes. Furthermore, it is a variable that is widely and with a high frequency monitored. We extracted indicators of hydrological behaviour of the studied catchments based on daily discharge data for 10 hydrological years (October 2004 to September 2014) provided by the WPS (aqualim.environnement.wallonie.be). We chose the hydrological year as the annual base period, temporally defined by the period between October and September of the following civil year (e.g. in this paper the hydrological year 2005 starts on the 1st of October 2004 and ends on the 30st of September 2005).

Table 3-1 lists the indicators computed to characterize the hydrological behaviour of the catchments and the associated ES. These indicators were selected to cover different aspects of the hydrological regime (i.e. global regime, low and high flows) and to be linked to water supply and flood protection ES. We processed data of ten hydrological years (i.e. from 2005 to 2014) for two reasons: (i) these are simultaneous to the collection of data for the creation of the land cover map and (ii) covering several years allows us to cover different rainfall amounts. We computed these indicators annually and seasonally. We divided the year into two seasons to reflect the phenological variability of the vegetation: firstly, the "vegetation season" from April to September and secondly the "non-vegetation" period from October to March.

Hydrological indicator	abbreviation	Ecosystem service	
Hydrological regime			
Specific volume	Vs	water supply	
Flashiness Index	FI	<> flood protection	
Low flows			
Base Flow Index	BFI	water supply	
	0 -	water supply (low	
Specific 95th discharge quantile	Q95 S	water context)	
High flows			
Specific 5th discharge quantile	Q05 S	<> flood protection	

Table 3-1. Indicators of the hydrological behaviour of catchments and related ecosystem services

Daily discharges data were aggregated to annual and seasonal specific volumes (Vs, see table 3-1 and Eq. (1)). Specific volume is an indicator of the water supply ES (Carvalho-Santos et al., 2015; Garmendia et al., 2012). The specific volume for a period is defined as the total streamflow for that period divided by the catchment area:

$$Vs = \frac{\sum_{d=1}^{N} Q_d * 86 \, 400}{s} \, (m^3/m^2)$$
 [Equation 3.2]

where Q_d represents the daily discharge (m³/s), *N* the number of days for that period and *S* the catchment area (m²).

To characterize low flows and the water supply service from another point of view, the baseflow index (BFI) was computed seasonally and annually. The BFI is the proportion of baseflow to total streamflow over a continuous period of record (Bloomfield et al., 2009). BFI represents the way the soil infiltrates water and returns it to the stream. Computing this index requires the separation of baseflow from stormflow. In this study the BFI was computed using the *lfstat* package (see Gustard and Demuth (2008) for complete description of the methods) of the R statistical software (Koffler et al., 2015).Using the same package we also computed the annual and seasonal specific 95th quantiles (Q₉₅s, defined as the discharge exceeded 5% of the time divided by the catchment area) as indicator of low flows (Braud et al., 2013)

that can be related to water supply for human consumption but also for riparian and aquatic habitat provision.

We computed the specific 5th quantile (Q_{05} s defined as the discharge exceeded 5% of the time divided by the catchment area) annually and seasonally as an indicator of high flows (Braud et al., 2013; Carvalho-Santos et al., 2015). The flashiness of the hydrological regime was assessed through the computation of the flashiness index (FI) as the ratio Q_{05}/Q_{95} (Jordan et al., 2005). FI and Q_{05} s are indicators that can be inversely linked to the flood protection service.

3.3.1.2 Physical characteristics of the catchments

We used the TOP10VGIS land cover data set provided by the Belgian National Geographic Institute (NGI, www.ngi.be) to characterize the studied catchments' land cover. This vector data set covering the whole of Belgium contains the NGI topogeographic data describing the land cover in 37 classes. For the purpose of the present study the original land cover classes were either selected as such or aggregated ending up finally with seven classes of interest: needle-leaved forests, broad-leaved forests, mixed forests, crops, grassland, water surfaces, shrubs - heathlands and moorlands. We computed percentages of these classes in the studied catchments. Because of the lack of data describing land cover on a yearly basis and based on the same methodology, we assumed that the evolution of the retained classes was minor throughout the studied decade. This was checked through Corine Land Cover 1990. 2000 and 2006 datasets comparisons (http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/COR0-landcover). Analysis show that change in level 1 classes was always under 3%.

We computed average elevation and median slope over the catchments as physical descriptors from the ERRUISSOL digital terrain model provided by the WPS (http://geoportail.wallonie.be). Regarding the soil infiltration capacity we used an 'infiltration map' covering Wallonia provided by the WPS. This map is based on the Walloon numerical soil map. It takes into account soil texture, drainage characteristics, substratum and, when appropriate, percentage of stoniness and aims at reflecting soil infiltration capacity (Demarcin et al., 2011). Soils are classified into 5 classes representing categories of the soil infiltration capacity in millimetre per hour (mm/h): class 1: Unclassified, superior limits of the other classes are 10.2 mm/h for class 2, 7.6 mm/h for class 3, 3.8 mm/h for class 4 and 1.3 mm/h for class 5. We computed the percentage of the catchment of each 'infiltration map class' as soil descriptor (IC2 to IC5) in order to feed – along with average elevation and median slope of the catchment – the analysis and discussion of our study.

We run principal components analysis (PCA) on the catchments' land cover classes (except one to ensure non collinearity of the variables). This PCA was run on non-standardized variables as they are homogeneous in terms of units (i.e. %) and as we aimed at highlighting main trends and keep the effect of main land cover classes. Based on the Kaiser-Guttman criterion [see Guttman (1954); Legendre and Legendre (1998)] we selected the first two principal components (PC) to use them as uncorrelated explanatory variables in the multiple linear regressions. We added descriptive variables on the PCA plot to describe the catchments.

3.3.2 Rainfall description

Daily rainfall data for the period of interest were provided by the Royal Meteorological Institute of Belgium (RMIB). Journée et al. (2015) provide information on the rain gauge network and methods of interpolation used to create rainfall maps. The data used in this study were provided on a 5 by 5 km grid. The grid was created by kriging interpolation – ordinary or external drift kriging depending on correlation with topography (Wackernagel, 1996). The relatively low spatial resolution of this grid does not seems to be inappropriate given the high spatial auto-correlation of rainfall data (i.e. values from one pixel will be close to values of adjacent pixels, and intra-pixel variability is expected to be rather small given the relatively homogeneous properties of pixels in terms of altitude for example) and given the relatively large study extent (i.e. 22 catchments spread over more than 5000km²). We computed daily rainfall over the studied period based on the catchments boundaries and the rainfall grid data. This was done through averaging daily rainfall amount of grid centroids contained in the catchment and a buffer zone of 1250m around the catchment. Monthly, seasonal, and annual rainfall were computed based on these daily rainfall amounts over the catchment. We used these values to describe the overall rainfall regime of the 10 hydrological years of study and to control for the rainfall factor in the multiple regressions.

3.3.3 Effect of land cover on hydrological indicators

To ensure replicability and cover a wide range of "real-life" catchments we chose to apply multiple linear regression – a common and simple statistical method – in order to study the impact of land cover on hydrological services. After examination of the variables' distributions, we applied log-transformation on some explanatory and dependent variables to improve normality of distribution and linearity of the multiple relationships between Yi and Xi. Automatic procedures were set up to perform multiple linear regressions aiming at trends detection over 10 years.

The regression model tested is:

 $Y_i = f(Year + Rainfall + PC1 + PC2)$ [Equation 3.3]

with Y_i : hydrological indicator, Year : categorical factor, Rainfall : rainfall amount (mm) during the period over the catchments, PC1 and PC2 : coordinates of the catchments on the first and second PCs respectively of the land cover PCA.

We chose to first include the "year" effect and the rainfall variable in order to correct for the inter-annual climate variability and in particular the amount of rain which is one of the main drivers of the system. This was preferred to a simple division of the hydrological indicator (such as Volume) by rainfall amount to avoid misassumption about the relationship between the indicators and rainfall.

3.4 **Results**

3.4.1 Catchments description

The 22 catchments' areas and elevation range from 31 to 247km² and 290 and 558m respectively. The main land cover types are forests and grasslands (see boxplot in Figure 3-4). Within the forest class which covers between 26 and 71 % of the studied catchments, needle-leaved forests are more represented than broad-leaved and mixed forests. Figure 3-4 illustrates the heterogeneity of land cover within catchments: few catchments have more than 50% of the same land cover. Needle-leaved forests cover between 8 and

53% of the catchments while broad-leaved forests are less represented with a minimum and maximum cover of 3 and 33% respectively. Grassland cover ranges from 19 to 64%. Artificial surfaces, shrubs - heathlands and moorlands, and mixed forest are hardly represented with low variability.



Figure 3-4. Boxplot of land cover types percentages in the 22 studied catchments with F: Forest, MH: shrubs - heathlands and moorlands and S: Surfaces

The first two PCs of the unscaled PCA conducted over the land cover percentages explain 64% and 29% of the dataset variability respectively (see PCA biplot and individuals factor map in Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5. Principal component analysis on the land covers percentages over the 22 catchments. Left: Biplot, with AS: artificial surfaces, MF: mixed forest, MH: shrubs - heathlands and moorlands, Cr: crops. Infiltration classes percentages over the catchments (from good (IC2) to bad infiltration rate (IC5)), elevation (El) and median slope (Slo50) variables were drawn on the land cover PCA space. Right : Individuals (catchments) factor map.

3.4.2 Rainfall over the studied period

We computed daily seasonal and annual rainfall. In line with the rest of the study, we worked with hydrological years. The first 3 PCs of the PCA run on monthly rainfall (10 year) over the 22 catchments explain 29, 16 and 14 percent of the variability of the dataset respectively. Biplots based on these three PCs illustrate that the inter-annual variability of rainfall is higher than the variability between catchments for the same year (Figure 3-6). This enforces the choice to treat each year separately and not aggregate indicators over several years.





Figure 3-6. Monthly rainfall PCA biplot (A: PC2 vs PC1, B: PC3 vs PC1) with year labelling, cross show the end of variables arrows (R1 = January rainfall \rightarrow R12: December rainfall)

On this basis we describe annual rainfall characteristics over the studied period. Boxplots in figure 3-7 and figure 3-8 shows the distribution of annual and seasonal rainfall across catchments respectively. Regarding the "normal values" of annual rainfall (1981 – 2010) ranging for the Ardenne region from 900 to around 1400 mm, we can consider the studied years as representative of the region. 2011 was the driest year overall with a really dry vegetation period whereas 2007 and 2008 were the rainiest years annually and seasonally.



Figure 3-7. Boxplot of annual rainfall (mm) over the 22 catchments of study.



Figure 3-8. Boxplots of seasonal rainfall (mm) over the 22 catchments of study (left: vegetation period; right: "non-vegetation" period)

3.4.3 Effect of land cover on hydrological indicators

Results of the multiple linear regressions on annual and seasonal hydrological indicators during the studied period (2005 – 2014) are presented in Table 3-2. Every indicator except the BFI was log-transformed as the Rainfall variable to improve normality of distributions and linearity of the multiple relationships between Yi and Xi. For every indicator, models are presented for different temporal period (in columns): (i) annually, (ii)

seasonally: April to September and October to March. Figures in the table indicate the ratio of the beta coefficient (i.e. the figure multiplying the explanatory variable in the regression model) to the standard deviation of that variable; the degree of significance of the variable is shown on the right. As expected, the year effect is highly significant for every indicator irrespective of the defined temporal period. This finding confirms the interest to include this variable in the used models as well as the interest to cover several sampling years in this study. Table 3-2. Results of multiple linear regressions on annual and seasonal hydrological indicators during the studied period (2005 – 2014). R squared of the model (R^2), the figures in the table indicates for each indicator type and for each period, the ratio of the beta coefficient multiplying the variable (see names in first column) in the regression model to the standard deviation of the variable in the dataset (the stars on the right to the figures represent the significance degree of the variable in the model with p values [0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' 1]), with 'NL' = needle-leaved.

ES	Hydrological indicators (regression components)	Annual		Veg seasor (April - Se	n pt.)	Non veg season (Oct Ma	arch)
	Vs						
	R^2	0.68		0.83		0.72	
	Year		***		***		***
water supply	Rainfall	24.9230	***	35.3386	***	14.3954	***
	PC 1 (+ Forest)	-0.0028	**	0.0019		-0.0041	***
	PC2 (+ NL Forest)	0.0019		0.0032		0.0025	*
	BFI						
	R^2	0.22		0.36		0.27	
	Year		***		***		***
	Rainfall	-4.8680		-16.2403	***	-2.0943	
	PC 1 (+ Forest)	-0.0009		0.0015		-0.0018	
	PC2 (+ NL Forest)	0.0028		0.0018		0.0033	•
	Q95 S						
	R^2	0.46		0.49		0.67	
	Year		***		***		***
	Rainfall	25.9805	***	23.6996	***	6.8500	*
	PC 1 (+ Forest)	0.0063	*	0.0070	*	0.0014	
	PC2 (+ NL Forest)	0.0139	***	0.0106	**	0.0140	***

ES	Hydrological indicators (regression components)	Annual		Veg seaso (April - Se	n ept.)	Non veg season (Oct M	arch)
	Q05s						
<> flood protection	R^2	0.59		0.82		0.67	
	Year		***		***		***
	Rainfall	24.0842	***	40.4988	***	13.5733	***
	PC 1 (+ Forest)	-0.0013		0.0009		-0.0024	
	PC2 (+ NL Forest)	-0.0014		-0.0001		0.0001	
	FI						
	R^2	0.36		0.46		0.68	
	Year		***		***		***
	Rainfall	-1.8963		16.7992	*	6.7233	**
	PC 1 (+ Forest)	-0.0076	*	-0.0061		-0.0038	
	PC2 (+ NL Forest)	-0.0153	***	-0.0107	**	-0.0139	***

3.4.3.1 Specific volume

 R^2 coefficients range from 0.68 for the annual indicator to max 0.83 for the vegetation period and 0.72 for the non-vegetation period. The rainfall variable is highly significant and has a positive influence on the specific volume. The "forest versus grasslands PC" (PC1) has a significant negative effect on the variable for the annual and non-vegetation periods. The second PC (PC2) has a significant positive effect for all periods.

3.4.3.2 Baseflow index

 R^2 range from 0.22 for the annual indicator to 0.36 for the vegetation period. Rainfall has a significant effect on the BFI except for the "non-vegetation" period. The models do not reveal a statistical effect of the "forest versus grassland" PC (PC1). PC2 influences slightly positively BFI during the non-vegetation period.

3.4.3.3 Specific Q₉₅

 R^2 range from 0.46 for the annual indicator to 0.67 for the non-vegetation period. Rainfall is significant in every model with a positive influence on the studied indicator. The forest PC (PC1) has a significant positive effect on the specific 95 discharge annually and during the vegetation period. PC2 also has a significant positive effect for every model.

3.4.3.4 Specific Q₀₅

The 95th percentile of the specific discharge (i.e. $Q_{05}s$) was modelled with R² ranging from 0.59 for the annual indicator to 0.82 for the vegetation period. Rainfall is highly significant in every model with a positive influence on the indicator. The forest PC (PC1) has a slightly significant negative effect during the non-vegetation period overall.

3.4.3.5 Flashiness Index

 R^2 coefficients range from 0.36 for the annual indicator to 0.68 for the vegetation period. The rainfall variable is significant with a positive influence on the flashiness for the seasonal periods and none for the annual index. The 'forest versus grasslands PC' (PC1) has a significant negative effect on the variable for all the periods.

For each indicator we observe an improvement of the model quality when subdividing the year into seasons, reflecting the intra annual variability of the rainfall and land cover effects.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Influence of forest cover on hydrological services

3.5.1.1 Preamble: forest cover in our "real-life" catchments

Forest cover is mainly represented in our study through the first component (PC1, Figure 3-5) of the PCA conducted over land cover classes of our studied catchments. To some extent, the type of forest can be related to PC2 which is related to the naturalness of the forest. This technique allowed us to decorrelate variables that were highly correlated (percentages of LC classes) and thus satisfy the variables independence assumption of multiple linear regression method. PC1 explains 64% of the variability of the dataset and clearly opposes catchments with high percentage of grassland cover to catchments with high percentage of forest cover. When we state "forest cover" is in this study, we are thus referencing "real-life" catchments with mixed land covers but high forest cover percentage. Another important aspect is that land cover is also often linked to other factors like soil type and topography (Figure 3-5); still, as discussed below, regression models give us insight into the impact of forest in the Belgian Ardenne in a regional context.

3.5.1.2 Water supply

We approached the water supply service though three hydrological regime indicators: the specific volume, the baseflow index and the specific discharge exceeded 95% of time. A significant part of the specific volume can be described by our model taking into account rainfall, year effect and land cover PCs (R² of around 0.70). According to our findings, the effect of forest on annual specific volume is negative in our study area. This negative effect is in line with numerous studies that observed through paired-catchments designs an increase in annual water yield when vegetation such as grasslands are implemented in place of forests or a decrease in annual water yield when afforestation is operated (Bosch and Hewlett, 1982; Brown et al., 2005). We believe this impact is also partially explained by the location of the catchments. In our dataset the catchments with low proportion of forest are located on higher zones being classified by Van der Perre et al. (2015) into the "Cold Ardenne" bioclimatic class. On the other extreme of the PC1 (Figure

3-5), catchments are located in the other bioclimatic class of the Ardenne being defined as the "Hot Ardenne" (Van der Perre et al., 2015). We assume that temperature is also part of and reinforces this effect of forest reducing specific volume through rising evapotranspiration rates. When looking at the seasonal models this negative effect of forest cover is observed in the "nonvegetation" period (October to March) but is not significant during the vegetation period. There is a significant positive influence of PC2 on specific volume. As a reminder the second PC opposes catchments with high needleleaved forests proportion located on higher elevations and on soils with lower infiltration capacity and steeper slopes to broad-leaved forests (lowest values of PC2) - in association with high percentage of needle-leaved forests - and crops on soils with better infiltration capacity to a lesser extent. In this context we assume that local conditions (soil types, soil conditions and topography) have a major impact on specific volume (soils with low infiltration capacity and on steeper slopes being correlated with higher specific volume) reinforced by the management option that drain needle leaved forest when they are planted on less draining soils. Overall, Rainfall has a strong highly significant positive impact on specific volume and remains the main input of the streamflow.

Despite the negative effect of forest cover on streamflow magnitude, this study shows a significant positive effect on the specific discharge exceeded 95% of the time, annually and during the vegetation season. This is a sign of a positive impact of forest on the water supply in low flows conditions which is of extreme importance regarding riparian and aquatic habitat provision. This can also be directly linked to the water quality as water dilutes nutriments and pollutants but also regarding stream temperature. However, this is out of the scope of this study. Low variability was described by the models used to study BFI (\mathbb{R}^2 of 0.22 for the annual model and around 0.30 for the seasonal models). This testifies the importance of other effects than land cover in explaining baseflow such as highlighted by Price (2011). Rainfall has a highly significant strong negative impact on the BFI which is expected since the BFI is the proportion of baseflow to total streamflow over a continuous period of record. In these models no significant effect of forest (PC1) nor PC2 is shown whether annually or during the vegetation period. Literature review does not provide us with strong assumptions of what we would expect in an "ideal" experimentation comparing numerous catchments while controlling other factors than land cover. Indeed some studies show a

positive effect of forest on this indicator in accordance with the better infiltration of forested soils (Bruijnzeel, 2004; Price et al., 2011), while others show the reverse effect linked to higher evapotranspiration rates (Hicks et al., 1991). Furthermore the differential impacts of forests compared to grasslands are less clear than with other land uses such as conventional crops regarding vegetation (Granier, 2007) and obviously artificial surfaces. The "year" effect also has a highly significant impact on the 3 studied indicators of water supply. We assume that this effect is a combination of several factors such as climate variables and particularly temperature conditions.

3.5.1.3 Water damage protection

We adopted the specific discharge exceeded 5% of time and the flashiness index as hydrological variables reversely linked to the flood protection service. Regarding the specific Q_{05} , interestingly and unlike for the Q_{95} , we do not observe any positive significant effect of forest on this indicator. There is even a slightly significant negative effect of forest during the non-vegetation period. The flashiness index (FI) which compares the 5th and the 95th percentiles of discharges through a ratio is negatively impacted by forest cover which is a sign of relative stability of hydrological regime of the forested catchments. This can be linked to a positive impact of forest on flood protection service.

3.5.2 Strengths / Limitations of the methods and Perspectives

The main strengths of the proposed method can be described as follows: (i) to characterise ecosystem services at the catchment scale we chose indicators easily extractable from broadly available data sets (discharge data series) with high frequency monitoring (in our case 10 min steps discharge data); (ii) we applied a simple and commonly used methodology entirely implemented in a statistical open source software (R) making this analysis easily replicable in other regions and/or through time; (iii) this method allowed us to show effect of land cover on hydrological services but also provided us with broader understanding of factors influencing ecosystem functions further influencing ES. Some limitations of the study can also be pointed out: (i) compared to classical experimental pair-wised approaches, working with

"real-life" catchments actually monitored by the public administration complicates the learnings that can be drawn from the study. Indeed, other factors correlated with forest cover impact hydrological services (e.g. slope, soil infiltration capacity, tree species water use, phenology...). Nevertheless, this approach allowed us to provide information about ES at the landscape level. (ii) the selected indicators of hydrological flows are statistics characterizing the hydrogram overall, further research could concentrate on specific rainfall events and further detail the behaviour of the catchment to provide insight at the event scale of the effect of forest cover on the flood protection service for instance.

3.5.3 Land cover proxies for ES assessment?

Regarding the debate of land cover proxies use in assessing ES, this study highlights that for the hydrological ES considered here, other factors than land cover impact water flows at the catchment scale. For example, the analysis of the effect of the type of forests (PC2) on water supply (specific volume) suggests an effect of terrain topography but also soil types and - we assume - related forest management options (artificial drainage). Regarding BFI and knowing that the absence of non-linear relationship was checked, low R^2 of the model showed that there were obviously other important factors acting on this aspect of water supply. The relative proportion of forest within the catchment could also be part of the explanation: even if forests are the dominant land cover, their effects on hydrological indicators may be dampened by the effects of other land covers. Another factor is the type of forest, in particular the differences between needle-leaved and broad-leaved species, which induces different seasonal effects on catchment water balance. In spite of this, effects of forests on water supply could be shown: overall negative effect on specific volume but positive effect in low flow periods $(Q_{95s}).$

Regarding flood protection the study did not show any effect of forest on high flows (Q_{05s}) whereas forest cover showed a negative impact on the flashy behavior of the catchment. In this context we recommend further research integrating at best local condition factors (soil characteristics, slopes, etc.) where each land cover is actually located (and not in the catchment overall) in order to come up with integrative proxies indicators of ecosystem services. In the case of hydrological services the effect of 'year' (i.e. climatic characteristics) and rainfall were highly significant in most of the cases showing the importance of climatic condition on ES. In the current context of climate change, inducing more frequent spring and/or summer droughts, this draws attention to the adverse impacts it may generate towards water related ES.

Chapter 4 Forest cover impact on instream water supply in terms of physico-chemical water quality

The following text is directly taken from the following published article:

Brogna, D., Michez, A., Jacobs, S., Dufrêne, M., Vincke, C., Dendoncker, N., 2017a. Linking Forest Cover to Water Quality: A Multivariate Analysis of Large Monitoring Datasets. Water 9, 176.

As for Chapter 3, a preliminary section first remind the thematic and methodological objectives of the PhD pursued in this study. Then, precisions with regard to the published version are presented.

Preamble and precisions

This research main objective is the **study of the impact of forest cover on instream water supply in terms of physico-chemical water quality**. In this study, we approach the physico-chemical water quality through nine variables (i.e. dissolved oxygen, dissolved organic carbon, pH, total phosphorus, ammonium, nitrites, nitrates, chloride and sulphate concentrations). We quantify forest cover and independent effect of forest cover types (i.e. needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on physico-chemical water quality in comparison to other LULC at the regional scale (10 years dataset). We assess the temporal variability of this effect by testing annual and seasonal effects.

Transversal methodological objectives are in here attained, through the development of a replicable approach (i) based on easily accessible data, monitored in many countries (i.e. EU Water Framework Directive monitoring datasets), (ii) using multivariate statistical methods and (iii) with main processes run in open source statistical software. The enlargement of scope of the derived results aiming to come up with land planning recommendations is reached through the study of 362 monitoring stations

spread across the region whose upstream catchments have mixed land covers.

Precisions:

In the following text, the word 'nutriments' should be replaced by nutrients, and the section number mentioned in the last sentence of section 4.3.2 should be 4.3.3 instead of 3.3.

Caption in Figure 4-2 should be complemented by : (source : TOP10VGIS, NGI). However, as the paper has been published as is, we prefer to leave the text unaltered.

Abstract

Forested catchments are generally assumed to provide higher quality water. However, this hypothesis must be validated in various contexts as interactions between multiple land use and land cover (LULC) types, ecological variables and water quality variables render this relationship highly complex. This paper applies a straightforward multivariate approach on a typical large monitoring dataset of a highly managed and densely populated area (Wallonia, Belgium; 10 years' dataset), quantifying forest cover effects on nine physico-chemical water quality variables. Results show that forest cover explains about one third of the variability of water quality and is positively correlated with higher quality water. When controlling for spatial autocorrelation, forest cover still explains 9% of water quality. Unlike needle-leaved forest cover, broad-leaved forest cover presents an independent effect from ecological variables and explains independently 4.8% of water quality variability while it shares 5.8% with cropland cover. This study demonstrates clear independent effects of forest cover on water quality, and presents a method to tease out independent LULC effects from typical large multivariate monitoring datasets. Further research on explanatory variables, spatial distribution effects and water quality datasets could lead to effective strategies to mitigate pollution and reach legal targets.

4.1 Introduction

Water is the most essential component for the life of all beings (Haddadin, 2001; UN-Water, 2014). However, freshwater systems and consequently human well-being are directly threatened by human activities (Meybeck, 2003; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a; Vörösmarty et al., 2010). In response to the global degradation of ecosystems and their services, water quality management is at the core of policies such as the European Water Framework Directive (Directive, 2000/60/CE) aiming at maintaining or restoring the chemical, physical and biological integrity of surface and groundwater bodies. Managing water quality is challenging and implies to deal with both point and non-point source pollutions. As non-point source pollutions result from complex runoff and landscape interactions, they are more complex to identify than confined point source pollutions (Carpenter et al., 1998). Land use and Land cover (LULC) are key landscape elements affecting water quality through their impact on non-point source pollution.

Previous studies attempting to address LULC impact on water quality broadly correlate urban and/or agricultural LULC with poor water quality either at the catchment or riparian scale. These represent water quality through several variables, but nitrate and phosphate, which are at the basis of eutrophication problems, are the most studied. More specifically, Álvarez-Cabria et al. (2016) model three water quality variables (temperature, concentrations of nitrates and phosphates) in a watershed located in Spain. Their results show that nitrate and phosphate concentrations were mainly related to agricultural LULC and urban LULC, respectively. Chen et al. (2016) show that urban land is the dominant factor influencing nitrogen, phosphorus and chemical oxygen demand in highly urbanized regions of a catchment located in eastern China but that agricultural land has the greatest influence on nitrogen and phosphorus in suburban and rural areas. Yu et al. (2013) also show direct and indirect negative impact of urbanization and agricultural activities on water quality in an urban area of China. De Oliveira et al. (2016) assess LULC effect on nitrate, total ammonia nitrogen, total phosphorus and dissolved oxygen in a Brazilian watershed. Their results (correlations) point out that urban areas and agriculture/pasture tend to worsen water quality while some models (i.e., nitrate and total phosphorus) were not valid. Hwang et al. (2016) show that relationships between urban LU and water quality vary according to the degree of urbanization. These studies are often specific

to one or few catchments, treat different water quality variables at different temporal and spatial scales but broadly show negative impact of urban and agricultural LULC on water quality. These results are often presented in opposition to forest cover associated with higher water quality.

Forest is one of the LULC that interacts the most with water, whether in terms of quantity or quality, and consequently has an impact on hydrological services—which can be grouped into water supply and water damage mitigation and viewed in terms of quantity, quality and timing (Brauman et al., 2007; Brogna et al., 2017b; Carvalho-Santos et al., 2014). Indeed, forests and forest soils alter, relative to other land uses and soil types, each of the five physical, chemical and biological functions involving the reception, processing and transfer of water(Neary et al., 2009). Forest general impact on water quality, relative to other land uses, can be summarized as water with less sediments and water with fewer nutriments (Neary et al., 2009; TEEB, 2010). Several studies state that forested catchments tend to have more stable water quality conditions (Figuepron et al., 2013; Łowicki, 2012; Tong and Chen, 2002) but we did not come across any study that quantifies this impact on several pollutants simultaneously, on a large scale and over a relatively long period. In addition, one may question the validity of these hypothesized relationships under different latitudes, at different temporal and spatial scales, under various management types, according to different forest types (i.e., needle-leaved vs. broad-leaved forests). In addition, global changes affect water quality and quantity and question the assumption that studies from last century can be used to face future conditions (Vose et al., 2011). Finally, Giri and Qiu (2016) stress the importance of assessing the relationship between LULC and water quality (see also Chauhan and Verma (2015)), pointing out that improving our understanding of these can help managing water quality in unmonitored watersheds but also that this knowledge can provide guidelines to watershed managers and policymakers in the land planning decision process.

In Wallonia (Belgium), few studies attempting to assess the impact of LULC and in particular forest cover on water quality were published. Some specific studies related to the subject exist as the assessment of variability of nitrate removal in riparian zones (Dhondt et al., 2006) or the in lab assessment of temperature, throughfall volume and ammonium cation deposition impact on soil solution nitrate concentrations, nitrous oxide emissions and numbers of ammonium oxidisers from a forest stand soil (Carnol and Ineson, 1999).

Regarding nitrates, Sohier and Degré (2010) present a hydrological model for evaluating the effectiveness of agricultural policy measures on nitrate concentration in surface and ground waters.

Different methods can be used to assess the relationship between water quality and LULC. Giri and Qiu (2016) classified these into three categories: monitoring, hydrologic/water quality modeling and statistical modeling. Direct and real-time monitoring in the stream is expensive, time consuming, and ineffective for larger areas. Hydrological and water quality models used in several studies (Carvalho-Santos et al., 2015; Jomaa et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2015) require vast amounts of data, are complex, costly and time consuming to calibrate, and therefore only applied on one single or few catchments. Statistical methods tend to be simpler, easier to apply, and more efficient than physically-based hydrologic/water quality models when observed data are limited in time and when datasets are covering many different catchments (Wan et al., 2014).

Regarding this context, this study applies multivariate statistical methods to mine a regional monitoring dataset from the highly managed and densely populated Walloon region (Belgium). It provides a quantification of forest cover effect on several physico-chemical variables simultaneously. More specifically, this paper:

i. Analyzes the link between sub-catchments' LULC and the legal status of in stream water quality

ii. Quantitatively assesses the link between forest cover and nine water quality variables, verifying spatio-temporal variability;

iii. Quantifies the independent effect of forest cover types (i.e., needleleaved and broadleaved forests) on water quality relatively to effects of other LULC.

This study develops a novel approach, replicable in space and time, based on easily accessible public data (public monitoring network data directly linked to the Water Framework Directive and LULC data), and using powerful but simple statistical methods ran in open source statistical software (R stat, (R Core Team, 2013)).

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Study area

The study area is the southern region of Belgium (Wallonia) covering 16,902 km2 (ca. 55% of Belgium's area, see Figure 4-1). We work on the publically managed river network and in particular on 362 water quality stations monitored for the Walloon Public Service (WPS, (SPW - DGO3, n.d.), Figure 4-1).



Figure 4-1. Water quality monitoring stations used in this study and subcatchments

Population density in Wallonia is 202 inhabitants per square kilometer and, with hardly less than 1% of the territory beneficiating of a natural reserve status, all landscapes are mostly managed or perturbed by human activities. Main LULC are agriculture land (52%) comprising grassland (30%) and cropland (22%); forests (30%) split into needle-leaved (13%), broad-leaved (16%) and mixed forests (1%); and artificial surfaces (10%) (see LULC dataset, Section 2.4 and Figure 4-2). Cropland cover is mostly located in the North of the region and at a low elevation while forests (especially needle-leaved forests) are located in the South at a higher elevation. In the studied

sub-catchments (see delineation method below), the most represented LULC classes are forests, grassland and cropland (see boxplot in Supplementary Materials Figure S1).



Figure 4-2. Land use and land cover (LULC) in Wallonia

Intensive agriculture impacts water quality through the use of mineral fertilizer, in particular nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), causing eutrophication and drinking water quality degradation. Even if declining since 1990, inputs of nitrogen and phosphorus were still above the European average in 2001 (SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2014, 2007). Nitrogen still exceeded (about double) the European average in 2012 while phosphorus decreased to around half of the European average.

Regarding species composition, broad-leaved forests are largely dominated by oaks (*Quercus robur* and *Q. petraea*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) but other species such as birch (*Betula pendula*), ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*), and hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus*) are also present (Alderweireld et al., 2015). Needle-leaved forests are very intensively managed with the use of exotic species (mainly spruce (*Picea abies*) but also Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), larches (*Larix sp.*), and pines (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. nigra*)), in even-aged stands conducted with systematically clear-cuttings, and high drainage infrastructure on wet soils. In the last century, forests in Wallonia have suffered from large inputs of sulfur and nitrogen through acidic rainfalls. Even if this phenomenon has been declining since 1990, it affected forests during the studied decade (SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2014).

4.2.2 Workflow

The overall methodology is illustrated in Figure 4-3 and described below. The first section describes the physico-chemical water quality dataset processing. Secondly, the delineation of sub-catchments and LULC characterization are explained. Finally, the methodology to assess the link between forest cover and water quality is presented. In this last part, we detail the following analyses: the link between forest cover and WFD standards, the quantification of the forest cover effects on water quality and spatio-temporal aspects, and, finally, the partitioning of the LULC effect on water quality between forest types and LULC and their shared effects while controlling for ecological gradient.



Figure 4-3. Schematic figure of the methodological approach to link forest cover and water quality. With WPS: Walloon Public Service, avg: average, WFD: Water Framework Directive, PCA: Principal Component Analysis

4.2.3 **Physico-chemical Water Quality**

Physico-chemical water quality was studied through selected variables (Table 4-1) from the monitoring performed by the WPS. We processed data from 10 hydrological years (October 2004 to September 2014). The hydrological year—i.e., the annual base period—is temporally defined by the period from October to the following September and corresponds to the natural hydrological cycle (Gailliez, 2013).

We selected 362 stations from the monitoring network dataset of the WPS. The selected stations are characterized by an upstream catchment that can be extracted automatically from a digital elevation model. Consequently, artificial water bodies such as artificial canals hydrologically disconnected or crossing watersheds were excluded. Moreover, we excluded stations whose upstream catchments are partially located outside Wallonia. In order to maximize the number of multiple observations and still fit to seasonal vegetation development, we averaged water quality variables' values by
season and by station. Following Brogna et al. (2017b), seasons were delineated according to vegetation development and rainfall distribution, splitting the year into a "non-vegetation season" (October–March) and a "vegetation season" (April–September). Among the water quality variables monitored by the administration, variables were excluded: (1) if the Pearson correlation coefficient exceeded 80% to exclude highly redundant variables for multivariate analysis purposes (Olsen et al., 2012); or (2) if missing data exceeded 5% of the dataset (not to lose too many sampling dates in the multivariate table). Thus, 9 out of 16 variables were analyzed in this study (Table 4-1).

Variable		Unit
Dissolved Oxygen	DO	(mg02/l)
Dissolved Organic Carbon	DOC	(mgC/l)
Total phosphorus	ТР	(mgP/l)
Ammonium	NH4	(mgN/l)
Nitrites	NO_2	
Nitrates	NO_3	
рН	рН	-
Chloride	Cl	(mg/l)
Sulphate	SO ₄	(mg/l)
	Variable Dissolved Oxygen Dissolved Organic Carbon Total phosphorus Ammonium Nitrites Nitrates pH Chloride Sulphate	VariableDissolved OxygenDODissolved Organic CarbonDOCTotal phosphorusTPAmmoniumNH4NitritesNO2NitratesNO3pHpHChlorideClSulphateSO4

Table 4-1. Physico-chemical variables investigated.

The seasonal dataset consists of a 9 variables × 3793 observations (related to 362 stations) table. We excluded values that exceeded the 99th quantile as they are outliers representing incorrect values. We applied Log- or square-based transformations when improving the normality of variables' distribution was needed. We computed the percentage of times the monitoring station was classified as "good status" (i.e., good or high status according to WFD) and linked this legal status to land cover. This dataset was also used as input to study the link between forest cover and water quality and test the influence of the stream size effect and temporal (seasonal and year) effect.

Following the results of the temporal effect analysis, we built an aggregated dataset. We aggregated variables' values by station over the entire 10-year dataset using two aggregation function types: the 90th quantile (and 10th quantile for the dissolved oxygen variable) and the median values. As results were highly similar, we only present the median aggregation results. Again, we applied Log- or square-based transformations improving the normality of variables' distribution was needed. We used this dataset to quantify the independent effect of forest cover and forest cover types (i.e., needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on water quality relatively to effects of other LULC.

4.2.4 Land use and land cover data

Different spatial units can be considered in order to study the impact of land cover on water quality study. Some authors consider the entire upstream catchment as the spatial unit of LULC reference (Tu, 2013). Others use the riparian zone (i.e., a buffer around the stream) to characterize the land cover impacting water stream quality (Li et al., 2009). Both approaches have some drawbacks. Indeed, when considering the upstream catchment in non-spatial statistical methods, the same importance is given to points irrespective of their distance to the monitoring station ignoring processes such as the self-purification of the stream. On the other hand, Giri and Qiu (2016) point out problems with the riparian zone approach such as the absence of a uniform way to define its width or the fact that this zone does not represent nor behave ideally in terms of hydrological variation in the landscape. Pratt and Chang (2012) also state that while riparian land cover affect water quality, a wider contributing area must be included to take into account distant sources of pollutants.

In this study, the area associated with the monitoring station is the intersection of the upstream catchment station (automatically extracted from the ERRUISSOL digital terrain model http://geoportail.wallonie.be) with the monitored surface water body defined by the WPS. This spatial unit of reference is thus directly based on the Walloon surface water body delineation which is the basic unit area for water quality assessment in line with the WFD directive (SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2016). This water body delineation already integrates different variables as catchment size and hydromorphological parameters. In addition, this choice overcomes some above-mentioned drawbacks while providing a clear "rule"

to apply across the whole region. This spatial unit of analysis will be further referred to as "sub-catchment".

We used the Top10VGIS land cover data set provided by the Belgian National Geographic Institute (NGI, www.ngi.be) to characterize the land cover of the sub-catchments. This vector data set covers the whole of Belgium. It is based on the NGI topogeographic data that classify LULC into 37 classes. For the purpose of our study, we either selected the original land cover classes as such or aggregated them to end up with seven classes of interest: needle-leaved forest, broad-leaved forest, cropland, grassland, artificial surfaces, water surfaces, shrubs-heathlands and moorlands. We computed percentages of these classes in each sub-catchment. Following Brogna et al. (2017b), we assumed that the evolution of the retained classes in the region was minor throughout the studied decade.

To relate the LULC to water quality, we intersected the Top10VGIS dataset with each sub-catchment. To control the natural correlation between percentages of LULC variables, we constructed independent LULC variables by running Principal Component Analysis (PCA) on the main land cover classes' percentage in the sub-catchments (i.e., needle-leaved forest, broadleaved forest, grassland and cropland). We ran these PCA on standardized data, and extracted the stations coordinates on first and second components as independent LULC variables (i.e., LULC1 and LULC2).

4.2.5 **Coupling forest cover and water quality**

First, we performed a preliminary analysis on the seasonal dataset to assess the link between the main LULC of the region and the percentage of time over the decade each monitoring station was classified as "good status" according to current standards (SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2016).This provided a comprehensive picture of the relationships between LULC and policy standards for each water quality variables group (see Table 4-1). A station was considered in "good status" if it was classified as such for every component of the water quality variables group (see Table 4-1).

Then, we quantified the relationship between forest cover and physicochemical water quality by applying a redundancy analysis (RDA, see Legendre and Legendre (2012c), R package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2017)) on LULC independent variables resulting from PCA (see above). This multivariate analysis allows capturing the linear relationship between dependent variables (i.e., physico-chemical variables, referred to as WQ in equations) and a matrix of explanatory variables (i.e., sub-catchments land cover variables). This analysis thus quantifies the percentage of water quality variability explained by LULC variables (Oksanen et al., 2017). It allows quantifying and excluding the variability explained by certain covariates (e.g., season, year, upstream catchment area). We ran these RDA on centered and scaled variables because of the heterogeneity of the water quality variables units.

Analysis of the seasonal dataset explains the WQ matrix by the linear combination of the main land cover classes of interest:

 $WQ \sim LULC1 + LULC2$ [Equ 4. 1]

where WQ = matrix of physico-chemical measurements (see Table 4-1); and LULC1 and LULC2 = independent LULC variables derived from the land cover PCA (i.e., sites scores on the first two axes of the LULC PCA).

However, following the interpretation of this first RDA, we simplified both the analysis and the results' reading by applying an RDA directly on the percentage of forest cover in the sub-catchments (see Section 3.2).

WQ ~ Forest [Equ 4. 2]

where WQ = matrix of physico-chemical measurements (see Table 4-1), and Forest = percentage of forest cover in the sub-catchment (i.e., the sum of needle-leaved, broad-leaved and mixed forest percentage).

We tested the effect of the river size, directly linked to the discharge, to verify our choice to work with pollutant concentrations rather than loads, by putting it as covariate in the partial RDA under the proxy of whole upstream catchment area.

WQ ~ Forest + Condition (upstream catchment area) [Equ 4. 3]

We also tested the impact of temporality while considering the season, year and their interaction as covariates.

WQ ~ Forest + Condition (season + year + season × year) [Equ 4. 4]

Following the analysis of the temporal variability impact, we ran the same analysis (Equation (4.2)) on aggregated water quality values (median value by station over the 10 years).

As spatial autocorrelation often explains an important part of biological structures (Legendre, 1993), we partially controlled it by using "elevation" as covariate when quantifying the forest cover effect on water quality (Equation (4.5)). Indeed, there is a strong continuous ecological gradient in Belgium, that is highly correlated to elevation (Dufrene and Legendre, 1991; A Noirfalise, 1988). Dufrêne and Legendre (1991) show that elevation, although not exceeding 700 m in Belgium, explains almost all the geographic structure of several ecological variables given their spatial autocorrelation.

WQ ~ Forest + Condition (Elevation) [Equ 4. 5]

Finally, we distinguished effects from needle-leaved and broad-leaved forest covers while capturing the shared effects between LULC classes and distinguishing those from the elevation effect. We therefore ran several RDA with elevation as covariate and a variation partitioning between most important LULC and elevation (Legendre and Legendre, 2012c). The latter method divides the explained variance of a dataset between partial effects (i.e., the proportion of variation explained by a particular variable) and shared effects (i.e., variation that cannot be attributed to one variable but is shared between two or more).

4.3 **Results**

4.3.1 Forest cover versus legal standards

Figure 4-4 shows the biplot of the PCA ran on the main land cover classes' proportions at the sub-catchment level. The first two components explain 80% of the variability of the data set. The first component (LULC1), which explains 47.6% of the dataset variability, opposes grassland and cropland on the one hand (negative side), and needle-leaved and broad-leaved forests on the other hand (positive side). The second component (LULC2) explains 32.4% of the dataset variability and is mostly based on an opposition between grassland (positive side), and broad-leaved forest and cropland classes (negative side). Figure 4-4 illustrates the percentage of times that each monitoring station was classified in "good status" throughout the studied decade following current WFD standards (seasonal values). Except for the "mineralization" group (i.e., sulfates and chlorides) for which all stations are 100% of the time in "good status", we observe a clear gradient linked to LULC. Regarding nitrogenous material (i.e., nitrates, nitrites and ammonium), the majority of stations that, most of the time, do not reach the "good status" have high cropland or grassland cover. Moreover, very few stations with high cropland cover are classified as "good status", even for part of the decade. The same trend—even if less strong—is observed for the total phosphorus standards. Regarding oxygen balance (i.e., dissolved oxygen and dissolved organic carbon), stations that, most of the time, do not reach the "good status" are linked to high cropland cover (with a relatively important grassland cover).



Figure 4-4. Biplot representing the monitoring stations from a PCA on the main land cover classes in studied sub-catchments. Colors represent the percentage of time the station was classified in 'good status' according to current Water Framework Directive standard



Figure 4-4 (end): Biplot representing the monitoring stations from a PCA on the main land cover classes in studied sub-catchments. Colors represent the percentage of time the station was classified in 'good status' according to current Water Framework Directive standard

4.3.2 **Forest cover versus multivariate water quality**

Redundancy analysis on seasonal water quality values (Equation (4.1)) and LULC independent variables (see Figure 4-4) showed that the first constrained axis explains 43% of the water quality variability, and the second one explaining less than 1% of the water quality variability. This first axis is highly correlated to forest cover in sub-catchments. Consequently, following RDA in this study are directly based on forest cover percentage in sub-catchments. Table 4-2 (seasonal dataset) shows the percentage of variability explained by forest cover in these RDA either considering the forest cover only or removing some effects through the use of covariates. Temporal, river size and elevation effects have thus been removed successively. We applied permutation tests to each model produced in this study and all the presented models are significant.

Table 4-2. Redundancy analysis results for seasonal dataset (Oct-Mar, Apr-Sept) and aggregated dataset (median value over the study period): variability (%) explained by forest cover, by covariates and shared effects

	Variability	Variability	Variability	
Redundancy analysis	explained	shared between	explained by	
covariate(s)	by forest	forest cover and	covariate(s)	
	cover (%)	covariate(s) (%)	(%)	
Seasonal dataset				
No covariates - [Equ 4.2]	29.6	-	-	
Covariate : upstream	293	0.3	05	
catchment area - [Equ 4.3]	29.5	0.5	0.5	
Covariates : season + year	28.4	12	7	
+ season*year - [Equ 4.4]	20.1	1.2	,	
Aggregated dataset				
No covariates - [Equ 4.2]	33.8	-	-	
Covariate : Elevation - [Equ	9.3	24.5	12.9	
4.5]				

Forest cover explains 29.6% of the seasonal physico-chemical water quality. The upstream catchment area effect is independent from the forest cover effect (shared effect of 0.3%) and explains 0.5% of the total variability of water quality. Temporal effect is also independent from the forest cover effect (shared effect of 1.2%) and explains 7% of total water quality variability. Consequently, we present below, and in the second part of Table 4-2, results from the aggregated dataset.

Results of RDA (Equation (4.2)) on the aggregated dataset show that forest cover explains 33.8% of the water quality variability (see Table 4-2, aggregated dataset). Figure 4-5 A–C presents these results in a factorial plan constituted by the constrained axis (RDA1) and the first residual axis (PC1).





Figure 4-5. RDA results showing the link between forest cover and water quality. X-axis represents the constrained axis and y-axis, the first residual component. (A) Correlation circle of the RDA with 'active' variables and the constrained variable (forest cover), with DO: Dissolved Oxygen, NO3: Nitrates, Cl: Chloride, SO4: Sulfates, TP: Total Phosphorus, NO2: Nitrites, NH4: Ammonium and DOC: Dissolved Organic Carbon. (B) Correlation circle of the RDA with constrained variable (forest cover) and 'passive' variables (with NLF: Needle-leaved forest and BLF: Broad-leaved forest). (C) Stations location in the same plan.

Figure 4-5 A shows the correlation circle of the RDA with "active" variables (water quality variables) and the constrained variable (forest cover percentage in sub-catchments). Forest cover is clearly linked to high stream water quality. Indeed, Dissolved Oxygen is positively correlated to forest cover while Ammonium, Nitrites, Total Phosphorus, Sulfates and Chloride concentrations are highly negatively correlated with forest cover. Dissolved Organic Carbon, pH, and Nitrates are also negatively correlated to forest cover but to a lesser extent. Figure 4-5 presents the correlation circle from the RDA with both the constrained variable (i.e., forest cover) and "passive" variables (i.e., LULC classes and elevation). The constrained variable is obviously positively correlated with needle-leaved forest cover and broadleaved forest cover in a less extent and inversely correlated to cropland cover. Grassland cover hardly contributes to the constrained axis. Figure 4-5 C shows the position of stations in the same factorial plan. Elevation is also correlated with this constrained axis and RDA (see Table 4-2, aggregated dataset) shows that forest cover still explains 9.3% of water quality variability when the shared effect with elevation is removed. This is taken into account and refined in Section 3.3.

4.3.3 Independent and shared effects of LULC classes (included forest type distinction)

Results of RDA explaining water quality dataset with, on one the hand, each LULC class as constrained variable and, on the other hand, the same analysis but controlling for spatial autocorrelation (elevation as covariate) are presented in Table 4-3. Regarding forest types effect, needle-leaved forest cover explains water quality much more (29.3% versus 12.1%) than broad-leaved forest but is highly correlated with elevation, as is cropland cover. Indeed, when removing shared effect of needle-leaved forest cover with elevation, the explained proportion drops from 29.3% to 2.3%. On the contrary, broad-leaved forest cover effect is stable and independent from the ecological gradient; this LULC class explaining the most (10.9%) when removing the elevation effect. As expected (see Figure 4-5B), grassland cover hardly explains water quality variability.

	Independent effect				With Elevation as covariate			
Constrained variable- LULC								
(%) in sub-catchments	%	F	Р		%	F	Р	
Needle-leaved Forest	29.3%	148.5	0.001	***	2.3%	13.7	0.001 ***	
Broad-leaved Forest	12.1%	49.4	0.001	***	10.9%	75.2	0.001 ***	
Cropland	38.7%	226.1	0.001	***	7.9%	51.8	0.001 ***	
Grassland	1.2%	4.5	0.013	***	1.9%	11	0.001 ***	

Table 4-3. Independent effect of main LULC (with distinction between forest types) on water quality and effect when removing shared effect with elevation, F and p values of the models with (***): highly significant

Variation partitioning (see Figure 4-6) splits the variation of water quality dataset into independent effects of LULC classes and elevation (i.e., the proportion of variation that is not shared with other variables) and shared interactions (i.e., interaction that cannot be attributed to a single class). Needle-leaved forest and broad-leaved forest independently explain 4.8 and 1.8% of the total water quality variability, respectively. Broad-leaved forest cover shares 5.8% of explained variability with cropland but only 0.8% with elevation. An important part of variability (21.3%) is shared by needle-leaved forest, cropland cover and elevation, whereas less than 1% is shared by broad-leaved forest, cropland cover and elevation.



Figure 4-6. Venn diagram of the variance partitioning into main LULC classes and elevation. Figures are positive adjusted coefficients of determination and represent the variability explained by each subspace being either a single variable or shared effect between two or more variables.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 **Forest cover and water quality**

This study assesses the link between forest cover and water quality data at the regional scale, by applying straightforward multivariate statistics on a large monitoring dataset. The analysis of sub-catchment's LULC and the legal water quality status of streams (objective (i)) shows that sub-catchments with high forest cover tend to achieve "good status" over the studied decade more often than sub-catchments with high cropland and/or grassland covers. This is especially true for nitrogenous material and testifies that, despite the decrease in N input in agriculture since 1990, WFD target of "good status" is not yet fully reached. Sub-catchments with high grassland and cropland covers are also from far more polluted regarding phosphorus than forested sub-catchments. Nevertheless, stations with good phosphorus status are more frequent than in the case of nitrogenous materials. This analysis presents the advantage of providing an easily readable picture of the state of each station regarding water quality legal framework in relation with the LULC in its sub-catchment. This could provide a basis for further analyses to mitigate effects on water quality through improvement of catchment management. Indeed, some stations record unexpectedly high or low water quality in contrast to stations with similar LULC upstream signature. If an unexpected high water quality can be linked to particular practices or land planning measures, this could help managers to come up with locally relevant solutions.

Several insights were derived from the quantitative assessment of the link between forest cover and quality variables (objective (ii)). First, river size did not significantly affect the statistical relationship between LULC and water quality data. This allows aggregation of data from the entire monitoring network, with a high diversity of catchment sizes and thus discharges. It also justifies the use of concentrations instead of loads, unlike some authors such as de Oliveira et al. (2016) suggest. This renders the methodology less complex and more easily replicable on a such large numbers of sampling stations. Second, seasonal and between-year effects were insignificant across the full decade. This entails that the link between LULC and water quality reflects a background "multi-pollutants" load that can be considered as temporally stable. A potential seasonal effect as observed in other studies on particular relationships between particular variables and LULC (Álvarez-Cabria et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016) might have been mitigated as the developed method treats several water quality variables together and as seasonal values are averaged values. For studies aiming to clearly focus on seasonal effects, we recommend specific and regular spatio-temporal sampling while focusing on homogeneous groups of pollutants regarding their seasonal variability (see e.g., Johnson et al. (1997)). Analysis of the aggregated dataset over the studied decade showed that forest cover explains one third of the median water quality variability. Using elevation effect as a proxy for various environmental variables and as a mean for controlling spatial autocorrelation, we demonstrated an independent forest effect of 9.3%. Specifically, in this densely populated region with highly managed landscapes and forests, sub-catchments which are dominated by forest, and have lower agriculture and grassland cover, provide water with higher oxygen availability and lower concentrations of Ammonium, Nitrites, Nitrates, Total Phosphorus, Sulfates and Chloride and Dissolved Organic Carbon. This is confirming previous main findings and reinforcing papers stating that forest cover is associated with higher water quality (Figuepron et al., 2013; Łowicki, 2012; Tong and Chen, 2002). Main processes underlying these results are linked to the protection against erosion resulting in water with less sediments and fewer nutriments (Neary et al., 2009; TEEB, 2010) which is also due to lower pressures compared to agricultural and urban land uses.

Finally, using the power of both a large monitoring dataset and multivariate statistics, we quantified the partial effect of forest cover types (i.e., needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on water quality and shared effects with other LULC and environmental variables represented by the elevation variable (objective (iii)). This study empirically confirms a clear effect, independent from elevation, of broad-leaved cover on water quality (10.9%). The important effects of needle-leaved forest (29.3%) and cropland cover (38.7%) are largely shared with elevation and can therefore not be proven as independent effects. Regarding shared effect between different LULC classes and elevation, our analysis shows that broad-leaved forest and needle-leaved forest independently explain 4.8 and 1.8% of the total water quality variability respectively. Broad-leaved forest cover shares 5.8% of explained variability with cropland but only 0.8% with elevation. The biggest part of the explained variability is shared by needle-leaved forest cover, cropland cover

and elevation (21.3%). A part of this variability is surely linked to forest cover effect but cannot be attributed to it.

4.4.2 **Strengths and limitations of the study**

Some limitations of this approach can be pointed out: (i) the methodological design and data used do not allow for isolating quantitatively a potential "active" effect of the forest (i.e., water purification per se) from the "passive" one being directly linked to the pressure degree of each LULC. (ii) The advantage of capturing the relationships between several water quality variables and forest cover implies that: (a) water quality variables with less frequent measurement during the studied decade could not be studied as they would have drastically reduced the number of observations; and (b) conclusions remain rather general and do not allow to discuss one particular variable in detail. However, we believe this approach has the following strengths: (i) it is based on public monitoring network data (several annual measurements for the processed pollutants) linked to the WFD and monitored in many other countries; (ii) as we did previously (Brogna et al., 2017b), we based this analysis on "real-life catchments" making conclusions more complex to draw but allowing for studying this phenomena at a regional scale and provide land planners with insights potentially contributing to a more sustainable resource management; and (iii) we applied a straightforward statistical approach, easier to apply and more efficient than physically based hydrologic/water quality models when observed data are limited in time but when datasets cover many different catchments. Furthermore, this statistical approach allows quantifying the effect of land cover on several pollutants concomitantly while controlling for autocorrelation and ecological factors, allowing for comparison between them. Finally, the statistical method was implemented in open source statistical software (R), which eases the replicability in other regions and/or through time.

4.5 **Conclusions**

Our study demonstrates significant effects of forest cover on water quality, disentangles independent and shared effects of correlated LULC categories while controlling for autocorrelation, and applies a method to mine large monitoring datasets. Capturing effects of land cover on several water quality variables at the same time from measured data allows for comparison between them. This contributes to validation and refining of the hypothesis that forests improve water quality.

Further research could focus on measuring direct LULC change impacts on water quality in study areas where more detailed and regularly updated land cover datasets are available. In addition, spatial information on land use practices could be further integrated into the analysis to enrich the interpretation. LULC effects can also be studied in more detail by taking into account spatial heterogeneity through landscape metrics studies, as some authors did (Amiri and Nakane, 2008; Clément et al., 2017; Łowicki, 2012), or, e.g., focusing on specific locations or types of forest such as riparian forests. Study of residuals and outliers could bring to light how catchment management can mitigate effects on water quality, as there are subcatchments where water quality is unexpectedly high or low based on its LULC profile. Finally, similar analyses could be performed with biological water quality data, such as with macroinvertebrate (Miserendino and Pizzolon, 2004) or diatom indices, which would bring complementary information.

The approach presented here, replicable in time and space, has a large application potential. First, it uses the publicly funded standard monitoring data linked to the WFD. Second, the analysis is based on "real-life" subcatchments reflecting LULC heterogeneity and based on WFD water bodies, providing land planners and decision makers with directly applicable insights. Finally, we applied a straightforward statistical analysis, which are simpler, easier to apply, and more efficient than physically-based hydrologic/water quality models.

Supplementary Materials:



LULC percentages in the subcatchments with NL F needleleaved forest, BL F: broad-leaved forest, S: Surfaces and MH: shrubs heathlands and moorlands

- 102 -

Chapter 5 Forest cover impact on instream water supply in terms of biological quality

This chapter is a submitted version of the following paper:

Brogna D., Dufrêne M., Michez A., Latli A., Jacobs S., Vincke C., Dendoncker N., (2017, submitted). Forest cover ensures good biological and physicochemical water quality. Insights and nuances from a regional study (Wallonia, Belgium). Submitted to Journal of Environmental Management.

Preamble

This research main objective is the **study of the impact of forest cover on instream water supply in terms of biological water quality**. In this study, biological water quality is described by two indices based on macroinvertebrates and diatoms communities. We quantify, at the regional scale and across five natural ecoregions, the effect of forest cover on water quality at the riparian and catchment scales. We assess this effect while controlling for spatial, local morphology and population pressure variations and we quantify independent and shared effects between forest cover and the physico-chemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures (agriculture and population density) and local morphology.

Transversal methodological objectives are in here reached, through the development of a replicable approach (i) based on easily accessible data, monitored in many countries (i.e. EU Water Framework Directive monitoring datasets), (ii) using multivariate statistical methods and (iii) with main processes run in open source statistical software. The enlargement of scope of the derived results is reached through the study of 171 headwater monitoring stations spread across the region whose upstream catchments have mixed land covers.

Abstract

Forested catchments are generally assumed to provide higher quality water in opposition to agricultural and urban catchments. However, this should be tested in various ecological contexts and through the study of multiple variables describing water quality. Indeed, interactions between ecological variables, multiple land use and land cover (LULC) types, and water quality variables render this relationship highly complex. Furthermore, the question of the scale at which land use within stream catchments most influences stream water quality and ecosystem health remains only partially answered. This paper quantifies, at the regional scale and across five natural ecoregions of Wallonia (Belgium), the forest cover effect on biological water quality indices (based on diatoms and macroinvertebrates) at the riparian and catchment scales. Main results show that forest cover - considered alone explains around one third of the biological water quality at the regional scale and from 15 to 70% depending on the ecoregion studied. Forest cover is systematically positively correlated with higher biological water quality. When removing spatial, local morphological variations, or population density effect, forest cover still accounts for over 10% of the total biological water quality variation. Partitioning variance shows that physico-chemical water quality is one of the main drivers of biological water quality and that anthropogenic pressures often explain an important part of it (shared or not with forest cover). The proportion of forest cover in each catchment at the regional scale and across all ecoregions but the Loam region is more positively correlated with high water quality than when considering the proportion of forest cover in the riparian zones only. This suggests that catchment-wide impacts and *a fortiori* catchment-wide protection measures are the main drivers of river ecological water quality. However, distinctive results from the agricultural and highly human impacted Loam region show that riparian forests are positively linked to water quality and should therefore be preserved.

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 **Freshwaters and water quality**

Despite its crucial importance for the life of all beings (Haddadin, 2001; UN-Water, 2014), water and freshwater systems in particular are directly threatened by human activities (Loh et al., 2005; Meybeck, 2003; Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a; Vörösmarty et al., 2010). In response to global degradation of ecosystems and their services, water quality management is at the core of policies such as the US Clean Water Act (1972) and the European Water Framework Directive (Directive, 2000/60/CE) (European Commission, 2000). Water quality can be described by a huge number of variables which can broadly be classified into physical, chemical and biological categories (Boyd, 2015; Chapman, 1992). These groups of variables provide complementary information and are inter-related, but biological indicators have the advantage to assimilate long-term disturbance and stress trends in freshwater ecosystems while avoiding the complexity, costliness and high temporal variability linked to physico-chemical measurements (Allan, 2004; Bere and Tundisi, 2010; Giorgio et al., 2016). Among biological indicators, benthic macroinvertebrates are often used to determine the water quality notably because of their sensitivity to pollution, limited mobility, rapid response to external disturbance and dependence on the land environment around the stream (Mahler and Barber, 2017; Sharma and Rawat, 2009). Phytobenthos - of which diatoms are the main component present a reduced mobility, a short generation time and a rapid response to environmental changes. Diatoms are tightly linked to physico-chemical changes. Being preserved in sediments, they are a good indicator of eutrophication, acidification and organic pollution (Delgado et al., 2012; Lobo et al., 2016). Therefore integrating information from diatoms and macroinvertebrates allows a better assessment of stream ecological integrity by bringing nuances in the responses to multiple pressures (Giorgio et al., 2016; Hering et al., 2006; Marzin et al., 2012; Soininen and Könönen, 2004).

5.1.2 Land use and Land cover impact on water quality

Land use and Land cover (LULC) are key landscape elements affecting water quality through their impact on non-point source pollution resulting from complex run-off and landscape interactions. Giri and Qiu (2016) stress the importance of assessing the relationship between LULC and water quality. According to them, improving the understanding of these relationships can help managing water quality in unmonitored watersheds but also providing recommendations to watershed managers and policymakers in the land planning decision process. Related to catchment and riparian degradation in particular, the question addressing the scale at which land use within stream catchments most influences stream water quality and ecosystem health remains only partially answered (Allan, 2004; Johnson et al., 1997; Sheldon et al., 2012; Sponseller et al., 2001). Several studies suggest that prevailing (Kail et al., 2012; Riva-Murray et al., 2002) and past (Harding et al., 1998) LULC characteristics of the whole stream catchments affect surface water quality. Other studies emphasise the impact of riparian LULC on water quality or stream habitat (Dosskey et al., 2010; Jackson et al., 2015). Finally, some studies compare scales of influence (i.e. catchment scale versus riparian scales), obtaining nuanced results on the land use effect on stream water quality according notably to the type of biological indicators and the ecological context of the sampling sites (Kosuth et al., 2010; Marzin et al., 2012, 2012; Sponseller et al., 2001). These studies show that assessing both scales of influence bring deeper insights when studying LULC impact on water quality (Vondracek et al., 2005).

Regarding the type of LULC, negative impact of agricultural intensification is reported in the literature (Stoate et al., 2001) mainly explained by the following processes: increased sedimentation, modified hydrological regimes, loss of high quality habitat, contamination from pesticides, increases in surface water nutriments (mainly N and P) (Allan, 2004; Herringshaw et al., 2011; Mahler and Barber, 2017). Urban land use – despite covering small areas – and urban intensification are also reported to negatively affect water quality (Kosuth et al., 2010; Riva-Murray et al., 2002). Forest, on the contrary, is usually associated with water containing less sediments and fewer nutriments (Neary et al., 2009; TEEB, 2010). Some studies showed impact of forest cover on instream water quality (Kosuth et al., 2010; Tong and Chen, 2002), on fish, macroinvertebrate and algal biomass (Stephenson and Morin,

2009). Specifically, forested riparian buffer zones are believed to have a positive impact on water quality through notably the reduction of the sediment load and nutrient concentrations in water (Dosskey et al., 2010; Fernandes et al., 2014; Naiman et al., 2005; Scarsbrook and Halliday, 1999). However, this is nuanced by studies explicitly assessing the effect of riparian forest compared to forest proportion in the whole catchment. For example, Stephenson and Morin (2009), in their study of the partial effects of forest cover on biomass and community structure metrics of algae, invertebrates and fish, never detected a significant partial effect of forest cover at the riparian scale. In conclusion, regarding LULC impact on biological water quality, literature shows general trends, especially opposing agricultural and urban LULC – associated with a negative effect on water quality – and forested land – broadly positively related with water quality, see e.g. Ding et al. (2013), Kosuth et al. (2010) or Theodoropoulos et al. (2015). However, issues of scales of influence and nuances brought by the type of studied biological indicators and the ecological context of study sites remain to be further explored. Also, to our knowledge and as observed by Tanaka et al. (2016), only few studies integrate information from macroinvertebrates, diatoms and physio-chemical water quality variables to get a broader picture of the forest cover impact on water quality.

5.1.3 **Objectives**

The main objective of this paper is, at the regional scale and across five natural ecoregions, to quantify the forest cover effect on biological water quality indices at the riparian and catchment scales. This objective is addressed through: (i) the assessment of this link while controlling for spatial, local morphology and population pressure variations, (ii) the quantification of independent and shared effects between forest cover and the physico-chemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures (agriculture and population density) and local morphology.

5.2 Material and methods

5.2.1 Study area

The study area is the southern region of Belgium (Wallonia) covering 16 898 km² (ca. 55% of Belgium's area, see Figure 5-1 A). We work on 173 headwaters stations located on the publically managed river network where biological and physico-chemical water quality data are monitored by the Walloon Public Service [WPS (SPW - DGO3, n.d.), Figure 5-1 B). These stations monitor headwater waterbodies and have non-overlapping upstream catchments (Figure 5-1 B &D). Figure 5-1 D shows forest cover distribution in waterbodies.

A. ECOREGIONS



B. MONITORING STATIONS - CATCHMENTS & HYDROGRAPHY



C. ELEVATION



D. FOREST COVER IN WATERBODIES - EU-WFD



Figure 5-1. (A) Ecoregions in Wallonia; (B) Hydrography, water quality monitoring stations and corresponding catchments; (C) Elevation (source: regional LiDAR digital terrain model, http://geoportail.wallonie.be) and (D) Forest cover proportion (source: Top10VGIS) in waterbodies delineated within the EU Water Framework Directive Wallonia presents relatively contrasted landscapes and can be divided into five natural ecoregions (Figure 5-1 A and Table 5-1). Noirfalise (1988) delineated these ecoregions according to pedological, botanical and agroecological criteria. Table 5-1 presents their main characteristics regarding LULC, topography, and rainfall distributions. Main ecological differences are found across an elevation gradient from the Loam to the Ardenne ecoregion. The Loam and the Condroz ecoregions located in lower elevation areas (Figure 5-1 C) mainly comprise agricultural and urban land uses, and present high human population densities. The Ardenne ecoregion mostly consists in forested and grassland landscapes with lower population density, but remains a highly managed region. The Famenne and the Belgian Lorraine ecoregions, bordering the Ardenne in the North and South respectively, present an intermediate context with an equal coverage of agricultural and forested land.

	Area (km²)	Rainfall (mm / year)	Mean altitude (m)	Mean slope (%)	Agr. (%)	Urb. (%)	For. (%)	Wat. (%)	Mean pop density
Loam region	5192	825	103	4.8	68.8	19.2	10.3	<1	320
Condroz	3570	956	214	9.8	54.6	18.7	24.5	1.2	344
Famenne	1574	898	227	9.3	47.9	9.0	41.4	1.0	74
Ardenne	5710	1140	425	11	34.2	7.1	56.3	<1	44
Belgian Lorraine	851	934	322	9.1	46.3	10.3	41.6	<1	107
Wallonia	16898	971	258	8.5	51.0	13.6	33.3	<1	208

Table 5-1: Main ecological characteristics of Wallonia and its ecoregions [adapted from Michez et al. (2017); LULC source: Top10VGIS dataset].

Agriculture in Wallonia is generally intensive with a negative impact on water quality through the use of mineral fertilizer, in particular nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P), causing eutrophication and drinking water quality degradation. Even if declining since 1990, inputs of nitrogen and phosphorus were still above the European average in 2001 (SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2014, 2007). Nitrogen still exceeded (about double) the European average in 2012 while phosphorus decreased to around half of the European average. Agricultural land is relatively heterogeneous across Wallonia and mainly consists of cropland and grassland. Their spatial distribution is relatively heterogeneous. In the Loam region, most agricultural lands (three quarters) are intensive cropland whereas in the

Ardenne, Belgian Lorraine and Famenne ecoregions, most agricultural lands are grassland (up to 85% in the Ardenne). In the Condroz ecoregion, grassland and cropland share comparable areas.

Most of the forest cover in Wallonia is represented by either needle-leaved (44%) or broad-leaved forests (53%), the rest being classified as mixed forest (3%) (source: Top10VGIS). Needle-leaved forests – mainly located in the Ardenne – are intensively managed with the use of exotic species (mainly spruce (*Picea abies*) but also Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*), larches (*Larix* sp.), and pines (*Pinus sylvestris* and *P. nigra*)). These are conducted in even-aged stands with systematically clear-cuttings, and drainage infrastructure when located on wet soils. Broad-leaved forests – which, in contrast with needle-leaved forests, spread across Wallonia – are largely dominated by oaks (*Quercus robur* and *Q. petraea*) and beech (*Fagus sylvatica*). Other species such as birch (*Betula pendula*), ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*), and hornbeam (*Carpinus betulus*) are also present (Alderweireld et al., 2015).

5.2.2 Datasets

The variables used in this study and the datasets on which they are based are provided in Table 5-2. These variables are either response variables (biological water quality indices) or explanatory variables linked to LULC, physico-chemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures in upstream catchment, local morphology or elevation. These variables are described in sections 5.2.2.1 to 5.2.2.3.

Table 5-2. Response variables (i.e. biological water quality indices), explanatory variables used in this study and the basis datasets & source

TYPE OF VARIABLE	VARIABLE		UNIT	DATASET /SOURCE
Response variables				
Biological indices	Standardized Global Biological	IBGN-R	-	WPS – EU-WFD
	Index/reference value for the			monitoring
	corresponding river type Ratio			
	Specific Polluosensitivity	IPS-R	-	-
	Index/reference value for the			
	corresponding river type Ratio			
Explanatory variables				
LULC in upstream spatial	Forest, grassland/cropland cover		(%)	TOP10VGIS
unit				(NGI)
Physico-chemical water	Dissolved Oxygen	DO	(mg0 ₂ /l)	WPS – EU-WFD
quality	Dissolved Organic Carbon	DOC	(mgC/l)	monitoring
	Total phosphorus	ТР	(mgP/l)	-
	Ammonium	NH4	(mgN/l)	-
	Nitrites	NO ₂		
	Nitrates	NO ₃		

TYPE OF VARIABLE	VARIABLE		UNIT	DATASET /SOURCE
Physico-chemical water	pH	pН	-	WPS – EU-WFD
quality	Chloride	Cl	(mg/l)	monitoring
	Sulphate	SO ₄	(mg/l)	
	Suspended materials	SusMat	(mg/l)	
Anthropogenic pressures in	Population density		(Hab/km ²)	Stat Bel
upstream catchment	Agricultural cover		(%)	TOP10VGIS
				(NGI)
Local morphology	Channel width	CW	(m)	Extracted from WPS
	Emerged channel depth	ECD	(m)	LiDAR digital terrain
	Local sinuosity of the river sector	sin	(%)	model
	Catchment Area	Area	(km ²)	
Elevation	Average elevation of the upstream	Elev	(m)	WPS LiDAR digital
	catchment			terrain model

5.2.2.1 Biological and physico-chemical water quality

Biological and physico-chemical water quality are described by variables measured as part of the monitoring of water bodies quality performed by the WPS for the EU-WFD (SPW-DG03-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2016). Dahm et al. (2013) highlight the potential of broad datasets such as EU-member states 'water quality monitoring data and argue that those represent the European water bodies much better than restricted datasets from local studies and projects. Processing these datasets with appropriate methods offers an opportunity to study LULC impact on ecological integrity at different scales and combining various indicators types. We selected six vears of data (2009-2014) corresponding to the last EU-WFD cycle (data from 2015 were not validated yet). Biological water quality is described through annual values of the macroinvertebrates index and the diatoms index. The macroinvertebrates index is based on the French IGBN (i.e. "Standardized Global Biological Index") that was adapted to Wallonia (Vanden Bossche, 2005). The IBGN score, with a range from 0 (no indicator taxa) to 20, is obtained by crossing two sub-indices: the "faunal indicator group" reflecting pollution sensitivity and the taxonomic diversity class reflecting habitat quality. The index based on benthic diatoms is the IPS ["Specific Polluosensitivity Index", see Coste in CEMAGREF (1982)].

We selected all stations that monitor a headwater waterbody. The resulting dataset is composed of 319 measurements related to 173 stations spread across Wallonia (Figure 5-1 B and D). Stations represent different kinds of "control" type with regard to the EU-WFD. Indeed, stations are almost equally divided into "additional" and "operational" control corresponding to relatively 'good state' waterbodies and impacted waterbodies respectively. Surveillance station are also part of the dataset. Both biological water quality indices were divided by the reference value for the corresponding river type (SPW-DG03-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2016) to obtain comparable indices across the region (Kosuth et al., 2010). The obtained indices are further referred to as IBGN-R and IPS-R. The physico-chemical water quality is described by annual average values of the following variables: Dissolved Oxygen, Nitrates, Chloride, Sulfates, pH, Temperature, Total Phosphorus, Nitrites, Ammonium, Dissolved Organic Carbon and Suspended Materials. We applied Log- or square-based transformations when needed to improve normality of variables' distribution.

5.2.2.2 Land use and land cover data and pressures

We used the Top10VGIS land cover data set version of 2010 from the Belgian National Geographic Institute (NGI, www.ngi.be) to characterize the land cover influencing the water quality at the monitored station. This vector data set, which covers the whole of Belgium, is based on the NGI topogeographic data that classifies LULC into 37 classes. In this study, we reclassified it in six classes of interest by either keeping the original land cover classes as such or grouping them. The classes of interest are forest (i.e. needle-leaved, broad-leaved and mixed forest), cropland and grassland further grouped into agricultural land, artificial surfaces, water surfaces and shrubs-heathlands. We assumed as in other studies (Brogna et al., 2017a, 2017b) that the evolution of the retained classes in the region was minor throughout the studied period (2009-2014).

To relate the LULC to water quality, we intersected the Top10VGIS dataset with three distinct related upstream spatial units: riparian buffer, outside this buffer, and the whole catchment. To our knowledge in most of studies, authors use a fixed-distance buffer to study riparian LULC impact on water quality [e.g. (Boyer-Rechlin et al., 2016; de Oliveira et al., 2016; Marzin et al., 2013; Sliva and Dudley Williams, 2001; Sponseller et al., 2001). In this study, we treat channels of relatively contrasted morphology even within the same ecoregion and range of catchment sizes, and a similar buffer width might or might not represent the same riparian zone extent according to the riparian topography and the parameters of the associated river (channel size, hydrological regime). Hence, we based our definition of the riparian area on a regional geographic layer representing areas subject to flooding by overflowing for return periods of 25, 50 and 100 years (see "aléa *d'inondation"*, http://geoportail.wallonie.be). We selected the spatial area corresponding to the 100 years flooding which is a rather large delineation of the riparian zone. We believe this choice renders our riparian zone definition closer to its hydromorphological reality.

Regarding the catchment scale, we automatically extracted upstream catchments from a regional LiDAR digital terrain model (1 m GSD) provided by the WPS (see Figure 5-1 C, http://geoportail.wallonie.be). The most represented LULC classes in our dataset (see section 5.2.1) are forest and agricultural cover (grassland and/or cropland cover) (see boxplots in

Supplementary Materials Figures S1). The Loam region presents the lowest forest cover proportion in upstream catchments.

We computed population density in each upstream catchment based on a statistical administrative Belgian database from 2008 (Statistics Belgium, n.d.) to complement agriculture proportion and create a proxy matrix for anthropogenic pressure. Population density was computed for each statistic sector scale (smallest administrative spatial unit where population data are available). Then, density values were linked to sectors centroids to derive a spatial grid that was used to extract median density values for each upstream catchment.

5.2.2.3 Physical characteristics of stations and catchments

We used the regional LiDAR digital terrain model to compute average elevation over the catchments. We then computed three main local morphological parameters of the river network following the approach of Michez et al. (2017). We extracted from the same LIDAR digital terrain model and for every monitoring station, the channel width (m) and the emerged channel depth (m) associated to the corresponding river reach. We also computed the local sinuosity (%) of the upstream river sector associated to each station.

5.2.3 Spatial scales of analysis

Every analysis in the study was run over six different extents: at the regional (Wallonia) study scale and within each of the five ecoregions. This allows providing a general picture for the region and to analyze trends and differences across ecoregions. Regarding the forest cover explanation power of biological water quality, we tested it on two distinct upstream spatial units within each catchment: the functional riparian buffer and outside this buffer (Figure 5-2 left and centre). For the first analysis, we also performed analysis on the percentage of forest over the whole catchment (Figure 5-2, right) – third upstream spatial unit (section 5.2.4.1) to compare it with the percentage of forest outside the functional riparian buffer.



Figure 5-2. Upstream spatial units (grey). Left : functional riparian buffer; centre: outside the functional riparian buffer and right : whole catchment.

5.2.4 Forest cover link with biological water quality

We ran statistical multivariate analysis to fulfil the objectives of this study and exploit the potential of broad datasets such as EU-member states 'water quality monitoring. These are described in sections 5.2.4.1 to 5.2.4.3.

5.2.4.1 Functional riparian buffer or catchment scale?

We performed redundancy analysis [RDA, see Legendre and Legendre (2012c), R package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2017)] for the six extents and for the three upstream spatial units where forest cover was computed: functional riparian buffer, outside this buffer, and the whole catchment. Redundancy analysis is a multivariate analysis that allows capturing the linear relationship between several dependent variables and one or several explanatory variables. In this case, RDA quantifies the percentage of biological water quality variability explained by forest cover proportion. RDA also allows quantifying and excluding the variability explained by other covariates. We ran these RDA on centered and scaled variables because of the heterogeneity of the variables units.

```
Bio WQ ~ Forest (Equation type 1)
```

where Bio WQ = matrix of biological water quality indices (i.e. IBGN-R and IPS-R), and Forest = percentage of forest cover in the upstream spatial unit.

Following results interpretation, complementary RDA will be ran to quantify the explanation power of main LULC types' proportions inside and outside the functional riparian buffer on biological water quality.

5.2.4.2 Forest cover explanation power when controlling for spatial autocorrelation, local morphology and population pressure

We tested the impact of several variables or group of variables on the forest cover explanation power by putting them as covariate in RDA's. As in Brogna et al. (2017a), we tested the effect of elevation as a mean of controlling spatial autocorrelation (Equation type 2, with covariate being average elevation of the upstream catchment). We present these results for the six extents even though this is especially true at the Walloon regional scale. Indeed, a strong continuous ecological gradient exists in Belgium and is highly correlated to elevation (Dufrene and Legendre, 1991; A Noirfalise, 1988). Dufrêne and Legendre (1991) showed that elevation, although not exceeding 700 m in Belgium, explains almost all the geographic structure of several ecological variables given their spatial autocorrelation.

Bio WQ ~ Forest + Condition(*Covariate*) (Equation type 2)

where Bio WQ = matrix of biological water quality indices (i.e. IBGN-R and IPS-R), Forest = percentage of forest cover in the upstream spatial unit, and 'Covariate' = variable whose effect on Bio WQ is removed before quantifying the forest cover effect.

We also tested the effect of local morphology by putting the following variables as covariates (Equation type 2): sinuosity of the river sector associated to the station, local channel width, emerged channel depth and upstream catchment area. Following interpretation of these results, significant covariates will be kept for further analysis (section 5.2.4.3). Finally, we tested the effect of population density in the same way.

These tests allow deepening the interpretation of the forest cover link even effect on water quality.
5.2.4.3 Forest cover: Independent and shared explanation power with anthropogenic pressures and physico-chemical water quality

We ran variation partitioning (Legendre and Legendre, 2012c) to quantify independent and shared forest cover explanation power with physicochemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures and other potentially relevant covariates from the analysis described in section 5.2.4.2. We computed adjusted redundancy statistics R² to provide unbiased estimates of the explained fractions of variance (Peres-Neto et al., 2006). Anthropogenic pressures are represented by the proportion of agricultural land and the population density in the upstream catchment. Given the high correlation between physico-chemical water quality variables, we reduced information by selecting, for each extent of study, the two variables most post-correlated with the first and second axes of a PCA on biological water quality, respectively. Results of variation partitioning are only presented for variables linked to significant individual and partial RDA models (i.e. p value < 0.05). Furthermore, we illustrated the link between explanatory variables (physicochemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures and local morphology variables) and biological water quality through Principal Component Analysis (PCA) on biological variables and post-correlations.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 **Functional riparian buffer or catchment scale?**

Figure 5-3 shows differences in forest cover impact on biological water quality according to the three distinct upstream spatial units were forest cover is computed. Figures represent the proportion of variability in the biological water quality dataset explained by forest cover proportion. We do not present the Famenne ecoregion results, as the models were not significant (evaluation with permutation tests) (see further details in Table 5-4). Forest cover explains around a third of the biological water quality variability in Wallonia. The forest cover link with biological water quality is far more demonstrated in the Belgian Lorraine (around 70% of explained variability). Figure 5-3 also illustrates that the proportions of variability explained by proportion of forest cover in the whole catchment and in the

area outside the functional riparian buffer are highly similar. Hence, to ease the reading and work on spatially independent areas (i.e. non overlapping areas), we will only keep the following upstream spatial units for further analyses: inside the functional riparian buffer and outside it.

In Wallonia and for every ecoregion but the Loam region, the forest cover proportion in the area outside the functional riparian buffer slightly better explains the biological water quality than the proportion of forest cover in the functional riparian buffer.



Figure 5-3. Biological water quality variability explained (redundancy analysis) by forest cover proportion in three upstream spatial units: Functional riparian buffer, outside this buffer (Outside Fun Rip Buf) and in the whole catchment. Results from significant models for Wallonia scale and in ecoregions.

The Loam region shows distinctive results compared to the other ecoregions. Therefore, we provide complementary analyses results in Table 5-3 to refine the interpretation of the forest cover link with biological water quality in this ecoregion. This table presents details of RDA results quantifying biological water quality variability explained by forest, cropland and grassland cover respectively. We distinguished between cropland and grassland as their distribution is variable according to the upstream spatial unit considered (see Figure S1 B in supplementary materials). Results compare riparian forest cover and forest cover outside riparian buffer. F value and significance of the models from permutation tests are also provided.

Table 5-3. Redundancy analysis results for the Loam region: biological water quality (IBGN-R and IPS-R) variability (%) explained by proportion of forest, cropland and grassland cover in functional riparian buffer and outside this buffer. F value and models significance from permutation tests (correspondence with p value s: 0 '***' 0.001 '*' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1)

Scale where proportion of LULC	LULC	Variability explained (%)	F	Model Significance
	Forest	21	20	***
Functional Riparian Buffer	Cropland	11	9	**
	Grassland	4	3	
	Forest	7	6	**
Outside Functional Riparian Buffer	Cropland	3	2	Non sign
	Grassland	4	3	

Forest cover proportion inside the riparian buffer explains around 21% of the biological water quality variability in the Loam region with a highly significant model (p value of 0.001). Cropland explain 11% while grassland cover explains only 4% with a barely significant model (p value between 0.05 and 0.1). Regarding LULC outside the functional riparian buffer, results show that forest cover explains 7% of the water quality variability and is the only significant model. Indeed, cropland-based model is non significant and the grassland one is again at the limit of model significance.

5.3.2 Forest cover explanation power when controlling for spatial autocorrelation, local morphology and population pressure

Details of RDA results quantifying forest cover explanation power of biological water quality with or without covariate for the six extents are presented in Table 5-4. Results compare functional riparian forest cover and forest cover outside this buffer link with biological water quality. F value and significance of the models from permutation tests are also provided. Figure 5-4 presents the global trend, found in every model, through the regional forest cover – computed outside the riparian buffer – link with biological water quality when controlling for spatial autocorrelation through elevation. The factorial plan is constituted by the constrained axis (RDA1) and the first residual axis (PC1).

Table 5-4. Redundancy analysis results: biological water quality (IBGN-R and IPS-R) variability (%) explained by proportion of forest cover in functional riparian buffer and outside this buffer respectively. Results for Wallonia and ecoregions. Variability explained without removing any effect (Equation 1) and when removing Elevation, Local morphology or Population density effects (Equation type 2). F value and models significance from permutation tests (correspondence with p values: 0 '***' 0.001 '*' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1)

			No Covariate		Covariate : Elevation		Covariate : Local Morphology			Covariate : Population density					
Region	n stations	n obs	Scale where proportion of forest	Variability explained (%)	F	Model Significance	Variability explained (%)	F	Model Significance	Variability explained (%)	F	Model Significance	Variability explained (%)	F	Model Significance
Wallonia 1	173	319	Functional Riparian Buffer	29.2	131	***	11.7	66	***	28.9	138	***	19.0	91	***
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	38.1	195	***	13.0	75	***	36.8	200	***	26.9	146	***
Loam 44 region	79	Functional Riparian Buffer	20.9	20	***	18.6	18	***	12.7	12	***	16.4	18	***	
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	7.3	6	**	8.0	7	**	7.3	7	**	7.9	8	**
Ardenne 62	62	123	Functional Riparian Buffer	20.5	31	***	23.7	38	***	17.1	30	***	14.6	23	***
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	23.6	37	***	26.7	44	***	19.8	36	***	17.3	29	***
Condroz	39	71	Functional Riparian Buffer	8.6	7	*	6.7	5	*	14.8	13	***	6.0	6	*
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	10.9	8	**	8.7	7	**	14.3	13	***	8.9	9	**
Belgian Lorraine	10	15	Functional Riparian Buffer	67.7	27	***	60.3	23	***	53.7	35	**	42.0	22	***
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	73.7	36	***	65.2	30	***	54.6	39	***	43.3	24	***
Famenne	18	31	Functional Riparian Buffer	4.4	1	NON SIGN	3.4	1	NON SIGN	2.0	1	NON SIGN	2.3	1	0.452
			Outside Fun Rip Buf	5.6	2	NON SIGN	7.7	2	NON SIGN	1.9	1	NON SIGN	0.9	0	0.759



Figure 5-4: RDA results showing the link between forest cover and biological water quality indices (IBGN-R and IPS-R). X-axis represents the constrained axis and y-axis, the first residual component. (A) Variables correlation circle plot, (B) Individuals plot sorted per ecoregion.

Forest cover is systematically related to higher biological water quality whether for diatoms index (IPS-R) or macroinvertebrates index (IBGN-R) (see e.g. Figure 5-4). When controlling for spatial autocorrelation through the elevation factor at the Walloon scale, the biological water quality variability explained by forest cover drops from 31 to 13% and from 39 to 14% if computed in the functional riparian buffer or outside this buffer respectively. Elevation effect is, as expected, less important within the ecoregions as these are more homogeneous in terms of elevation and ecological factors. The local morphology impact on forest cover explanation power of biological water quality is small or even negligible at the Walloon scale and for the Ardenne and Condroz ecoregions. For the latter, removing morphological effect even increases the proportion of variability explained by forest cover. This increase is due to the fact that removing covariates effect might also remove part of the residual variability, hence enhancing the proportion of variability explained by the active variable. The situation is different in the Belgian Lorraine where removing local morphology effect decreases the proportion of variability explained by forest cover by 14 and 19 % when forest cover is computed in the functional riparian buffer or outside this buffer respectively. Despite this, Belgian Lorraine remains the ecoregion where forest cover best explains biological water quality. Population density effect on the relationships between forest cover and biological water quality is at every extent relatively important. Indeed, it reduces the proportion explained by forest cover (outside the functional riparian buffer) from around one third of its importance at the Wallonia scale, in the Ardenne and Belgian Lorraine and slightly less in the Condroz. Model in the Famenne ecoregion are nonsignificant.

5.3.3 Forest cover: Independent and shared explanation power with anthropogenic pressures and physicochemical water quality

This subsection presents results from variation partitioning computed to isolate independent and shared explanatory power of the biological water quality between: (i) forest cover computed in or outside the functional riparian buffer according to the strength of the link with biological water quality (cf. Figure 5-3), (ii) anthropogenic pressures represented by population density and agricultural proportion in the catchment and (iii)

physico-chemical water quality. Following the analyses presented in previous sections, we added local morphology variables when relevant (i.e. for the Loam region and Belgian Lorraine region). Derived plots are presented in Figure 5-5. Figures inside each subspace are positively adjusted coefficients of determination (expressed in percentage) and represent the variability explained by each subspace. Results for every study scale are presented except for the Famenne ecoregion where models are not significant. Biological water quality dataset PCA biplots with – as supplementary variables –each potential variable in this variation partitioning analysis are provided in supplementary materials (Figure S2).



Figure 5-5 (here Wallonia, next page, ecoregions). Venn diagrams of the biological water quality variance partitioning into proportion of forest cover in the functional riparian buffer (Forest Fun buf) or outside the functional riparian buffer (Forest Out Fun Buf), physico-chemical water quality (PC), local morphology variables and anthropogenic pressures: proportion of agricultural land and population density in the catchment. Figures are positively adjusted coefficients of determination (expressed in percentage) and represent the variability explained by each subspace being either a single variable or shared effect between two or more variables



- 128 -

All models explain a relatively high proportion of biological water quality variability revealing that most factors driving water quality (or correlated to them) are considered. Models for the Belgian Lorraine and Loam region better explain biological water quality variability (13 and 29% residuals respectively) whereas residuals are higher at the regional scale (36%) and for the Condroz or Ardenne regions (41% and 50% respectively).

As shown on Figure 5-5, physico-chemical water quality explains on its own relatively high proportions of biological water quality variability: 40% in the Loam region, 19% in the Ardenne, 17% in the Condroz and 13% at the regional scale.

PCA analysis (see details in supplementary materials, Figure S2) shows that both IBGN-R and IPS-R are systematically opposed on the first PC to total phosphorus, ammonium, sulfates, nitrites, suspended materials, chloride, dissolved organic carbon, water temperature, and anthropogenic pressures. This is true in every extent specific case except for the Loam region and the Famenne where agricultural cover is not correlated with this first axe while population density is negatively correlated with high water quality indices values. Analysis across this first PCA component also shows that high biological water quality is systematically positively correlated with dissolved oxygen and forest cover proportion inside or outside the functional riparian buffer. Nitrates in most of situations are correlated with low biological water quality except for the Loam region and – to a lesser extent – for the Condroz ecoregion. The second axis, which represents the differences between diatoms and macroinvertebrates, explains far less than the first component.

Forest cover explanation of biological water quality is often shared (i.e. is inseparable) with physico-chemical water quality and anthropogenic pressures (Figure 5-5). This is especially true in Wallonia, Ardenne and Belgian Lorraine whereas this effect is in some cases proven to be relatively independent from anthropogenic pressures such as in the Condroz and Loam region.

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 **Preamble: forest cover in this study**

In order to fulfil this study objectives, we chose to study the "forest cover" through a proportion of forest cover in upstream catchment or functional riparian buffer. Forest cover in this study includes various forests in terms of management, stand age, tree density, species combination, local conditions. Furthermore, studied catchments are what we can call "real-life" catchments with mixed land covers – with high variability that we exploit through statistical analyses – and various local conditions that we discuss and attempt to control in the same analyses (trough e.g. the ecoregion scale analysis). This renders results sometimes more difficult to interpret but also more linked to the landscape scale and therefore more connected to land planning.

5.4.2 Forest cover link with biological water quality

Several insights were derived while addressing the main objective of this paper being: at the regional scale and across five natural ecoregions, to quantify the forest cover effect on biological water quality indices at the catchment and functional riparian scales. First, forest cover is systematically related to higher biological water quality described by diatoms and macro-invertebrates community-based indexes. This is true no matter the extent of study. This is interesting as we study relatively heterogeneous LULC distributions, and in particular, regarding distributions of cropland and grassland covers. This finding corroborates studies associating forest cover with higher biological water quality (contrasting with agriculture and urban LULC) (Dahm et al., 2013; Ding et al., 2013; Kosuth et al., 2010; Theodoropoulos et al., 2015). However, comparing studies in detail is tricky as scales of LULC characterisation, selected biological indices and control variables are often study specific.

Regarding the scale at which forest cover within stream catchments most influences stream water quality, results vary according the extent of study. Main trend – i.e. in Wallonia and for every ecoregion but the Loam region – is that the forest cover proportion in the area outside the functional riparian buffer slightly better explains the biological water quality than the proportion

of forest cover in the functional riparian buffer. This trend is in line with several studies highlighting that catchment-wide disturbances are the most influential determinants of river ecological quality (Allan, 2004; Clapcott et al., 2012; Dahm et al., 2013; Marzin et al., 2012, 2013; Stephenson and Morin, 2009).

Regarding the quantification and significance of the forest cover link with biological water quality, results show that forest cover - considered alone explains around one third of the biological water quality at the regional scale and from 15 to 70% depending on the ecoregion studied. The Belgian Lorraine - were this link is the most demonstrated - is characterised by highly contrasted catchments and a relatively high biological water quality variation. Removing the influence of spatial autocorrelation and ecological factors decreases, at the Walloon scale, the biological water quality variability explained by forest cover from 31 to 13% and from 39 to 14% if computed in the functional riparian buffer or outside this buffer respectively. This result is similar with the quantitative assessment of forest cover effect on physicochemical water quality in Wallonia (Brogna et al., 2017a). Intra-ecoregion effect of elevation is, as expected, less important within the ecoregions as these are more homogeneous in that respect. Local morphology impact on forest cover explanation power of biological water quality is diverse according to the extent of study. Indeed, it is small or even negligible at the Walloon scale and for the Ardenne and Condroz ecoregions whereas it is more important in the Belgian Lorraine. The important effect in this ecoregion can be explained by the highly contrasted morphological profiles of local rivers. Population density effect on the relationships between forest cover and biological water quality is at every extent relatively important, reducing the proportion explained by forest cover (outside functional riparian buffer) from around one third at the Wallonia scale, in the Ardenne and Belgian Lorraine and slightly less in the Condroz. Non-significance of any model in the Famenne ecoregion might be due to the complexity of water flows through the limestone subsoil.

Quantification of independent and shared explanation power of biological water quality between forest cover and the physico-chemical water quality, anthropogenic pressures (agriculture and population density) and local morphology reveals that physico-chemical water quality explains on its own relatively high proportions of biological water quality variability. This finding is in line with Dahm et al. (2013)'results identifying physico-chemical water quality as one of the main discriminating factor of biological water quality. This renders interpretation even more complex as physico-chemical water quality has been proven to be linked to LULC and forest in particular (Brogna et al., 2017a). This is also in line with the nutrient enrichment shown in European studies and in Wallonia [e.g. European Environment Agency (2012) or SPW-DG03-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental (2014)]. Our study also highlights that forest cover explanation of biological water quality is often inseparable from physico-chemical water quality and anthropogenic pressures. However, it is in some cases interestingly proven to be relatively independent from anthropogenic pressures such as in the Condroz and Loam region. In the Loam region, complementary analysis shows that the proportion of agricultural land (i.e. grassland and cropland) at the catchment scale is not proven to have any link (RDA models are non-significant, p>0.05) with biological water quality whereas forest cover is at any spatial upstream unit scale. This finding is interesting in terms of land planning. Indeed, the fact that forests are mostly present in the functional riparian buffer in this ecoregion while relatively absent in the rest of the catchments combined with agricultural models being non-significant at the catchment scale let us believe that the computed forest link with biological water quality represents a "real" forest effect. Furthermore, study of the functional riparian buffer LULC explanation power of water quality revealed that only cropland cover model was significant (i.e. not grassland cover, p>0.05) and explained a twice-lower proportion of variability than forest cover. Non significance of grassland cover effect model could be linked to the existing diversity of management. Indeed, some grassland are enriched with Nitrogen, Phosphorus and Potassium while other are not. Cattle grazing pressure might also influence water quality through fine sediments transfer to the stream.

Consequently, in these catchments, riparian forests should be protected because of their positive effect on biological water quality. This is in line with Tran et al. findings (2010) showing a stronger correlation between LULC and stream water quality at the 200-m riparian buffer than that of the watershed. These authors also suggest that the presence of a riparian buffer zone between streams and agricultural and urban areas might reduce contamination from non-point source pollution. On the other hand, the fact that we did not detect this preponderance of a riparian effect in the other ecoregions and at the regional scale suggests, as Stephenson and Morin (2009) or Harding et al. (1998) noted in their study, that maintenance or preservation of habitat fragments in the riparian zone will not be sufficient to preserve ecological instream quality from catchment-wide impacts. Rather, this requires protection measures at the catchment scale.

5.4.3 Limitation, strengths of the study and perspectives

Some limitations of this study should be pointed out. First, the approach hardly allows for quantitatively isolating a potentially "active" effect of forest cover (i.e., water purification *per se*) from a "passive" one directly linked to the degree of pressure of other LULC on water quality. Then, we chose to describe biological water quality through integrated indices used in the waterbody quality assessment in the EU-WFD context. These indices are designed to be as comparable as possible between regions and are simplified indicators. This limits the analysis' sharpness and using other information as biological traits could fine tune the analysis (Mondy and Usseglio-Polatera, 2013). In particular, as forest cover link with physico-chemical and biological water quality has been established in this study and in Brogna et al. (2017a), further studies could concentrate on biological traits in order to detail the forest cover impact on ecological processes of macroinvertebrates communities and eventually highlight trees species and management effects. However, we believe that the biological indices used in this study given their diversity (based on diatoms and macroinvertebrates communities) and their integrative character (of physical, chemical river quality status) are relevant to fulfil our study objectives.

We believe this study present the following strengths: (i) it is based on a relatively large public monitoring network data linked to the EU-WFD and thus monitored across Europe which makes it rather easily replicable in other European contexts, (ii) the database covers contrasted 'real-life' and heterogeneous catchments in Wallonia making the conclusions of this study more general, (iii) this study integrates physico-chemical and biological indices allowing to quantify the strong relationship between them, (iv) the different study extents (i.e. regional and sub-regional) allow to assess main regional trends and strengthen results while nuancing them according to local characteristics.

5.5 Conclusion

The main objective of this study was to quantify the forest cover link with biological water quality indices (macroinvertebrates and diatoms) at the riparian and catchment scales. This analysis was conducted for the entire Walloon region and across five natural ecoregions. Main results show that forest cover – considered alone – explains around 30% of the biological water quality at the regional scale and from 15 to 70% across ecoregions. Furthermore, it is systematically positively correlated with higher biological water quality. When modulating this explanation power by spatial, local morphological variations, or population density, it is still above 10%. Partitioning variance shows that physico-chemical water quality is one of the main drivers of biological water quality and that anthropogenic pressures often explain an important part of biological water quality. The proportion of forest cover in each catchment at the regional scale and across every ecoregions except for the Loam region is more positively correlated with high water quality than similar analyses considering the proportion of forest cover in the riparian zones only. This suggests that catchment-wide impacts and a fortiori catchment-wide protection measures are the main drivers of river ecological water quality. Distinctive results from the agricultural and highly human impacted Loam region showed that remaining riparian forests have a positive impact on water quality and should therefore be preserved. However, as waterbodies are below 'good status' overall in this ecoregion, this is not sufficient to restore good ecological instream quality. On the other hand, this preponderance of a riparian forest cover link with biological water quality was not found in the other ecoregions and at the regional scale suggesting that protection measures at the catchment scale are required.

Supplementary Materials:

S1: LULC proportion outside and in the functional riparian buffer at the regional scale

(A) Wallonia





(B) Loam region





(C) Condroz

Oustide functional riparian buffer





(D) Ardenne





(E) Belgian Lorraine

Oustide functional riparian buffer



Functional riparian buffer



(E) Famenne



Figure S1: LULC proportion outside and in the functional riparian buffer at the regional scale (A) Wallonia and in the five ecoregions: (B) Loam region, (C) Condroz, (D) Ardenne, (E) Belgian Lorraine and (F) Famenne. With F : forest, NL needle-leaved, BL broad-leaved and S : surfaces.

S2: Biological PCA biplot in Wallonia and the 5 ecoregions with physico-chemical variables, anthropogenic pressures variables, local morphology variables and elevation as supplementary variables









Belgian Lorraine





Figure S2: Biological PCA biplot in Wallonia and the 5 ecoregions with physicochemical variables, anthropogenic pressures variables, local morphology variables and elevation as supplementary variables; with [Biological variables] IBGN macroinvertebrates index, IPS : diatoms index; [Physico-chemical variables] D0: Dissolved Oxygen, NO3: Nitrates, Cl: Chloride, SO4: Sulfates, TP: Total Phosphorus, NO2: Nitrites, NH4: Ammonium, DOC: Dissolved Organic Carbon, SusMat : Suspended Materials, [Anthropogenic Pressures] : Agr_Cat: proportion of agricultural land, PopDen: population density, [Local morphology variables] : Sin :sinuosity, ECD: emerged channel depth, Area : upstream catchment area, and Elev: elevation

This section is structured as follows: first, main results of the studies detailed in Chapters 3, 4 and 5 are synthetically presented and discussed. Second, contributions to the ES concept are presented. Then, insights for land management are suggested and finally, limitations of the study are discussed and perspectives suggested.

6.1 Preamble: on methodological objectives and forest cover in this study

As a reminder, transversal methodological objectives and work assumptions (see section 1.5) played a significant role in shaping this research. In particular, methodological objectives were: to produce easily replicable methods and to aim at broadening the scope of the research's findings in order to provide practical insight for land planning purposes.

In order to fulfil these methodological objectives along with the thematic ones, we chose to work at the catchment scale and study "**forest cover**" through a **proportion of forest cover in the upstream catchment**. This implies that we study various forests in terms of management, stand age, tree density, species combination, local conditions. Furthermore, studied catchments are what we called "real-life" catchments with mixed land covers – with high variability that we exploit through statistical analyses – and various local conditions that we discuss and attempt to control in the same analyses.

The first methodological objective was fulfilled through the development of methods based on, in principle, easily accessible public data monitored in many other European countries [whether regarding water quantity (discharges) or water quality (monitoring measures in the EU-WFD framework)]. Also, statistical methods were used to capture complexity in a robust and relatively simple way and to analyse large and highly variable sets of data. Second, to aim at a broad scope of the research's findings, we analysed "real-life" catchments (vs. small controlled pure LULC catchments) datasets with statistical methods. These catchments range from a few to hundreds km² and comprise mixed land covers. Choosing relatively large spatial extents of

study (sub-regional to regional) and datasets (from 22 to 362 catchments) is a work assumption that better fits land planning processes that occur at similar scales, and allows deriving trends notably because of the variety of studied catchments (size, LULC combination, etc.). Finally, working at the ecoregional scale (Chapter 3), regional scale (Chapter 4 and 5) and distinguishing inter-ecoregion variability and common trends (Chapter 5) allowed to be more confident in the generalizability of some results. These characteristics of developed methods, mainly working at a complex landscape scale, sometimes render the interpretation more difficult. Study limitations and research perspectives are discussed further in this section.

6.2 Impact of forest cover on water related ES and attributes

6.2.1 Water quantity & timing

6.2.1.1 Instream water supply

The ES of instream water supply, studied in terms of quantity and timing (Chapter 3), was approached through three hydrological regime indicators: the specific volume, the baseflow index and the specific discharge exceeded 95% of time.

Multiple linear regression models taking into account rainfall, year effect, and land cover independent variables explain a significant part of the specific water volume (R² of around 0.70). According to our findings, **forest cover is negatively correlated with annual specific volume in our study area**. This negative link is in line with numerous studies that observed through paired-catchments designs a decrease in annual water yield when afforestation is operated or an increase in annual water yield when land covers such as grasslands are implemented in place of forests (Bosch and Hewlett, 1982; Brown et al., 2005). This can be explained by higher evapotranspiration rates of forest compared to lower vegetation as grass or arable land (Amatya et al., 2016; Granier, 2007; Office National des Forêts, 1999; Zhang et al., 2001). We believe this link is also partially explained by the location of the catchments. In our dataset, the catchments with low proportion of forest cover are located on higher zones being classified by Van

der Perre et al. (2015) into the "Cold Ardenne" bioclimatic class (comprising the "High Ardenne" – Annual mean temperature of 7.7°C – and a part of the "Mean Ardenne"), while catchments with high forest cover proportion are located into the "Warm Ardenne" (comprising the "Low Ardenne" and a part of the "Mean Ardenne", Annual mean temperature of 8.7°C). We therefore assume that temperature could also be part of and reinforce this effect of forest reducing more specific volume through potentially higher evapotranspiration rates than in lower vegetation.

We assessed the effect of forest type by testing the significance of a synthetic variable of LULC (second PC of LULC variables) on hydrological variables. Interpretation must again take into account that we compare mixed land covers with a more or less important gradient in forest cover (and other LULC) proportion. High values of this synthetic variable represent catchments with high needle-leaved forests proportion located on higher elevations and on soils with lower infiltration capacity and steeper slopes. whereas small values of this variable represent broad-leaved forests- in association with relatively high percentage of needle-leaved forests - and to a lesser degree, cropland on soils with better infiltration capacity (Figure 3-5). Infiltration capacity map takes into account soil texture, drainage characteristics, substratum and, when appropriate, percentage of stoniness (Demarcin et al., 2011). A significant positive link between this synthetic LULC variable and specific volume is demonstrated. We would expect the reverse, i.e. a higher annual and non-growing period water consumption from needle-leaved species, from the processes knowledge and experiments review in the literature (Nisbet, 2005). We interpret this by assuming that local site conditions (soil types, topography) have a major impact on **specific volume** (soils with low infiltration capacity and on steeper slopes being correlated with higher specific volume) reinforced by the management option (type of forests) especially when needle leaved forests on soils with bad natural drainage are artificially drained.

Despite the negative link between forest cover and the magnitude of streamflow, **this study shows a significant positive link between forest cover in low flows** and the specific discharge exceeded 95% of the time, annually and during the growing season. This could be a sign of a positive effect of forest on water supply in low flows conditions which could be explained by higher infiltration rates in forest soils (Calder, 2002). However, this is in opposition with the expected higher evapotranspiration rates in

forests. This positive link between forest cover and the magnitude of streamflow in low flows is of extreme importance regarding riparian and aquatic habitat provision. This can also be directly linked to a positive impact on water quality as water dilutes nutrients and pollutants but also decreases stream temperature. However, as this result is opposed to the general effect of forest on water yield (i.e. specific volume indicator) and represents a real potential of positive effect of forest on instream water quantity in low flows, we recommend further research focusing of low flow periods to confirm this result.

Multiple linear models of baseflow index, which represents the way water infiltrates into the soil and returns to the stream, have low explanation potential. This testifies the **importance of other factors than land cover in** explaining baseflow such as highlighted by Price (2011). These factors are notably surface, subsurface topography and soil characteristics. Geology, one of the main factors influencing BFI, was, at least partially, controlled by the delineation of study area. Furthermore, in these models no significant link between forest and BFI is shown whether annually or during the growing period. Literature review does not provide us with strong assumptions of what we would expect in an "ideal" experimentation comparing numerous catchments while controlling other factors than land cover. Indeed some studies show a positive effect of forest on this indicator in accordance with the better infiltration capacity of forested soils (Bruijnzeel, 2004; Price et al., 2011), while others show the reverse effect linked to higher evapotranspiration rates (Hicks et al., 1991). Furthermore the differential impacts of forests compared to grasslands are less clear than with other land covers such as conventional crops regarding vegetation (Granier, 2007) and, obviously, artificial surfaces.

6.2.1.2 Water damage mitigation: flood protection

The ES of flood protection was approached through two hydrological indicators: the specific discharge exceeded 5% of time ($Q_{05}s$) and the flashiness index (FI). These hydrological variables are reversely linked to the flood protection ecosystem service. Regarding the specific Q_{05} , interestingly and unlike for low flow discharge as discussed above, we do not observe any positive significant link between forest and this indicator whether annually of during the growing period. Rather, we observe a slightly significant

negative link during the non-growing period. The flashiness index which is the ratio of the 95th (i.e. $Q_{05}s$) by the 5th percentile (i.e. $Q_{95}s$) of specific discharge is negatively linked with forest cover which is a sign of the relative stability of the hydrological regime in forested catchments. This can be translated into a **positive link between forest and the flood protection ES**. However, further studies regarding the effect of forest cover on flood protection ES are necessary to deepen the knowledge initiated in the present study. Indeed, working at large spatial and temporal scales and especially on aggregated statistical discharges values rather than rainfall event is surely responsible for dampening effects. A better understanding of the underlying processes is also necessary to refine the interpretation.

6.2.1.3 Timing effect: Assessing the temporal distribution of flows

We tested the effect of timing (i.e. seasonal distribution of flows) of the instream water supply and flood protection by testing all models for annual values and seasonal values, i.e. April-September– for what we called the "growing period" – and October-March, the "non-growing period".

One main trend can be drawn: when variables are significant, developing a **seasonal model or the annual model does not change the direction of effect of the variable.** Variables linked to LULC were overall most significant in annual models than seasonal.

6.2.1.4 Main drivers of the ecosystem services of instream water supply and flood protection

Multiple linear regression allowed testing for the effect of forest on the ES of instream water supply and flood protection in terms of quantity and timing but also revealed the importance of other environmental variables. Overall, rainfall has a strong highly significant positive impact on water supply whether on total volume or in extreme conditions, and a logical strong negative impact on the BFI. Rainfall remains as expected a main driver of **the streamflow**. The "year" effect has a highly significant impact on each of the five hydrological indicators studied. We assume that this effect is a combination of several factors such as climate variables and, notably, temperature conditions (through its impact on potential evapotranspiration).

6.2.2 Water quality

6.2.2.1 Physico-chemical water quality

The study assessing the link between forest cover and physico-chemical water quality data at the regional scale allows drawing relatively clear conclusions (Chapter 4). The analysis of sub-catchment's LULC and the legal water quality status of streams shows that **sub-catchments with higher forest cover tend to achieve "good status" over the studied decade more often than sub-catchments with high cropland and/or grassland covers.** This is especially true for nitrogenous material and testifies that, despite the decrease in N input in agriculture since 1990, the EU-WFD target of "good status" is not yet fully reached. Sub-catchments with high grassland and cropland covers are also far more polluted with phosphorus than forested sub-catchments. Nevertheless, sites with good phosphorus status are more frequent than those with a good status in terms of nitrogenous materials.

Several insights can be derived from the quantitative assessment of the link between forest cover and water quality variables. First, river size did not significantly affect the statistical relationship between LULC and water quality data. This allows using data from the entire monitoring network, with a high diversity of catchment sizes and thus discharges. This also justifies the use of concentrations instead of loads, unlike some authors such as de Oliveira et al. (2016) suggest. This renders the methodology less complex and more easily replicable on such large numbers of sampling stations. Seasonal and between-year effects on the relationship between forest cover and physico-chemical water quality were insignificant across the full decade. This entails that the link between LULC and water quality reflects a background "multi-pollutants" load that can be considered as temporally stable. A potential seasonal effect as observed in other studies on particular relationships between particular variables and LULC (Álvarez-Cabria et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2016) might have been mitigated as the developed method treats several water quality variables together and as seasonal values are averaged values.

Analysis of the aggregated dataset over the studied decade showed that forest cover explains one third of the median water quality variability. Using elevation effect as a proxy for various environmental variables and as a mean for controlling spatial autocorrelation, we demonstrated an independent forest effect of 9.3%. Specifically, in this densely populated region with highly managed landscapes and forests, **sub-catchments with high forest cover** and with lower agriculture and grassland cover, **provide water with higher oxygen availability and lower concentrations of Ammonium, Nitrites, Nitrates, Total Phosphorus, Sulfates and Chloride and Dissolved Organic Carbon**. This is confirming previous findings and reinforcing papers stating that forest cover is associated with higher water quality (Fiquepron et al., 2013; Łowicki, 2012; Tong and Chen, 2002). This is probably partially due the "active" effect of forests that is underpinned by the protection against erosion resulting in water with less sediments and fewer nutrients and the nutrients filtration (Neary et al., 2009; TEEB, 2010). This is also due to the forest "passive" effect with lower anthropogenic pressure and nutrients loads on forest cover compared to agricultural and urban land uses.

Quantification of the partial effect of forest cover types (i.e., needle-leaved and broadleaved forests) on water quality and shared effects with other LULC and environmental variables represented by the elevation variable confirms a **clear effect**, independent from elevation, **of broad-leaved forest cover on water quality** (11%). The important effects of needle-leaved forest (29%) and cropland cover (39%) are largely shared with elevation and can therefore not be proven as independent effects. Indeed, a high proportion of water quality variability (21%) is shared between needle-leaved forest cover, cropland cover and elevation. Part of this variability is probably linked to the effect of forest cover but cannot be attributed to it with confidence.

6.2.2.2 Biological water quality

'Riparian forest' vs 'forest in the catchment' effect

In this study, we described biological water quality by two indices based on diatoms (IPS, "Specific Polluosensitivity Index") and macroinvertebrates (IBGN, "Standardized Global Biological Index") communities. Results show that **in Wallonia and for every ecoregion except for the Loam region, the forest cover proportion in the catchment** or in the area outside the functional riparian buffer **slightly better explains the biological water quality than the proportion of forest cover in the functional riparian buffer**. This trend is in line with several studies highlighting that catchmentwide disturbances are the most influential determinants of river ecological quality (Allan, 2004; Clapcott et al., 2012; Dahm et al., 2013; Marzin et al., 2012, 2013; Stephenson and Morin, 2009).

Forest cover effect on biological water quality

Forest cover is systematically related to higher values of both studied indices describing biological water quality (IPS-R and IBGN-R), corroborating studies associating forest cover with higher biological water quality (contrasting with agriculture and urban LULC) (Dahm et al., 2013; Ding et al., 2013; Kosuth et al., 2010; Theodoropoulos et al., 2015). At the regional scale, forest cover explains a third of the variance in biological water quality (indicators), and around 13% when controlling for spatial autocorrelation. This result is similar to the quantitative assessment of forest cover effect on physicochemical water quality (see Chapter 4). Local morphology – approached through the sinuosity and the width of the local channel, emerged channel depth and upstream catchment area – impact on forest cover effect is small or even negligible at the regional scale and for the Ardenne and Condroz ecoregions. In the Belgian Lorraine or Loam ecoregions, the morphology effect is slightly more important. This can be explained by the contrasted morphological profiles of local rivers in the case of Belgian Lorraine. In the Loam region, comparing catchments' morphological characteristics with their proportion of riparian forest proportion reveals that catchments where some riparian forest remains have higher sinuosity and lower emerged channel depth. This trend has been highlighted by the characterization of riparian areas in Wallonia by Michez et al. (2017). Indeed, these authors demonstrate that forested riparian areas are associated with river reaches with lower channel depth and therefore higher ecological functionality. Population density effect on the relationships between forest cover and biological water quality is relatively important at every extent of study. Not surprisingly, population density is associated with lower water quality.

An important finding of the study, and more specifically of the quantification of the partial and shared effects between forest cover, anthropogenic pressures, and environmental variables, on biological water quality, is that **physico-chemical water quality acts as one of the main discriminating factor of biological water quality**. This result is in line with those of Dahm et al. (2013). This renders interpretation even more complex as Chapter 4 highlighted that physico-chemical water quality is influenced by LULC, and specifically forest cover. This is also in line with the nutrient enrichment shown in European studies and in Wallonia [e.g. European Environment Agency (2012) or SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental (2014)]. Forest cover explanation of water quality is also often shared with (i.e. inseparable from) anthropogenic pressures. This is especially true in Wallonia, and, at the ecoregion scale, for the Ardenne and the Belgian Lorraine. However, **the forest cover effect is in some cases interestingly relatively independent from anthropogenic pressures** such as in the Condroz and Loam region. In addition, complementary analysis in the highly anthropized Loam region (see details in sections 5.3.1 and 5.4.2) suggest a real independent effect of forest cover on biological water quality in these locations.

Water mitigation ecosystem service of 'protection against erosion'

Multivariate analysis shows that both biological water quality indices (i.e. IBGN-R and IPS-R) are systematically correlated to forest cover and dissolved oxygen and opposed to total phosphorus, ammonium, sulphates, nitrites, suspended materials, chloride, dissolved organic carbon, water temperature, and anthropogenic pressures (with a small difference for agricultural cover in the Fammene and the Loam region). The fact **that suspended materials are systematically negatively correlated to forest cover corroborates the positive effect of forest cover on the ES of protection against erosion** (Calder, 2002; Neary et al., 2009). We present this as a complementary result as we did not specifically quantified this effect.

6.2.3 Synthesis of thematic findings

HES			Flood protection (1)				
Attribute	Quantity			Qua	Quantity		
				Physico-chemical	Biological		
Indicator	Vs	Q 95 S	BFI	9 variables	IBGN-R & IPS-R	Q 05 S	FI
Forest cover effect [reg. scale]	-	+	NS	34%; 9% when removing spatial autocorrelation	39%; 13% when removing spatial autocorrelation	NS	-
Forest type effect?	+ NLF vs BLF	+ NLF vs BLF	NS	Higher independent effect of BLF (11%) vs NLF (²)	#	NS	- from NLF vs BLF
Seasonality of effect?	Variation in models significance (3)		0	#	Variation in models significance (³)		
Riparian / catchment	#		#	Catchment scale (4)	#		
Main effect of forest	- annually + in low flows						
cover on HES				+			+

Table 6-1. Synthesis of thematic findings (+: positive [effect], -: negative effect, 0 absence of effect, NS: non-significant, # non tested)

(¹) In this column, the sign of effects are linked to the quantity (i.e. opposed to the flood protection service) except for the line "Main effect of forest cover on HES" (²) NLF important effect is inseparable from Croplands & Elevation; (³) but not in effect direction, (⁴) except in the Loam region where riparian forest proportion is more linked to water quality than forest outside this buffer.

6.3 **Contributions to the ES concept**

6.3.1 Can our results be transposed to other ES classifications?

As mentioned above, the ES concept definitions and classifications are still evolving. When defining our objectives, we based our HES selection and terminology on Brauman et al. (2007) as other authors specifically studying forest hydrological ecosystem services did (Carvalho-Santos et al., 2014). Indeed, we assessed the instream water supply in terms of quantity, quality and timing and the water damage mitigation service of flood protection in terms of quantity and timing.

Initiatives of ES mapping and assessment are taking place at national or regional levels (see section 1.2.3) (Schröter et al., 2016; Stevens et al., 2015). In order to broaden the scope of the results and translate them into findings relevant to such frameworks, we established a correspondence (Table 6-2) between the studied ES categories and hydrological attributes and ES from the Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES), considered as the reference classification internationally (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013). As we mentioned earlier, CICES groups ES hierarchically into sections, divisions, groups and, finally, classes. In the provisioning ES section of CICES, two ES have been studied here, surface water for drinking and non-drinking purposes. In the regulation and maintenance section of CICES, four ES have been studied to the following "groups": mediation by ecosystems, liquid flows and water conditions.

Table 6-2. Hydrological ecosystem services studied in the present PhD thesis: correspondence between CICES (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013; Turkelboom et al., 2013) and Brauman et al. (2007) based classifications

CICES for e	cosystem accounting	Brauman based classification				
Section Division		Group	Class	ES category	Studied hydrological attributes	
Provisioning	Nutrition	Water	Surface water for drinking	Instream water supply	Quantity - Timing	
	Materials	Water Surface water for non-drinking purposes		Instream water supply	Quantity - Timing	
Regulation & Maintenance	Mediation of waste, toxics and other nuisances	Mediation by ecosystems	Filtration/sequestration/storage/ accumulation by ecosystems	Instream water supply	Quality	
	Mediation of flows	Liquid flows	Hydrological cycle and water flow maintenance	Instream water supply	Quantity - Timing	
			Flood protection	Water damage mitigation	Quantity - Timing	
		Water conditions	Chemical condition of freshwaters	Instream water supply	Quality	

We matched the regulating HES classes "Filtration/ sequestration/ storage/ accumulation by ecosystems", "Hydrological cycle and water flow maintenance" and "Chemical condition of freshwater" to the category of "instream water supply" of Brauman et al. (2007). We consider that these HES are directly linked to the dimension of quality of the instream water supply which Brauman et al. (2007) describe as provisioning services while specifying that ecosystems regulate water quantity and do not "create" water in a same way as e.g. ecosystems create timber. This discordance between classifications putting similar ES in different broad categories and in defining them with more or less details highlights again that classifications and terminologies can be variable across studies, evolving, and are in any case arbitrary. Another ongoing discussion concerns the sections (using CICES terminology, or broad categories in general) where water related services should appear, as "water" is an abiotic component of ecosystem (Haines-Young and Potschin, 2013). Should it be considered in another broad section covering abiotic services or be included in the three main CICES sections (i.e. provisioning, regulating and cultural ES)? Also, in the last CICES version, water appears under provision and regulation services whereas a discussion about the role of ecosystem linked to water could lead to grouping water related ES only in the regulation section as living processes clearly play a role in regulating its quantity and quality and not so much the water "production". As scientific users of the ES concept, and in line with Haines-Young R. and Potschin M. (2016) view, we believe that this plurality of definitions and classifications does not represent any problem when studying particular ES in particular geographical conditions because the process of defining ES brings in itself interesting reflexions. In our study, the objective of describing the forest cover effect on water related ecosystem services in order to derive relevant information for land planning and forest cover preservation in particular, is not affected by this plurality of classifications and definitions. However, choosing one classification over another will have an impact on the broader ES assessments that will be derived from it. When considering frameworks of national accounting and mapping (European Commission et al., 2014; Maes et al., 2013), it is important to be consistent about choices made to enable comparison between geographic zones and studies repeated over various time steps. Therefore, we recommend further research and harmonization in ES classification and terminology in that context.
6.3.2 Land cover proxies for ES assessment?

Regarding the debate of using a LULC-based matrix model approach – versus more advanced methodologies such as detailed and precise simulation and process models or direct mapping (based on survey and census providing spatially detailed ES distribution) - to derive indicators used to map water related ecosystem services, our findings vary according to the hydrological attributes and HES studied. Indeed, with regard to HES of instream water supply or flood protection in terms of quantity and timing, results show that other factors than land cover strongly impact water flows at the catchment scale. In particular, analysis of the effect of the type of forests (NL vs BL) on specific volume suggests an effect of terrain topography but also soil types and, we assume, related forest management options (artificial drainage but also forestry in general). Moreover, low R² of the baseflow index models show that there are other, non-quantified here, important factors acting on this aspect of water supply. We touch here one limitation of working with "reallife" catchments with mixed LULC, as even if forests are the dominant land cover, their effects on hydrological indicators may be dampened by the effects of other land covers. Another factor is the type of forest, in particular the differences between needle-leaved and broad-leaved species and their respective water use strategies, which induces seasonal differences on catchment water balance (the partitioning of actual evapotranspiration fluxes in particular). Last but not least, the effect of 'year' (i.e. climatic characteristics) and rainfall are highly significant in most models showing the importance of climatic conditions (rainfall and potential evapotranspiration and associated climatic variables) on HES studied. In the current context of climate change, inducing more frequent spring and/or summer droughts and warmer winters, this draws attention to the adverse impacts it may generate towards water related ES. This suggests that, unless regarding "pure" forested catchments such as e.g. in Canada, using spatially unvarying land cover proxies as indicators of the ES of instream water supply is, at best, a very crude estimate of the underlying processes and, at worse, giving a false representation of such processes (by giving indicators of wrong sign, and/or that cannot be compared to other indicators). This is especially worrying if the mapped extent using such method is large. In this context, we recommend further research integrating at best local condition factors (soil characteristics, slopes, climate, etc.) where each land cover is actually located (and not in the catchment overall) in order to come up with integrative

proxies indicators of ecosystem services. Climatic variables and climate change should also be taken into account given their high influence on these HES.

Regarding the HES of instream water supply in terms of quality, our results allow us to be more confident in land cover proxy mapping when associating forest cover with a global highly positive influence on this service. However, this should be nuanced by the fact that this effect is opposed to and largely inseparable from a negative impact of pressure LULC, i.e. agricultural and urban LULC, even if results in the Loam region encourage us to mention a real independent forest effect. Similar studies should be replicated in time so the evolution and/or stability of the effect could be assessed in line with the evolution of management practices in agricultural land.

6.4 Insights for land management

Though we recommend further research concerning the effect of forest cover and other factors (topography, soil types) on water supply in low flow and on flood protection for various rainfall events, we can still derive some interesting insights from this study. For example, the inter-annual variability (representing climatic characteristics) and rainfall were highly significant in most of the models showing the importance of climatic condition on instream water supply and flood protection ES. In the current context of climate change, inducing more frequent spring and/or summer droughts, this draws attention to the adverse impacts it may generate towards water related ES. In Europe, this is especially true at the extreme of gradients with, at the northwestern "wet-end", even more precipitation and, at the south-eastern "dry end" less precipitation under simultaneously increased temperatures (Bredemeier, 2011; IPCC, 2007). In Belgium, located at the centre of this gradient, the situation could seem intermediate but some climate model simulations show a clear shift in the precipitation pattern with an increase during winter and a decrease during summer (Baguis et al., 2010). This will impact instream water supply but also groundwater supply (Woldeamlak et al., 2007). Land management should consider study of ecosystems and LULC impact on water related ES in the context of climate change to favour instream water supply while protecting against erosion and flood. In addition to this, foresters will have to face climate change effects in the forest itself and the forest sector. As synthetized by Sousa-Silva et al. (2016), these will be: (i) an increase in the frequency and intensity of tree diseases and pest outbreaks (Dale et al., 2001), (ii) a modification of the potential distribution ranges of tree species (Bell and Collins, 2008); and (iii) warmer growing seasons and rising CO₂ concentrations, which, in the short term, will enhance forest production where soil nutrient and water availability allow. However according to Campioli et al. (2012), this will likely not occur in the Belgian forest regions of Ardennes and Campine which are implemented under nutrient-poor or under water-deficient conditions. In order to face these projections and especially the difficulties in keeping a forest healthy, we recommend, along with the research on adaptability of tree species/soil conditions under climate change projections, further research on water supply ES (whether instream or in the subsoil) from both the demand and the supply points of view to better anticipate and face these changes.

Regarding water quality, analysis of forest cover (vs other LULC) impact on biological water quality at different extents and considering different forest spatial units (i.e. riparian or at catchment scale) brings interesting insights. Indeed, forest cover impact is in some cases proven to be relatively independent from anthropogenic pressures such as in the Condroz and Loam region. In addition, complementary analysis in the Loam region suggests a real independent effect of forest cover on biological water quality in these locations. Indeed, the fact that forests are mostly present in the functional riparian buffer in this ecoregion while relatively absent in the rest of the catchments combined with agricultural models being non-significant at the catchment scale let us believe that the computed forest link with biological water quality represents a "real" forest effect. Furthermore, study of the functional riparian buffer LULC explanation power of water quality revealed that only cropland cover model was significant (i.e. not grassland cover) and explained a twice-lower proportion of variability than forest cover. Consequently, in these catchments and in similar catchments outside these regions, riparian forests should be protected because of their positive effect on biological water quality. This is in line with Tran et al. (2010) findings showing a stronger correlation between LULC and stream water quality at the 200-m riparian buffer than that of the watershed. The underlying processes they assume as responsible for this is that since surface water contamination is highly dependent on storm water runoff, contaminants located in close proximity are more likely to reach water bodies than those located at a further distance. They also suggest that the presence of a riparian buffer zone between streams and agricultural and urban areas might reduce contamination from non-point source pollution. On the other hand, the fact that we did not detect this preponderance of a riparian effect in the other ecoregions and at the Walloon scale suggests, as noted by Stephenson and Morin (2009) or Harding et al. (1998), that maintenance or preservation of habitat fragments in the riparian zone will not be sufficient to preserve ecological instream quality from catchment-wide impacts. Rather, this requires protection measures at the catchment scale in addition to riparian ones such as increasing forest cover in problematic zones and decreasing pressures by adopting more environmentally responsible agricultural practices. Further studies are necessary to come up with practical recommendations notably linked to the position of forest in the catchment and management practices (whether in forest or agricultural LULC). Example of protection or restoration measures suggested by our results can be found in Natural Water-Retention Measures (NWRMs), emphasized by the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020 (European Commission, 2011) and promoted by the EU Forest Strategy (Zal et al., 2015).

These are defined as "measures to protect and manage water resources and to address water-related challenges by restoring or maintaining ecosystems, natural features and characteristics of water bodies using natural means and processes" (European Commission, 2013; Zal et al., 2015). Among the 53 different NWRMs suggested by the Commission's study on Natural Water Retention Measures, 14 are forest-related but obviously, others are linked to agricultural practices.

6.5 Limitations of the study and perspectives

6.5.1 Impacts of methodological choices

Some limitations of the study can be pointed out notably from the methodological choices we made. Working with "real-life" catchments (vs classical experimental pair-wised approaches working with smaller catchments where factors external to the object of study are attempted to be controlled) complicates the drawing of clear lessons from this study. For example, other factors correlated with forest cover impact on hydrological ecosystem services in terms of quantity and timing (e.g. slope, soil infiltration capacity, tree species use of water, phenology...). On the other hand, "ideal"

experimental studies that could study each factor separately are hardly possible in Wallonia given the heterogeneity of landscapes, or are at really small-size catchments scale or stands. Taking such an approach of studying stands or small-size catchments would then lead to an upscaling problem. One could think about an intermediate methodology that would, within similar public datasets, select some catchments based on different criteria related to factors highlighted in the present study: slope, phenology and infiltration capacity. This could complement and deepen the interpretation of the present study. In that case, the fact that some of these factors are inseparable from each other and from certain LULC classes should be kept in mind.

Still with regard to Chapter 3, the selected indicators of hydrological flows are statistics characterizing the overall hydrograph. Further research could concentrate on specific rainfall events and further detail the behaviour of the catchment to provide insight of the effect of forest cover on HES at the event scale. This is particularly true for the service of flood protection on which the effect of forest cover should differ according to the intensity of each rainfall event (Lana-Renault et al., 2011).

The methodological design and data used to capture the forest cover effect on physico-chemical and biological water quality does not allow for isolating quantitatively a potential "active" effect of the forest (i.e., water purification *per se*) from the "passive" one being directly linked to the degree of pressure of each LULC on these ES. Multivariate analyses developed in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 present the advantage of capturing the relationships between several water quality variables and forest cover. However, this implies that conclusions remain rather general. This arguably represents an advantage for land planners who are dealing with multi-pollution sources and complexity of ecosystem processes, but does not allow us to discuss one particular variable in detail. Furthermore, for studies aiming to clearly focus on seasonal effects of forest cover on water quality, we recommend specific and regular spatio-temporal sampling while focusing on homogeneous groups of pollutants regarding their seasonal variability [see e.g., Johnson et al. (1997)].

We believe that the developed methods allowed for studying ecosystems functions and HES at a regional scale and provide land planners with insights potentially contributing to a more sustainable resource management. In response to the above-raised limitations and to deepen the results' interpretation, especially with regard to processes underpinning HES supply, we suggest complementing the present study with others shaped differently, whether in terms of object of study, sampling scheme, spatial extent, type of collected data, type of methods, etc.

6.5.2 A small contribution to understanding the ES cascade

This study has been undertaken in the frame of a 'stand-alone' PhD and choices had to be made to limit its scope. Still, it captures part of the complexity concerning the whole 'supply' side of the ES cascade model (see Figure 1-4) in the case of HES provided by forest cover. This could be complemented by other studies, as suggested in the previous sections. However, if we step back and enlarge the scope by considering the broad ES concept along with its purpose of contributing to a better resource management for increased human well-being, contextualization elements must be provided.

HES trade-offs and synergies

Only few HES have been considered in this study. We can only hint at one trade off when considering water supply and water mitigation ES of flood protection. Indeed, if we desire a bigger amount of water available to extraction and as much as possible of water in low flows, we do not desire too high quantity of water flows in relation to flood and erosion protection. When studying ES bundles, which is highly recommendable in land planning support in order to avoid unwillingly managing for one ES at the expense of others, one must consider HES at adapted spatial and temporal scale based on reliable biophysical assessment but also with a focus on matching supply and demand.

ES supply but what about demand?

In the present study, we brought insights about the potential of forest in delivering HES, working on the 'supply' side of the cascade (Figure 1-4). However, studying the demand side of these services and see how they

spatially match would be interesting, especially e.g. with regard to the services of flood protection and erosion protection as they are of concern in regions such as the Loam region. Furthermore, these services have been ranked as of prime importance to stakeholders of this ecoregion (Baptist et al., 2016; Fontaine et al., 2013). This reinforces the interests to match the demand and supply sides and thus the interest to have biophysical assessments (supply side) as accurately as possible.

Biophysical assessment? Only a part of "integrated valuation"

We assessed the impact of forest cover on some particular HES from the 'supply' point of view and through a biophysical assessment. This represents only a part of the big picture and we recommend broader studies integrating different kind of valuations for best use of the ES concept in land planning [see Jacobs et al. (2016) contribution regarding a new valuation school in ES assessment]. Integrated valuation explicitly aims at including the multiple values (ecological, socio-cultural and economic values) and worldviews in a coherent and operational framework pursuing a societal rather than (only) academic impact (Gomez-Baggethun et al., 2016).

The main objective addressed in this research is the study of the impact of forest cover on hydrological ecosystem services in Wallonia (Belgium). In particular, the effect of forest cover on instream water supply and flood protection was studied in terms of quantity, quality and timing. Datasets, methods and spatial scale of study were chosen to provide insights for water and forest management policies.

Main results show (Chapter 1) an assumed negative effect of forest cover on instream water supply service in terms of quantity when studying water yield whereas a significant positive link between forest cover and streamflow was demonstrated in low flows. Studying baseflow and forest type effect let us assume that local site conditions (soil types, topography and forest management) have a major impact on water supply. Regarding flood protection, forest cover showed a negative impact on the flashy behaviour of the catchment that could be linked to a positive effect on the flood protection ES. Climatic factors and in particular rainfall are often significant and can be considered as main drivers of these ES. Regarding the instream water supply in terms of quality, several insights were drawn from this study. First, the study assessing the link between forest cover and physico-chemical water in Wallonia (Chapter 4) showed that forest cover explains about one third of the variability of water quality (9% when spatial autocorrelation is controlled) and is positively correlated with higher quality water. Results also show that unlike needle-leaved forest cover, broad-leaved forest cover presents an independent effect from ecological variables and explains independently 4.8% of water quality variability while it shares 5.8% with cropland cover. Studying effect of forest cover on biological water quality (through diatoms and macroinvertebrates indices, Chapter 5) showed that forest cover considered alone – explains around one third of the biological water quality at the regional scale and from 15 to 70% depending on the studied ecoregion. Forest cover is systematically positively correlated with higher biological water quality. Partitioning variance shows that physico-chemical water quality is one of the main drivers of biological water quality and that anthropogenic pressures often explain a relatively important part of biological water quality. The proportion of forest cover in each catchment at the regional scale and across every ecoregions except for the Loam region

was more positively correlated with high water quality than when considering the proportion of forest cover in the riparian zones only. However, distinctive results from the agricultural and highly human impacted Loam region show that riparian forest have a positive impact on water quality and should therefore be preserved where they are left (i.e. in riparian zone).

These results allowed us to come up with recommendations regarding ES assessment and mapping on one hand and land planning on the other hand. Results regarding forest cover effect on studied HES in terms of quantity and timing made us question the use of land cover proxies to assess and map hydrological ES at a complex landscape scale. However, the strong link between forest cover in catchment and water quality allows to be more confident when using simple land cover proxies to map services related to water quality.

Regarding land planning recommendations, results at the regional scale and across ecoregions lead to recommend riparian forests protection in the Loam region (where they are left) but as the overall forest catchment effect on water quality (whether physico-chemical or biological) suggests that catchment-wide impacts and *a fortiori* catchment-wide protection measures are the main drivers of river ecological water quality. Forest should therefore be preserved (and/or restored) at least in riparian zones of highly intensive agricultural areas such as the Loam region, knowing that this will not be sufficient to bring water bodies to "good quality status" referring to EU Water Framework Directive standards. Also, alternative agricultural practices should be adapted in order to decrease pressures on water.

Given our results, we recommend further research, notably focusing on forest cover impact on instream water supply service in low flow periods to confirm or infirm the positive effect found in this study. We also strongly recommend further studies on flood protection to refine interpretation of processes underpinning ES supply. These studies could focus on extreme rainfall events rather than statistical values. Given its replicability, this method could be applied in other regions were similar data are available as in other European countries. We also recommend further research using the ES framework in order to enlarge the scope of study to the demand of ES or to the study of potential trade-off and synergies between hydrological services and provision or cultural services. We believe that this study, anchored in the ES approach, contributes to answer questions related to Ecohydrology at a scale meaningful for land planning processes. While acknowledging the complexity and difficulty to study ecosystem functioning at the landscape scale, we are truly convinced that these approaches at large scale, corresponding to policy planning, should be carried out to complement finer scale studies. Both types of approaches are necessary and should be integrated in order to capture the underlying complexity of ES provision and contribute to a better resource management.

- Albert, C., Bonn, A., Burkhard, B., Daube, S., Dietrich, K., Engels, B., Frommer, J., Götzl, M., Grêt-Regamey, A., Job-Hoben, B., Koellner, T., Marzelli, S., Moning, C., Müller, F., Rabe, S.-E., Ring, I., Schwaiger, E., Schweppe-Kraft, B., Wüstemann, H., 2015. Towards a national set of ecosystem service indicators: Insights from Germany. Ecol. Indic. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.08.050
- Alderweireld, M., Burnay, F., Pitchugin, M., Lecomte, H., 2015. Inventaire Forestier Wallon - Résultats 1994 - 2012. SPW, Jambes, Belgique.
- Allan, J.D., 2004. Landscapes and Riverscapes: The Influence of Land Use on Stream Ecosystems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 35, 257–284. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.35.120202.110122
- Álvarez-Cabria, M., Barquín, J., Peñas, F.J., 2016. Modelling the spatial and seasonal variability of water quality for entire river networks: Relationships with natural and anthropogenic factors. Sci. Total Environ. 545–546, 152–162. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.109
- Amatya, D.M., Williams, T.M., Bren, L., Jong, C. de (Eds.), 2016. Forest hydrology: processes, management and assessment. CABI, Wallingford. doi:10.1079/9781780646602.0000
- Amiri, B.J., Nakane, K., 2008. Modeling the Linkage Between River Water Quality and Landscape Metrics in the Chugoku District of Japan. Water Resour. Manag. 23, 931–956. doi:10.1007/s11269-008-9307z
- Andréassian, V., 2004a. Couvert forestier et comportement hydrologique des bassins versants. Houille Blanche 31–35. doi:10.1051/lhb:200402002
- Andréassian, V., 2004b. Waters and forests: from historical controversy to scientific debate. J. Hydrol. 291, 1–27. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2003.12.015
- Andrew, M.E., Wulder, M.A., Nelson, T.A., Coops, N.C., 2015. Spatial data, analysis approaches, and information needs for spatial ecosystem service assessments: a review. GIScience Remote Sens. 52, 344–373. doi:10.1080/15481603.2015.1033809
- Arocena, J., 2000. Cations in solution from forest soils subjected to forest floor removal and compaction treatments. For. Ecol. Manag. 133, 71– 80. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00299-6

- Asbjornsen, H., Goldsmith, G.R., Alvarado-Barrientos, M.S., Rebel, K., Osch, F.P.V., Rietkerk, M., Chen, J., Gotsch, S., Tobón, C., Geissert, D.R., Gómez-Tagle, A., Vache, K., Dawson, T.E., 2011. Ecohydrological advances and applications in plant-water relations research: a review. J. Plant Ecol. 4, 3–22. doi:10.1093/jpe/rtr005
- Aubinet, M., Chermanne, B., Vandenhaute, M., Longdoz, B., Yernaux, M., Laitat, E., 2001. Long term carbon dioxide exchange above a mixed forest in the Belgian Ardennes. Agric. For. Meteorol. 108, 293–315. doi:10.1016/S0168-1923(01)00244-1
- Aussenac, G., 1996. Forêts et eaux : relations entre écosystèmes forestiers et ressources en eau. INRA Mens. Doss. 12, 18–23.
- Baguis, P., Roulin, E., Willems, P., Ntegeka, V., 2010. Climate change scenarios for precipitation and potential evapotranspiration over central Belgium. Theor. Appl. Climatol. 99, 273–286. doi:10.1007/s00704-009-0146-5
- Balvanera, P., Siddique, I., Dee, L., Paquette, A., Isbell, F., Gonzalez, A., Byrnes, J., O'Connor, M.I., Hungate, B.A., Griffin, J.N., 2014. Linking Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Current Uncertainties and the Necessary Next Steps. BioScience 64, 49–57. doi:10.1093/biosci/bit003
- Baptist, F., Degré, A., Grizard, S., Maebe, L., Pipart, N., Renglet, J., Sohier, C., Dufrêne, M., Dendoncker, N., 2016. Elaboration d'une méthodologie d'évaluation des incidences sur l'environnement de l'aménagement foncier s'appuyant sur la notion des services écosystémiques (Rapport général), Direction Générale Opérationnelle de l'Agriculture, des Ressources Naturelles et de l'Environnement.
- Barbier, S., Balandier, P., Gosselin, F., 2009. Influence of several tree traits on rainfall partitioning in temperate and boreal forests: a review. Ann. For. Sci. 66, 602–602. doi:10.1051/forest/2009041
- Barnaud, C., Antona, M., Boada, M., Choisis, J.P., Cibien, C., Corbera, E., Deconchat, M., Dendoncker, N., Garnier, S., Maneja, R., Mathevet, R., Moreau, C., Muradian, R., Reyes-Garcia, V., Salilou, N., Sirami, C., Vialatte, A., 2017. Using the lens of ecosystem services to highlight social interdependencies and foster collective action in agrarian socio-ecological systems. Ecol. Soc. Submitt.
- Bastian, O., Haase, D., Grunewald, K., 2012. Ecosystem properties, potentials and services – The EPPS conceptual framework and an urban application example. Ecol. Indic., Challenges of sustaining natural capital and ecosystem services Quantification, modelling & valuation/accounting 21, 7–16. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.03.014

- Bates, B.C., Kundzewick, Z.W., Wu, S., Palutikof, J.P., 2008. Le changement climatique et l'eau, document technique publié par le Groupe d'experts intergouvernemental sur l'évolution du climat. Secrétariat du GIEC, Genève.
- Bell, G., Collins, S., 2008. Adaptation, extinction and global change. Evol. Appl. 1, 3–16. doi:10.1111/j.1752-4571.2007.00011.x
- Bere, T., Tundisi, J.G., 2010. Biological monitoring of lotic ecosystems: the role of diatoms. Braz. J. Biol. Rev. Brasleira Biol. 70, 493–502.
- Bloomfield, J.P., Allen, D.J., Griffiths, K.J., 2009. Examining geological controls on baseflow index (BFI) using regression analysis: An illustration from the Thames Basin, UK. J. Hydrol. 373, 164–176. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.04.025
- Borcard, D., Gillet, F., Legendre, P., 2011. Numerical Ecology with R. Springer New York, New York, NY. doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-7976-6
- Bosch, J.M., Hewlett, J.D., 1982. A review of catchment experiments to determine the effect of vegetation changes on water yield and evapotranspiration. J. Hydrol. 55, 3–23. doi:10.1016/0022-1694(82)90117-2
- Boyd, C., 2015. Water Quality An Introduction.
- Boyd, J., Banzhaf, S., 2007. What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. Ecol. Econ. 63, 616–626.
- Boyer-Rechlin, N., Bruland, G., Rechlin, M., 2016. Effects of Agricultural Land Use on Benthic Macroinvertebrate Communities and the Applicability of Family Level Bioassessment Metrics in Southern Illinois Headwater Streams. Trans. Ill. State Acad. Sci. 109, 49–56.
- Braat, L.C., de Groot, R., 2012. The ecosystem services agenda:bridging the worlds of natural science and economics, conservation and development, and public and private policy. Ecosyst. Serv. 1, 4–15. doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2012.07.011
- Braud, I., Breil, P., Thollet, F., Lagouy, M., Branger, F., Jacqueminet, C., Kermadi, S., Michel, K., 2013. Evidence of the impact of urbanization on the hydrological regime of a medium-sized periurban catchment in France. J. Hydrol. 485, 5–23. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.04.049
- Brauman, K.A., Daily, G.C., Duarte, T.K., Mooney, H.A., 2007. The Nature and Value of Ecosystem Services: An Overview Highlighting Hydrologic Services. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 32, 67–98. doi:10.1146/annurev.energy.32.031306.102758

- Bredemeier, M., 2011. Forest, climate and water issues in Europe. Ecohydrology 4, 159–167.
- Brogna, D., Michez, A., Jacobs, S., Dufrêne, M., Vincke, C., Dendoncker, N., 2017a. Linking Forest Cover to Water Quality: A Multivariate Analysis of Large Monitoring Datasets. Water 9, 176. doi:10.3390/w9030176
- Brogna, D., Vincke, C., Brostaux, Y., Soyeurt, H., Dufrêne, M., Dendoncker, N., 2017b. How does forest cover impact water flows and ecosystem services? Insights from "real-life" catchments in Wallonia (Belgium). Ecol. Indic. 72, 675–685. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.08.011
- Brown, A.E., Western, A.W., McMahon, T.A., Zhang, L., 2013. Impact of forest cover changes on annual streamflow and flow duration curves. J. Hydrol. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.12.031
- Brown, A.E., Zhang, L., McMahon, T.A., Western, A.W., Vertessy, R.A., 2005. A review of paired catchment studies for determining changes in water yield resulting from alterations in vegetation. J. Hydrol. 310, 28–61. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.12.010
- Bruijnzeel, L.A., 2004. Hydrological functions of tropical forests: not seeing the soil for the trees? Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 104, 185–228.
- Burkhard, B., 2017. 5.6.4. Ecosystem services matrix, in: Mapping Ecosystem Services. pp. 233–238.
- Burkhard, B., Kroll, F., Müller, F., 2010. Landscapes' Capacities to Provide Ecosystem Services – a Concept for Land-Cover Based Assessments. Landsc. Online 1–22. doi:10.3097/L0.200915
- Burkhard, B., Maes, J. (Eds.), 2017. Mapping Ecosystem Services. Pensoft Publishers. doi:10.3897/ab.e12837
- Calder, I., Hofer, T., Vermont, S., Warren, P., 2007. Towards a new understanding of forests and water. Unasylva 58, 3–10.
- Calder, I.R., 2002. Forests and hydrological services: reconciling public and science perceptions. Land Use Water Resour. Res. 2, 1–12.
- Calder, I.R., Aylward, B., 2006. Forest and Floods. Water Int. 31, 87–99. doi:10.1080/02508060608691918
- Campioli, M., Vincke, C., Jonard, M., Kint, V., Demarée, G., Ponette, Q., 2012. Current status and predicted impact of climate change on forest production and biogeochemistry in the temperate oceanic European zone: review and prospects for Belgium as a case study. J. For. Res. 17, 1–18. doi:10.1007/s10310-011-0255-8

- Carnol, M., Ineson, P., 1999. Environmental factors controlling NO3– leaching, N2O emissions and numbers of NH4+ oxidisers in a coniferous forest soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 31, 979–990. doi:10.1016/S0038-0717(99)00007-3
- Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N., Smith, V.H., 1998. Nonpoint Pollution of Surface Waters with Phosphorus and Nitrogen. Ecol. Appl. 8, 559–568. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(1998)008[0559:NPOSWW]2.0.C0;2
- Carvalho-Santos, C., Honrado, J.P., Hein, L., 2014. Hydrological services and the role of forests: Conceptualization and indicator-based analysis with an illustration at a regional scale. Ecol. Complex. 20, 69–80. doi:10.1016/j.ecocom.2014.09.001
- Carvalho-Santos, C., Nunes, J.P., Monteiro, A.T., Hein, L., Honrado, J.P., 2015. Assessing the effects of land cover and future climate conditions on the provision of hydrological services in a medium-sized watershed of Portugal. Hydrol. Process. doi:10.1002/hyp.10621
- Ceci, P., FAO (Eds.), 2013. Forests and water: international momentum and action. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- CEMAGREF, 1982. Etude des méthodes biologiques quantitatives d'appréciation de la qualité des eaux., Rapport Q.E. Lyon. A.F.B. Rhône-Méditerranée-Corse.
- Chapman, D., 1992. Water Quality Assessment: A Guide to the Use of Biota, Sediments and Water in Environmental Monitoring., Chapman and Hall. ed. London, U.K.
- Chauhan, A., Verma, S.C., 2015. Impact of Agriculture, Urban and Forest Land Use on Physico-Chemical Properties of Water - A Review. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. Appl. Sci. 4, 18–22.
- Chen, Q., Mei, K., Dahlgren, R.A., Wang, T., Gong, J., Zhang, M., 2016. Impacts of land use and population density on seasonal surface water quality using a modified geographically weighted regression. Sci. Total Environ. 572, 450–466. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.08.052
- Clapcott, J.E., Collier, K.J., Death, R.G., Goodwin, E.O., Harding, J.S., Kelly, D., Leathwick, J.R., Young, R.G., 2012. Quantifying relationships between land-use gradients and structural and functional indicators of stream ecological integrity. Freshw. Biol. 57, 74–90. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2011.02696.x
- Clément, F., Ruiz, J., Rodríguez, M.A., Blais, D., Campeau, S., 2017. Landscape diversity and forest edge density regulate stream water quality in

agricultural catchments. Ecol. Indic. 72, 627–639. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.09.001

- Comber, A.J., Wadsworth, R.A., Fisher, P.F., 2008. Using semantics to clarify the conceptual confusion between and : the example of 'forest.' J. Land Use Sci. 3, 185–198. doi:10.1080/17474230802434187
- Cosandey, C., Andréassian, V., Martin, C., Didon-Lescot, J.F., Lavabre, J., Folton, N., Mathys, N., Richard, D., 2005. The hydrological impact of the mediterranean forest: a review of French research. J. Hydrol. 301, 235–249. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.06.040
- Costanza, R., d'Arge, R., De Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., Limburg, K., Naeem, S., O'neill, R.V., Paruelo, J., 1997. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. nature 387, 253–260.
- Costanza, R., de Groot, R., Sutton, P., van der Ploeg, S., Anderson, S.J., Kubiszewski, I., Farber, S., Turner, R.K., 2014. Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Glob. Environ. Change 26, 152–158. doi:10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2014.04.002
- Crossman, N.D., Burkhard, B., Nedkov, S., Willemen, L., Petz, K., Palomo, I., Drakou, E.G., Martín-Lopez, B., McPhearson, T., Boyanova, K., Alkemade, R., Egoh, B., Dunbar, M.B., Maes, J., 2013. A blueprint for mapping and modelling ecosystem services. Ecosyst. Serv. 4, 4–14. doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2013.02.001
- Dahm, V., Hering, D., Nemitz, D., Graf, W., Schmidt-Kloiber, A., Leitner, P., Melcher, A., Feld, C.K., 2013. Effects of physico-chemistry, land use and hydromorphology on three riverine organism groups: a comparative analysis with monitoring data from Germany and Austria. Hydrobiologia 704, 389–415. doi:10.1007/s10750-012-1431-3
- Daikoku, K., Hattori, S., Deguchi, A., Aoki, Y., Miyashita, M., Matsumoto, K., Akiyama, J., Iida, S., Toba, T., Fujita, Y., Ohta, T., 2008. Influence of evaporation from the forest floor on evapotranspiration from the dry canopy. Hydrol. Process. 22, 4083–4096. doi:10.1002/hyp.7010
- Daily, G.C., Alexander, S., Ehrlich, P.R., Goulder, L., Lubchenco, J., Matson, P.A., Mooney, H.A., Postel, S., Schneider, S.H., Tilman, D., Woodwell, G.M., 1997. Ecosystem Services: Benefits Supplied to Human Societies by Natural Ecosystems, Issues in Ecology. ed.
- Dale, V.H., Joyce, L.A., McNulty, S., Neilson, R.P., Ayres, M.P., Flannigan, M.D., Hanson, P.J., Irland, L.C., Lugo, A.E., Peterson, C.J., Simberloff, D., Swanson, F.J., Stocks, B.J., Wotton, B.M., 2001. Climate Change and Forest Disturbances : Climate change can affect forests by altering the frequency, intensity, duration, and timing of fire, drought,

introduced species, insect and pathogen outbreaks, hurricanes, windstorms, ice storms, or landslides. BioScience 51, 723–734. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0723:CCAFD]2.0.CO;2

- de Groot, R.S., Alkemade, R., Braat, L., Hein, L., Willemen, L., 2010. Challenges in integrating the concept of ecosystem services and values in landscape planning, management and decision making. Ecol. Complex. 7, 260–272. doi:10.1016/j.ecocom.2009.10.006
- de Oliveira, L.M., Maillard, P., de Andrade Pinto, É.J., 2016. Modeling the effect of land use/land cover on nitrogen, phosphorous and dissolved oxygen loads in the Velhas River using the concept of exclusive contribution area. Environ. Monit. Assess. 188, 333. doi:10.1007/s10661-016-5323-2
- De Slover, J., Dufrêne, M., 1998. Les territoires biogéographiques de la Belgique. Acta Geogr. Lovan. 37, 13–34.
- DeFries, R., Eshleman, K.N., 2004. Land-use change and hydrologic processes: a major focus for the future. Hydrol. Process. 18, 2183–2186. doi:10.1002/hyp.5584
- Del Genfo, A., Lacis, A.A., Ruedy, R.A., 1991. Simulations of the effect of a warmer climate on atmospheric humidity. Nature 351, 382–385. doi:10.1038/351382a0
- Delgado, C., Pardo, I., García, L., 2012. Diatom communities as indicators of ecological status in Mediterranean temporary streams (Balearic Islands, Spain). Ecol. Indic. 15, 131–139. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.09.037
- Demarcin, P., Sohier, C., Ilah Mokadem, A., Dautrebande, S., Degré, A., 2011. Essai de cartographie des classes d'infiltrabilité des sols de Wallonie (Belgique). Base.
- Dhondt, K., Boeckx, P., Verhoest, N.E.C., Hofman, G., Van Cleemput, O., 2006. Assessment of temporal and spatial variation of nitrate removal in riparian zones. Environ. Monit. Assess. 116, 197–215. doi:10.1007/s10661-006-7403-1
- Díaz, S., Fargione, J., Iii, F.S.C., Tilman, D., 2006. Biodiversity Loss Threatens Human Well-Being. PLOS Biol. 4, e277. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0040277
- Ding, S., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Kong, W., Meng, W., 2013. Effects of riparian land use on water quality and fish communities in the headwater stream of the Taizi River in China. Front. Environ. Sci. Eng. 7, 699–708. doi:10.1007/s11783-013-0528-x

- Dosskey, M.G., Vidon, P., Gurwick, N.P., Allan, C.J., Duval, T.P., Lowrance, R., 2010. The Role of Riparian Vegetation in Protecting and Improving Chemical Water Quality in Streams1. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 46, 261–277. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.2010.00419.x
- Dufrene, M., Legendre, P., 1991. Geographic structure and potential ecological factors in Belgium. J. Biogeogr. 257–266.
- Easterling, D.R., Meehl, G.A., Parmesan, C., Changnon, S.A., Karl, T.R., Mearns, L.O., 2000. Climate extremes: observations, modeling, and impacts. Science 289, 2068–2074.
- Egoh, B., Dunbar, M.B., Maes, J., Willemen, L., Drakou, E.G., 2012. Indicators for mapping ecosystem services: a review. Publications Office.
- Ehrlich, P.R., Ehrlich, A.H., 1982. Extinction: The Causes and Consequences of the Disappearance of Species. Victor Gollancz.
- Ellison, D., N. Futter, M., Bishop, K., 2012. On the forest cover-water yield debate: from demand- to supply-side thinking. Glob. Change Biol. 18, 806–820. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02589.x
- Englund, O., Berndes, G., Cederberg, C., 2017. How to analyse ecosystem services in landscapes—A systematic review. Ecol. Indic. 73, 492–504. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.10.009
- European Commission (Ed.), 2013. Building a green infrastructure for Europe. Publ. Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- European Commission, 2011. EU biodiversity strategy to 2020. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- European Commission, 2000. Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). Off. J. Eur. Communities 1–72.
- European Commission, Eurostat, United Nations, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Roma, I., International Monetary Fund, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, The World Bank (Washington, U., 2014. System of environmentaleconomic accounting 2012: experimental ecosystem accounting. UNO, New York.
- European Environment Agency (Ed.), 2012. European waters: assessment of status and pressures, EEA report. European Environment Agency [u.a.], Copenhagen.
- Falkenmark, M., Rockstrom, J., 2004. Balancing Water for Humans and Nature: The New Approach in Ecohydrology. Routledge, London; Sterling, VA.

- Farley, K.A., Jobbágy, E.G., Jackson, R.B., 2005. Effects of afforestation on water yield: a global synthesis with implications for policy. Glob. Change Biol. 11, 1565–1576. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01011.x
- Fernandes, J. de F., Souza, A.L.T. de, Tanaka, M.O., 2014. Can the structure of a riparian forest remnant influence stream water quality? A tropical case study. Hydrobiologia 724, 175–185. doi:10.1007/s10750-013-1732-1
- Fiquepron, J., Garcia, S., Stenger, A., 2013. Land use impact on water quality: Valuing forest services in terms of the water supply sector. J. Environ. Manage. 126, 113–121. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.04.002
- Fisher, B., Turner, R.K., Morling, P., 2009. Defining and classifying ecosystem services for decision making. Ecol. Econ. 68, 643–653.
- Fontaine, C., De Vreese, R., Jacquemin, I., Marek, A., Mortelmans, D., Dendoncker, N., Devillet, G., François, L., Van Herzele, A., 2013. Valuation Of Terrestrial Ecosystem Services In A Multifunctional Peri-Urban Space (The VOTES project). Final Report., Research Programme: Science for a Sustainable Development. Belgian Science Policy, Brussels.
- Ford, C.R., Hubbard, R.M., Kloeppel, B.D., Vose, J.M., 2007. A comparison of sap flux-based evapotranspiration estimates with catchment-scale water balance. Agric. For. Meteorol. 145, 176–185. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2007.04.010
- Gailliez, S., 2013. Estimation des débits d'étiage pour des sites non jaugés. Application en Région wallonne. Université de Liège, Liège, Belgique.
- Garmendia, E., Mariel, P., Tamayo, I., Aizpuru, I., Zabaleta, A., 2012. Assessing the effect of alternative land uses in the provision of water resources: Evidence and policy implications from southern Europe. Land Use Policy 29, 761–770. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.12.001
- Giorgio, A., De Bonis, S., Guida, M., 2016. Macroinvertebrate and diatom communities as indicators for the biological assessment of river Picentino (Campania, Italy). Ecol. Indic. 64, 85–91. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.12.001
- Giri, S., Qiu, Z., 2016. Understanding the relationship of land uses and water quality in Twenty First Century: A review. J. Environ. Manage. 173, 41–48. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.02.029
- Gleick, P.H., 1989. Climate change, hydrology, and water resources. Rev. Geophys. 27, 329. doi:10.1029/RG027i003p00329

- Gobin, R., 2014. Contribution relative de la végétation du sous-bois dans la consommation en eau des placettes forestières soumises aux changements de climat et de pratiques. Orléans.
- Gomez-Baggethun, E., Barton, D., Berry, P., Dunford, R., Harrison, P., 2016. Concepts and methods in ecosystem services valuation, in: Routledge Handbook of Ecosystem Services. Routledge, London.
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., de Groot, R., Lomas, P.L., Montes, C., 2010. The history of ecosystem services in economic theory and practice: From early notions to markets and payment schemes. Ecol. Econ., Special Section - Payments for Environmental Services: Reconciling Theory and Practice 69, 1209–1218. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.11.007
- Grandry, M., Gailliez, S., Sohier, C., Verstraete, A., Degré, A., 2013. A method for low-flow estimation at ungauged sites: a case study in Wallonia (Belgium). Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 17, 1319–1330. doi:10.5194/hess-17-1319-2013
- Granier, A., 2007. Rôle des prairies dans le cycle de l'eau. Comparaison avec la forêt. Fourrages 399–408.
- Gustard, A., Demuth, S., 2008. Manual on Low-flow Estimation and Prediction. Operational Hydrology Report N° 50. WMO-No. 1029.
- Guttman, L., 1954. Some necessary conditions for common-factor analysis. Psychometrika 19, 149–161. doi:10.1007/BF02289162
- Haddadin, M.J., 2001. Water Scarcity Impacts and Potential Conflicts in the MENA Region. Water Int. 26, 460–470. doi:10.1080/02508060108686947
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., 2013. Common International Classification of Ecosystem Services (CICES): Consultation on Version 4, August -December 2012. (EEA Framework Contract No. EEA/IEA/09/003).
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., 2010a. The links between biodiversity, ecosystem services and human well-being, in: Ecosystem Ecology : A New Synthesis. pp. 110–139.
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., 2010b. Proposal for a Common International Classification of Ecosystem Goods and Services (CICES) for integrated environmental and economic accounting. Eur. Environ. Agency.
- Harding, J.S., Benfield, E.F., Bolstad, P.V., Helfman, G.S., Jones, E.B.D., 1998. Stream biodiversity: The ghost of land use past. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 95, 14843–14847.

- Harrison, P.A., Berry, P.M., Simpson, G., Haslett, J.R., Blicharska, M., Bucur, M., Dunford, R., Egoh, B., Garcia-Llorente, M., Geamănă, N., Geertsema, W., Lommelen, E., Meiresonne, L., Turkelboom, F., 2014. Linkages between biodiversity attributes and ecosystem services: A systematic review. Ecosyst. Serv. 9, 191–203. doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.05.006
- Helliwell, D.R., 1969. Valuation of wildlife resources. Reg. Stud. 3, 41–47. doi:10.1080/09595236900185051
- Hering, D., Johnson, R.K., Kramm, S., Schmutz, S., Szoszkiewicz, K., Verdonschot, P.F.M., 2006. Assessment of European streams with diatoms, macrophytes, macroinvertebrates and fish: a comparative metric-based analysis of organism response to stress. Freshw. Biol. 51, 1757–1785. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2006.01610.x
- Herringshaw, C.J., Stewart, T.W., Thompson, J.R., Anderson, P.F., 2011. Land Use, Stream Habitat and Benthic Invertebrate Assemblages in a Highly Altered Iowa Watershed. Am. Midl. Nat. 165, 274–293. doi:10.1674/0003-0031-165.2.274
- Hicks, B.J., Beschta, R.L., Harr, R.D., 1991. Long-Term Changes in Streamflow Following Logging in Western Oregon and Associated Fisheries Implications1. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 27, 217–226. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.1991.tb03126.x
- Huntington, T.G., 2010. Climate warming-induced intensification of the hydrologic cycle: an assessment of the published record and potential impacts on agriculture. Adv. Agron. 109, 1–53.
- Hwang, S.-A., Hwang, S.-J., Park, S.-R., Lee, S.-W., 2016. Examining the Relationships between Watershed Urban Land Use and Stream Water Quality Using Linear and Generalized Additive Models. Water 8, 155. doi:10.3390/w8040155
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- Jackson, C.R., Leigh, D.S., Scarbrough, S.L., Chamblee, J.F., 2015. Herbaceous Versus Forested Riparian Vegetation: Narrow and Simple Versus Wide, Woody and Diverse Stream Habitat. River Res. Appl. 31, 847– 857. doi:10.1002/rra.2783
- Jacobs, S., Dendoncker, N., Keune, H., 2013. Editorial Editorial for Ecosystem Services—Global Issues, Local Practices, in: Ecosystem Services. Elsevier, Boston, pp. xix–xxviii.
- Jacobs, S., Dendoncker, N., Martín-López, B., Barton, D.N., Gomez-Baggethun, E., Boeraeve, F., McGrath, F.L., Vierikko, K., Geneletti, D., Sevecke, K.J.,

- 176 -

Pipart, N., Primmer, E., Mederly, P., Schmidt, S., Aragão, A., Baral, H., Bark, R.H., Briceno, T., Brogna, D., Cabral, P., De Vreese, R., Liquete, C., Mueller, H., Peh, K.S.-H., Phelan, A., Rincón, A.R., Rogers, S.H., Turkelboom, F., Van Reeth, W., van Zanten, B.T., Wam, H.K., Washbourn, C.-L., 2016. A new valuation school: Integrating diverse values of nature in resource and land use decisions. Ecosyst. Serv., Integrated valuation of ecosystem services: challenges and solutions 22, Part B, 213–220. doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2016.11.007

- Jax, K., 2016. Ecosystem functions: a critical perspective, in: Routledge Handbook of Ecosystem Services. Routledge, London.
- Johnson, L., Richards, C., Host, G., Arthur, J., 1997. Landscape influences on water chemistry in Midwestern stream ecosystems. Freshw. Biol. 37, 193–208. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.d01-539.x
- Jomaa, S., Jiang, S., Thraen, D., Rode, M., 2016. Modelling the effect of different agricultural practices on stream nitrogen load in central Germany. Energy Sustain. Soc. 6. doi:10.1186/s13705-016-0077-9
- Jordan, P., Menary, W., Daly, K., Kiely, G., Morgan, G., Byrne, P., Moles, R., 2005. Patterns and processes of phosphorus transfer from Irish grassland soils to rivers—integration of laboratory and catchment studies. J. Hydrol., Nutirent Mobility within River Basins: A European Perspective 304, 20–34. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.07.021
- Journée, M., Delvaux, C., Bertrand, C., 2015. Precipitation climate maps of Belgium. Adv. Sci. Res. 12, 73–78. doi:10.5194/asr-12-73-2015
- Kail, J., Arle, J., Jähnig, S.C., 2012. Limiting factors and thresholds for macroinvertebrate assemblages in European rivers: Empirical evidence from three datasets on water quality, catchment urbanization, and river restoration. Ecol. Indic. 18, 63–72. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.09.038
- King, R.T., 1966. Wildlife and man. N. Y. Conserv. 20, 8–11.
- Koffler, D., Gauster, T., Laaha, G., 2015. lfstat: Calculation of Low Flow Statistics for Daily Stream Flow Data.
- Koschke, L., Fürst, C., Frank, S., Makeschin, F., 2012. A multi-criteria approach for an integrated land-cover-based assessment of ecosystem services provision to support landscape planning. Ecol. Indic. 21, 54– 66. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.12.010
- Kosuth, P., Tormos, T., Cernesson, F., Lalande, N., Villeneuve, B., 2010. Assessing the role of riparian vegetation and land use on river ecological status using remote sensing and spatial modelling, in: SER: Proceedings 7th European Conference on Ecological Restoration. Avignon, France, p. 4 p.

- La Notte, A., D'Amato, D., Mäkinen, H., Paracchini, M.L., Liquete, C., Egoh, B., Geneletti, D., Crossman, N.D., 2017. Ecosystem services classification: A systems ecology perspective of the cascade framework. Ecol. Indic. 74, 392–402. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2016.11.030
- Lana-Renault, N., Latron, J., Karssenberg, D., Serrano-Muela, P., Regüés, D., Bierkens, M.F.P., 2011. Differences in stream flow in relation to changes in land cover: A comparative study in two sub-Mediterranean mountain catchments. J. Hydrol. 411, 366–378. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.10.020
- Larcher, W., 2003. Physiological Plant Ecology: Ecophysiology and Stress Physiology of Functional Groups, 4th ed. 2003. ed. Springer-Verlag Berlin and Heidelberg GmbH & Co. K, Berlin ; New York.
- Le Maitre, D.C., Kotzee, I.M., O'Farrell, P.J., 2014. Impacts of land-cover change on the water flow regulation ecosystem service: Invasive alien plants, fire and their policy implications. Land Use Policy 36, 171– 181. doi:10.1016/j.landusepol.2013.07.007
- Lê, S., Josse, J., Husson, F., 2008. FactoMineR: A Package for Multivariate Analysis. J. Stat. Softw. 25, 1–18. doi:10.18637/jss.v025.i01
- Legendre, P., 1993. Spatial Autocorrelation: Trouble or New Paradigm? Ecology 74, 1659–1673. doi:10.2307/1939924
- Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 2012a. Chapter 10 Interpretation of ecological structures, in: Legendre, P.L. and L. (Ed.), Developments in Environmental Modelling, Numerical Ecology. Elsevier, pp. 521–624. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-53868-0.50010-1
- Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 2012b. Chapter 9 Ordination in reduced space, in: Legendre, P.L. and L. (Ed.), Developments in Environmental Modelling, Numerical Ecology. Elsevier, pp. 425–520. doi:10.1016/B978-0-444-53868-0.50009-5
- Legendre, P., Legendre, L., 2012c. Chapter 11 Canonical analysis, in: Legendre, P.L. and L. (Ed.), Developments in Environmental Modelling, Numerical Ecology. Elsevier, pp. 625–710.
- Legendre, P.L. and L. (Ed.), 1998. Chapter 9 Ordination in reduced space, in: Developments in Environmental Modelling, Numerical Ecology. Elsevier, pp. 387–480.
- Li, S., Gu, S., Tan, X., Zhang, Q., 2009. Water quality in the upper Han River basin, China: the impacts of land use/land cover in riparian buffer zone. J. Hazard. Mater. 165, 317–324. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.09.123

- Lin, Z., Anar, M.J., Zheng, H., 2015. Hydrologic and water-quality impacts of agricultural land use changes incurred from bioenergy policies. J. Hydrol. 525, 429–440. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.04.001
- Loaiciga, H.A., Valdes, J.B., Vogel, R., Garvey, J., Schwarz, H., 1996. Global warming and the hydrologic cycle. J. Hydrol. 174, 83–127. doi:10.1016/0022-1694(95)02753-X
- Lobo, E.A., Heinrich, C.G., Schuch, M., Wetzel, C.E., Ector, L., 2016. Diatoms as Bioindicators in Rivers, in: JR, O.N. (Ed.), River Algae. Springer International Publishing, pp. 245–271. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-31984-1_11
- Loh, J., Green, R.E., Ricketts, T., Lamoreux, J., Jenkins, M., Kapos, V., Randers, J., 2005. The Living Planet Index: using species population time series to track trends in biodiversity. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 360, 289–295. doi:10.1098/rstb.2004.1584
- Łowicki, D., 2012. Prediction of flowing water pollution on the basis of landscape metrics as a tool supporting delimitation of Nitrate Vulnerable Zones. Ecol. Indic.
- Madigan, M.T., Martinko, J.M., Bender, K.S., Buckley, D.H., Stahl, D.A., Brock, T., 2014. Brock Biology of Microorganisms, 14 edition. ed. Pearson, Boston.
- Maes, J., 2011. European assessment of the provision of ecosystem services. Joint Research Center.
- Maes, J., Teller, A., Erhard, M., Liquete, C., Braat, L., Berry, P., Egoh Benis, N., Puydarrieux, P., Fiorina, C., Santos-Martín, F., Paracchini, M.-L., Keune, H., Wittmer, H., Hauck, J., Fiala, I., Verburg, P., Condé, S., Schagner, J.P., San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., Estreguil, C., Ostermann, O.P., Barredo Cano Jose, I., Pereira, H.M., Stott, A., Laporte, V., Meiner, A., Olah, B., Gelabert, E., Spyropoulou, R., Petersen, J.-E., Maguire, C., Zal, N., Achilleos, E., Rubin, A., Ledoux, L., Murphy, P., Fritz, M., Brown, C., Raes, C., Jacobs, S., Raquez, P., Vandewalle, M., Connor, D., Bidoglio, G., 2013. Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystems and their Services – An analytical framework for ecosystem assessments under Action 5 of the EU Biodiversity Strategy to 2020. Discussion paper. Publications Office of the European Union.
- Mahler, R.L., Barber, M.E., 2017. Using benthic macro invertebrates to assess water quality in 15 watersheds in the Pacific Northwest, USA. Int. J. Sustain. Dev. Plan. 12, 51–60. doi:10.2495/SDP-V12-N1-51-60
- Marzin, A., Archaimbault, V., Belliard, J., Chauvin, C., Delmas, F., Pont, D., 2012. Ecological assessment of running waters: Do macrophytes, macroinvertebrates, diatoms and fish show similar responses to

human pressures? Ecol. Indic. 23, 56–65. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.03.010

- Marzin, A., Verdonschot, P.F.M., Pont, D., 2013. The relative influence of catchment, riparian corridor, and reach-scale anthropogenic pressures on fish and macroinvertebrate assemblages in French rivers. Hydrobiologia 704, 375–388. doi:10.1007/s10750-012-1254-2
- Meybeck, M., 2003. Global analysis of river systems: from Earth system controls to Anthropocene syndromes. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 358, 1935–1955. doi:10.1098/rstb.2003.1379
- Michez, A., Piégay, H., Lejeune, P., Claessens, H., 2017. Multi-temporal monitoring of a regional riparian buffer network (>12,000 km) with LiDAR and photogrammetric point clouds. J. Environ. Manage. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.02.034
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005a. Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis. Island Press.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005b. Ecosystems and Human wellbeing: current states and trends. Island press, Washington, DC.
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2003. Ecosystems and Human Wellbeing: A Framework for Assessment. Island press, Washington, DC.
- Miserendino, M.L., Pizzolon, L.A., 2004. Interactive effects of basin features and land-use change on macroinvertebrate communities of headwater streams in the Patagonian Andes. River Res. Appl. 20, 967–983. doi:10.1002/rra.798
- Mondy, C.P., Usseglio-Polatera, P., 2013. Using conditional tree forests and life history traits to assess specific risks of stream degradation under multiple pressure scenario. Sci. Total Environ. 461, 750–760. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.05.072
- Müller, F., Burkhard, B., 2012. The indicator side of ecosystem services. Ecosyst. Serv. 1, 26–30. doi:10.1016/j.ecoser.2012.06.001
- Naiman, R.J., Décamps, H., McClain, M.E., 2005. Riparia: ecology, conservation, and management of streamside communities. Elsevier Academic Press, Oxford, UK.
- Neary, D.G., Ice, G.G., Jackson, C.R., 2009. Linkages between forest soils and water quality and quantity. For. Ecol. Manag. 258, 2269–2281. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2009.05.027

Nisbet, T., 2005. Water use by trees. Edinburgh : Forestry Commission.

- Noirfalise, A., 1988. Les régions naturelles de la Belgique, G.E.O.; no. 23. C.E.F.R., Gembloux.
- Noirfalise, A., 1988. Les régions naturelles de la Belgique. G.E.O. 23, 3:25.
- Odum, E.P., Odum, H.T., 1972. Natural areas as necessary components of man's total environment. Trans North Am Wildl Nat Res Conf.

Office National des Forêts, 1999. L'eau et la forêt. Bull. Tech. ONF.

- Oishi, A.C., Oren, R., Stoy, P.C., 2008. Estimating components of forest evapotranspiration: A footprint approach for scaling sap flux measurements. Agric. For. Meteorol. 148, 1719–1732. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.06.013
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., 2017. vegan: Community Ecology Package.
- Olsen, R.L., Chappell, R.W., Loftis, J.C., 2012. Water quality sample collection, data treatment and results presentation for principal components analysis – literature review and Illinois River watershed case study. Water Res. 46, 3110–3122. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2012.03.028
- Osberg, P.M., 1986. Lysimeter measurements of salal understory evapotranspiration and forest soil evaporation after salal removal in a Douglas-fir plantation. University of British Columbia. doi:10.14288/1.0096776
- Pascual, U., Balvanera, P., Díaz, S., Pataki, G., Roth, E., Stenseke, M., Watson, R.T., Başak Dessane, E., Islar, M., Kelemen, E., Maris, V., Quaas, M., Subramanian, S.M., Wittmer, H., Adlan, A., Ahn, S., Al-Hafedh, Y.S., Amankwah, E., Asah, S.T., Berry, P., Bilgin, A., Breslow, S.J., Bullock, C., Cáceres, D., Daly-Hassen, H., Figueroa, E., Golden, C.D., Gómez-Baggethun, E., González-Jiménez, D., Houdet, J., Keune, H., Kumar, R., Ma, K., May, P.H., Mead, A., O'Farrell, P., Pandit, R., Pengue, W., Pichis-Madruga, R., Popa, F., Preston, S., Pacheco-Balanza, D., Saarikoski, H., Strassburg, B.B., van den Belt, M., Verma, M., Wickson, F., Yagi, N., 2017. Valuing nature's contributions to people: the IPBES approach. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 26-27, 7-16. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2016.12.006
- Peres-Neto, P.R., Legendre, P., Dray, S., Borcard, D., 2006. Variation Partitioning of Species Data Matrices: Estimation and Comparison of Fractions. Ecology 87, 2614–2625. doi:10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2614:VPOSDM]2.0.C0;2
- Potschin, M., Haines-Young, R., 2016. Defining and measuring ecosystem services. Routledge Handb. Ecosyst. Serv. 2016.

- Pratt, B., Chang, H., 2012. Effects of land cover, topography, and built structure on seasonal water quality at multiple spatial scales. J. Hazard. Mater. 209–210, 48–58. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.12.068
- Price, K., 2011. Effects of watershed topography, soils, land use, and climate on baseflow hydrology in humid regions: A review. Prog. Phys. Geogr. 35, 465–492. doi:10.1177/0309133311402714
- Price, K., Jackson, C.R., Parker, A.J., Reitan, T., Dowd, J., Cyterski, M., 2011. Effects of watershed land use and geomorphology on stream low flows during severe drought conditions in the southern Blue Ridge Mountains, Georgia and North Carolina, United States. Water Resour. Res. 47, W02516. doi:10.1029/2010WR009340
- Puydarrieux, P., 2014. EFESE : L'évaluation française des écosystèmes et des services écosystémique [WWW Document]. URL http://www.insee.fr/fr/insee-statistiquepublique/connaitre/colloques/acn/pdf15/acn2014-session2-2presentation.pdf (accessed 2.17.15).
- R Core Team, 2013. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Riva-Murray, K., Bode, R.W., Phillips, P.J., Wall, G.L., 2002. Impact Source Determination with Biomonitoring Data in New York State: Concordance with Environmental Data. Northeast. Nat. 9, 127–162. doi:10.2307/3858392
- Robinson, M., Cognard-Plancq, A.-L., Cosandey, C., David, J., Durand, P., Führer, H.-W., Hall, R., Hendriques, M., Marc, V., McCarthy, R., McDonnell, M., Martin, C., Nisbet, T., O'Dea, P., Rodgers, M., Zollner, A., 2003. Studies of the impact of forests on peak flows and baseflows: a European perspective. For. Ecol. Manag. 186, 85–97. doi:10.1016/S0378-1127(03)00238-X
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, \AAsa, Chapin, F.S., Lambin, E.F., Lenton, T.M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H.J., 2009. A safe operating space for humanity. Nature 461, 472–475.
- Sabater, S., Butturini, A., Clement, J.-C., Burt, T., Dowrick, D., Hefting, M., Matre, V., Pinay, G., Postolache, C., Rzepecki, M., Sabater, F., 2003. Nitrogen Removal by Riparian Buffers along a European Climatic Gradient: Patterns and Factors of Variation. Ecosystems 6, 0020–0030. doi:10.1007/s10021-002-0183-8
- Sahin, V., Hall, M.J., 1996. effects of afforestation and deforestation on water yields. J. Hydrol.

- Salemi, L.F., Groppo, J.D., Trevisan, R., Moraes, J.M. de, Lima, W. de P., Martinelli, L.A., 2012. Riparian vegetation and water yield: a synthesis. J. Hydrol. Amst. 454/455, 195–202.
- Santos-Martín, F., Montes, C., Martín-López, B., A.González, J., Aguado, M., Benayas, J., Piñeiro, C., Navacerrada, J., Zorilla, P., García Llorrente, M., Iniesta, I., Oteros, E., Palomo, I., López-Santiago, C., Alcorlo, P., Vidal, R., Suárez, L., 2014. Ecosystems and biodiversity for human wellbeing - Spanish National Ecosystem Assessment (Synthesis of key findings). Ministerio de Agricultura, Alimentación y medio ambiante, Madrid.
- Scarsbrook, M.R., Halliday, J., 1999. Transition from pasture to native forest land-use along stream continua: Effects on stream ecosystems and implications for restoration. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 33, 293–310. doi:10.1080/00288330.1999.9516878
- Schaich, H., Bieling, C., Plieninger, T., 2010. Linking Ecosystem Services with Cultural Landscape Research. GAIA - Ecol. Perspect. Sci. Soc. 19, 269– 277. doi:10.14512/gaia.19.4.9
- Schröter, M., Albert, C., Marques, A., Tobon, W., Lavorel, S., Maes, J., Brown, C., Klotz, S., Bonn, A., 2016. National Ecosystem Assessments in Europe: A Review. BioScience 66, 813–828. doi:10.1093/biosci/biw101
- Schume, H., Jost, G., Katzensteiner, K., 2003. Spatio-temporal analysis of the soil water content in a mixed Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst.)–European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) stand. Geoderma 112, 273–287. doi:10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00311-7
- Schwärzel, K., Menzer, A., Clausnitzer, F., Spank, U., Häntzschel, J., Grünwald, T., Köstner, B., Bernhofer, C., Feger, K.-H., 2009. Soil water content measurements deliver reliable estimates of water fluxes: A comparative study in a beech and a spruce stand in the Tharandt forest (Saxony, Germany). Agric. For. Meteorol. 149, 1994–2006. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.07.006
- Seppelt, R., Dormann, C.F., Eppink, F.V., Lautenbach, S., Schmidt, S., 2011. A quantitative review of ecosystem service studies: approaches, shortcomings and the road ahead. J. Appl. Ecol. 48, 630–636. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2664.2010.01952.x
- Sharma, R.C., Rawat, J.S., 2009. Monitoring of aquatic macroinvertebrates as bioindicator for assessing the health of wetlands: A case study in the Central Himalayas, India. Ecol. Indic. 9, 118–128. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2008.02.004
- Sheldon, F., Peterson, E.E., Boone, E.L., Sippel, S., Bunn, S.E., Harch, B.D., 2012. Identifying the spatial scale of land use that most strongly influences

overall river ecosystem health score. Ecol. Appl. Publ. Ecol. Soc. Am. 22, 2188–2203.

- Sliva, L., Dudley Williams, D., 2001. Buffer Zone versus Whole Catchment Approaches to Studying Land Use Impact on River Water Quality. Water Res. 35, 3462–3472. doi:10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00062-8
- Sohier, C., Degré, A., 2010. Modelling the effects of the current policy measures in agriculture: An unique model from field to regional scale in Walloon region of Belgium. Environ. Sci. Policy 13, 754–765. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2010.08.008
- Soininen, J., Könönen, K., 2004. Comparative study of monitoring South-Finnish rivers and streams using macroinvertebrate and benthic diatom community structure. Aquat. Ecol. 38, 63–75. doi:10.1023/B:AECO.0000021004.06965.bd
- Soubie, R., Heinesch, B., Granier, A., Aubinet, M., Vincke, C., 2016. Evapotranspiration assessment of a mixed temperate forest by four methods: Eddy covariance, soil water budget, analytical and model. Agric. For. Meteorol. 228–229, 191–204. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.07.001
- Sousa-Silva, R., Ponette, Q., Verheyen, K., Van Herzele, A., Muys, B., 2016. Adaptation of forest management to climate change as perceived by forest owners and managers in Belgium. For. Ecosyst. 3. doi:10.1186/s40663-016-0082-7
- Sponseller, R.A., Benfield, E.F., Valett, H.M., 2001. Relationships between land use, spatial scale and stream macroinvertebrate communities. Freshw. Biol. 46, 1409–1424. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.2001.00758.x
- SPW DGO3, n.d. Le réseau de surveillance de la qualité des eaux de surface -Portail "Directive-cadre sur l'Eau" - [WWW Document]. URL http://eau.wallonie.be/spip.php?article120 (accessed 4.4.17).
- SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2016. Deuxièmes Plans de gestion des Districts Hydrographiques - Document général. Mise en œuvre de la Directive-cadre sur l'Eau (2000/60/CE) – Région wallonne. SPW.
- SPW-DGO3-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2014. Les indicateurs clés de l'environnement Wallon 2014, Rapport sur l'état de l'environnement wallon. Namur, Belgique.
- SPW-DG03-Direction de l'Etat Environnemental, 2007. Rapport analytique sur l'état de l'environnement wallon 2006-2007. Namur, Belgique.

- Statistics Belgium, n.d. Structure de la population [WWW Document]. URL http://statbel.fgov.be/fr/statistiques/chiffres/population/structur e/ (accessed 5.13.17).
- Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S.E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E.M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S.R., Vries, W. de, Wit, C.A. de, Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G.M., Persson, L.M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., Sörlin, S., 2015. Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. Science 347, 1259855. doi:10.1126/science.1259855
- Stephenson, J.M., Morin, A., 2009. Covariation of stream community structure and biomass of algae, invertebrates and fish with forest cover at multiple spatial scales. Freshw. Biol. 54, 2139–2154. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02142.x
- Stevens, M., Demolder, H., Jacobs, S., Michels, H., Schneiders, A., Simoens, I., Spanhove, T., Van Gossum, P., Van Reeth, W., Peymen, J., 2015. Flanders Regional Ecosystem Assessment: State and trends of ecosystems and their services in Flanders. Synthesis. Commun. Res. Inst. Nat. For. INBO M.
- Swetnam, R.D., Fisher, B., Mbilinyi, B.P., Munishi, P.K.T., Willcock, S., Ricketts, T., Mwakalila, S., Balmford, A., Burgess, N.D., Marshall, A.R., Lewis, S.L., 2011. Mapping socio-economic scenarios of land cover change: A GIS method to enable ecosystem service modelling. J. Environ. Manage. 92, 563–574. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.09.007
- Tanaka, M.O., Souza, A.L.T. de, Moschini, L.E., Oliveira, A.K. de, 2016. Influence of watershed land use and riparian characteristics on biological indicators of stream water quality in southeastern Brazil. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 216, 333–339. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2015.10.016
- TEEB, 2010. The economics of ecosystems and biodiversity: ecological and economic foundations. Pushpam Kumar, Earthscan, London and Washington.
- Theodoropoulos, C., Aspridis, D., Iliopoulou-Georgudaki, J., 2015. The influence of land use on freshwater macroinvertebrates in a regulated and temporary Mediterranean river network. Hydrobiologia 751, 201–213. doi:10.1007/s10750-015-2187-3
- Tong, S.T.Y., Chen, W., 2002. Modeling the relationship between land use and surface water quality. J. Environ. Manage. 66, 377–393.
- Tran, C.P., Bode, R.W., Smith, A.J., Kleppel, G.S., 2010. Land-use proximity as a basis for assessing stream water quality in New York State (USA). Ecol. Indic. 10, 727–733. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.12.002

- Tu, J., 2013. Spatial variations in the relationships between land use and water quality across an urbanization gradient in the watersheds of northern Georgia, USA. Environ. Manage. 51, 1–17.
- Turner, R.K., Daily, G.C., 2008. The Ecosystem Services Framework and Natural Capital Conservation. Environ. Resour. Econ. 39, 25–35. doi:10.1007/s10640-007-9176-6
- UK NEA, 2014. The UK National Ecosystem Assessment: Synthesis of the Key Findings, UNEP-WCMC, LWEC. ed. UK.
- Unsworth, M.H., Phillips, N., Link, T., Bond, B.J., Falk, M., Harmon, M.E., Hinckley, T.M., Marks, D., U, K.T.P., 2004. Components and Controls of Water Flux in an Old-growth Douglas-fir–Western Hemlock Ecosystem. Ecosystems 7, 468–481. doi:10.1007/s10021-004-0138-3
- UN-Water, 2014. A Post-2015 Global Goal for Water: Synthesis of key findings and recommendations from UN-Water.
- Van der Perre, R., Bythell, S., Bogaert, P., Claessens, H., Ridremont, F., Tricot, C., Vincke, C., Ponette, Q., 2015. La carte bioclimatique de Wallonie : un nouveau découpage écologique du territoire pour le choix des essences forestières. For. Nat. 47–58.
- van Dijk, A.I.J.M., Keenan, R.J., 2007. Planted forests and water in perspective. For. Ecol. Manag. 251, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.010
- Vanden Bossche, J.-P., 2005. Procédures et instructions pour l'organisation et l'exécution des prélèvements et des analyses de macroinvertébrés aquatiques en Région wallonne. WPS DGRNE Centre de Recherche de la Nature, des Forêts et du Bois.
- Villa, F., Bagstad, K.J., Voigt, B., Johnson, G.W., Portela, R., Honzák, M., Batker, D., 2014. A Methodology for Adaptable and Robust Ecosystem Services Assessment. PLoS ONE 9, e91001. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0091001
- Vincke, C., Breda, N., Granier, A., Devillez, F., 2005. Evapotranspiration of a declining Quercus robur (L.) stand from 1999 to 2001. I. Trees and forest floor daily transpiration. Ann. For. Sci. 62, 10. doi:10.1051/forest:2005055
- Vondracek, B., Blann, K.L., Cox, C.B., Nerbonne, J.F., Mumford, K.G., Nerbonne, B.A., Sovell, L.A., Zimmerman, J.K.H., 2005. Land Use, Spatial Scale, and Stream Systems: Lessons from an Agricultural Region. Environ. Manage. 36, 775–791. doi:10.1007/s00267-005-0039-z
- Vörösmarty, C.J., McIntyre, P.B., Gessner, M.O., Dudgeon, D., Prusevich, A., Green, P., Glidden, S., Bunn, S.E., Sullivan, C.A., Liermann, C.R., Davies,

P.M., 2010. Global threats to human water security and river biodiversity. Nature 467, 555–561. doi:10.1038/nature09440

- Vose, J.M., Sun, G., Ford, C.R., Bredemeier, M., Otsuki, K., Wei, X., Zhang, Z., Zhang, L., 2011. Forest ecohydrological research in the 21st century: what are the critical needs? Ecohydrology 4, 146–158. doi:10.1002/eco.193
- Wackernagel, H., 1996. Multivariate geostatistics: an introduction with applications. Int. J. Rock Mech. Min. Sci. Geomech. Abstr. 8, 363A.
- Wallace, K.J., 2007. Classification of ecosystem services: Problems and solutions. Biol. Conserv. 139, 235–246. doi:10.1016/j.biocon.2007.07.015
- Wan, R., Cai, S., Li, H., Yang, G., Li, Z., Nie, X., 2014. Inferring land use and land cover impact on stream water quality using a Bayesian hierarchical modeling approach in the Xitiaoxi River Watershed, China. J. Environ. Manage. 133, 1–11. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.11.035
- Willaarts, B.A., Volk, M., Aguilera, P.A., 2012. Assessing the ecosystem services supplied by freshwater flows in Mediterranean agroecosystems. Agric. Water Manag. 105, 21–31. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2011.12.019
- Williams, T.M., 2016. Forest runoff processes., in: Amatya, D.M., Williams, T.M., Bren, L., Jong, C. de (Eds.), Forest Hydrology: Processes, Management and Assessment. CABI, Wallingford, pp. 17–31. doi:10.1079/9781780646602.0017
- Wilson, K.B., Hanson, P.J., Baldocchi, D.D., 2000. Factors controlling evaporation and energy partitioning beneath a deciduous forest over an annual cycle. Agric. For. Meteorol. 102, 83–103. doi:10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00124-6
- Wilson, K.B., Hanson, P.J., Mulholland, P.J., Baldocchi, D.D., Wullschleger, S.D., 2001. A comparison of methods for determining forest evapotranspiration and its components: sap-flow, soil water budget, eddy covariance and catchment water balance. Agric. For. Meteorol. 106, 153–168. doi:10.1016/S0168-1923(00)00199-4
- Woldeamlak, S.T., Batelaan, O., De Smedt, F., 2007. Effects of climate change on the groundwater system in the Grote-Nete catchment, Belgium. Hydrogeol. J. 15, 891–901. doi:10.1007/s10040-006-0145-x
- Wolff, S., Schulp, C.J.E., Verburg, P.H., 2015. Mapping ecosystem services demand: A review of current research and future perspectives. Ecol. Indic. 55, 159–171. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.03.016

- Yu, D., Shi, P., Liu, Y., Xun, B., 2013. Detecting land use-water quality relationships from the viewpoint of ecological restoration in an urban area. Ecol. Eng.
- Zal, N., Bastrup-Birk, A., Bariamis, G., Scholz, M., Tekidou, A., Kasperidus, H.D., Baltas, E., Mimikou, M., European Environment Agency, European Topic Centre, Inland Coastal and Marine Waters, 2015. Waterretention potential of Europe's forests: a European overview to support natural water-retention measures. Publications Office, Luxembourg.
- Zhang, L., Dawes, W.R., Walker, G.R., 2001. Response of mean annual evapotranspiration to vegetation changes at catchment scale. Water Resour. Res. 37, 701. doi:10.1029/2000WR900325